ABC Group
Annual Report

2010

sustainable growth

poss

ibilities
sustainable growth
As one of the leading international Arab financial
groups, Arab Banking Corporation’s total commitment
to clients and stakeholders ensures sustainable growth.

Arab Banking Corporation, popularly known as ABC, is an international Universal Bank headquartered in Manama, Kingdom
of Bahrain. Our network is spread over 22 countries in the MENA and GCC, Europe, the Americas and Asia. ABC, founded
in 1980, is listed on the Bahrain Bourse and our major shareholders are the Central Bank of Libya and Kuwait Investment
Authority.
ABC is a leading regional bank in Trade Finance, Treasury, Project & Structured Finance, Corporate Banking & Financial
Institutions, Syndications as well as Islamic Banking. We also provide Retail Banking services in the MENA region. ABC’s
strategy of diversified growth led to the development of its widespread network of branches, representative offices and
subsidiaries in Arab world countries and international financial centres, including London, Paris, Milan, Frankfurt, Madrid,
Stockholm, New York, Moscow, Grand Cayman, Sao Paulo, Singapore, Istanbul, Tehran, Bahrain, Abu Dhabi, Baghdad,
Amman, Beirut, Cairo, Tripoli, Tunis and Algiers.
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Vision

To become a leading Universal Bank in MENA
that delivers superior shareholder returns,
provides distinctive service and products to its
customers, and is able to attract, develop and
retain top talent.
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Our Approach

Our Group’s success is the result of the approach taken by each and every one of our banks to conduct our global business.

possibilities

diversity

growth
- Egypt

When Arab Banking Corporation
develops the Group’s strategy, it
focuses its vision on every possibility
for each unit to nurture growth while
foreseeing and realising opportunities
for clients.

ABC Islamic Bank aims to provide the
largest number of Shari’a-compliant
products and services under one roof,
seeking to meet diverse investment
requirements and to fulfill the Group’s
strategy of sustainable growth.

partnership

initiative

( Jordan)

- Tunisie

ABC Bank (Jordan) attributes its
success to its credibility and integrity
as a reliable and effective partner
with its customers and stakeholders.
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ABC – Tunisie continues to take the
initiative to grow both its retail and
wholesale operations, enhancing the
volume of money market transactions
and increasing its trade and structured
finance business, as well as developing
key business and consumer products
and services.

Since its inception, ABC Bank - Egypt
has nurtured sustainable growth by
understanding market needs and
delivering customised products and
services to its clients.

Our Network

With an expansive network of branches, representative offices and subsidiaries across the world,
Arab Banking Corporation prides itself on its global reach and local expertise. From Bahrain to London,
New York to Moscow, Algiers to Amman and Sao Paolo to Singapore, you will find us there.
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Directors’ Report
(All figures stated in US dollars)

During 2010, Arab Banking Corporation (ABC)
began to benefit from the actions taken over
the past two years to foster a platform for
profitable growth.
Mr. Mohammed Layas
Chairman

Financial results improved due to the bank’s careful expansion strategy, prudent balance sheet
management and cost discipline. Strategically, progress was made towards our stated ambition of
becoming a leading Middle East & North Africa (MENA) universal bank.
The Group’s operating income rose by 12% to $719 million ($641 million in 2009). Banco ABC Brasil
and ABC’s growing retail business contributed significantly. Group Treasury’s income fell, reflecting
the reduction in the proprietary securities portfolio.
Consolidated net profit increased by 17% to $143 million ($122 million in 2009), broadly in line with
the growth in revenues. Demonstrating ABC’s prudent approach to credit risk, significant levels of
provisions were made during the year but due to recoveries of earlier write downs the net amount
fell year on year. Investment in new branches, staff and infrastructure to facilitate expansion raised
operating expenses by 10% to $359 million ($326 million in 2009).
ABC’s strategy of creating a MENA universal bank, incorporating a substantial retail operation,
received a firm vote of confidence from shareholders. Early in the year, they approved a $1.11 billion
rights issue specifically to fund expansion in MENA, increasing ABC’s capital from $2.0 billion to $3.11
billion. One of the three founding shareholders, the Central Bank of Libya (CBL), raised its ownership
stake to 59.37% over the course of 2010, further demonstrating its confidence in our strategy. The
capital position is exceptionally robust following the rights issue, and our continued de-risking of the
bank’s balance sheet. At the year end, ABC’s capital adequacy ratio, calculated on the basis of the
Basel II capital adequacy regime, stood at more than 23%. This is almost double the Central Bank
of Bahrain’s (CBB’s) required ratio of 12%, which is itself a more prudent level than demanded by
other central banks. At the same time, ABC’s liquidity remains comfortable, with the liquid assets to
deposits ratio at 72% (71% in 2009).
Recognising that organic growth alone will not achieve the desired expansion in retail banking, ABC
is seeking acquisitions in the MENA region. In December, we agreed to buy a 49% stake in Libya’s
Mediterranean Bank.* This gives us access to a fifth MENA market and is part of ABC’s strategy to
acquire banks that are a good strategic fit, and that can be bought at a reasonable price.
As explained in the Review of Operations, considerable progress was made in implementing our
growth strategy. New branches were opened in Egypt and Jordan, and several branches were
prepared for opening in Algeria. Branch expansion, retail product launches and marketing initiatives
are driving rapid growth in earnings from retail banking.
Within the bank, coordination continues between the regional subsidiaries and wholesale banking,
which is mainly located in the Bahrain head office. This is part of the process of realising the
synergies between geography and products that will help to improve profitability. Additionally, both
the wholesale and retail banking teams are focusing on developing relationships with corporate
customers spanning a range of customers’ funding and risk management needs.
In the past two years, ABC’s infrastructure has been strengthened. During 2010, this process
continued, with new appointments in the senior management team and considerable investment
in information technology.
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ABC strengthened its corporate governance to
comply with the new Corporate Governance Code
of Bahrain of 2010 and the CBB’s corresponding
Corporate Governance Requirements.
There were a number of changes to the Board during the year, resulting in a reduction in the
size of the Board from twelve to nine members. I would like to welcome our new Directors, who
collectively have extensive experience in the banking and finance sectors, and thank the outgoing
Directors for their valuable contributions.
ABC strengthened its corporate governance to comply with the new Corporate Governance Code of
Bahrain of 2010 and the CBB’s corresponding Corporate Governance Requirements. Accordingly, the
number of independent directors now stands at four, rather than three as was previously the case.
We, the Board would like to thank our major shareholders, the Group’s management and staff
worldwide for their hard work, loyalty and dedication in 2010. We would also like to thank the
regulatory authorities in all the jurisdictions in which we operate, and in particular the CBB, for their
support and guidance.
Looking forward to 2011, we are cautiously optimistic in spite of continuing uncertainty in credit
markets. With ABC’s larger capital resources and supportive shareholders we are in a good position to
expand on the achievements to date, and are on course to realise our universal banking ambitions.

Mohammed Layas
Chairman
* N.B:

In 2010, ABC entered into an agreement to acquire a 49% equity stake in Libyan-based Mediterranean
Bank. However, the conditions precedent to the completion of the acquisition were not satisfied by
Mediterranean Bank by 31st January 2011 (the contractually required cut-off date) and, therefore, ABC
is no longer obligated to complete the acquisition. In view of recent events in Libya, it is not expected
that ABC will take any steps to complete the acquisition in the near future.
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Note: In compliance with the Central Bank of Bahrain Rulebook Volume 1 Chapter PD1.4.3 set out below are the
interests of Directors and Senior Managers in the shares of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) and the distribution of
shareholding for the year ended 31 December 2010.
			
			
31-Dec-10
1-Jan-10
Directors’ Shares
Senior Managers’ Shares

-

192,330 		
-

Total
192,330
			
Directors’ remuneration, allowances and expenses for attendance at Board meetings for 2010 amounted to $2,737,000
(2009: $2,148,000).
					
			
		
2010			
2009
% of shares held
No. of shares
No. of
% of total 	No. of shares	No. of
		 shareholders outstanding		 shareholders
			
shares			

% of total
outstanding
shares

Less than 1%
128,344,432
1% up to less than 5% 211,976,668
5% up to less than 10%
10% up to less than 20%
20% up to less than 50% 923,289,191
50% and above
1,846,389,709

1,338
3
1
1

4.1
100,012,010
6.8
164,561,080
29.7 1,735,426,910
59.4
-

1,346
4
3
-

5.0
8.2
86.8
-

Total

1,343

100.0 2,000,000,000

1,353

100.0

3,110,000,000
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The aim of ABC’s transformation plan: Improving
profitability through an integrated approach to
business development across all product lines.
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Board of Directors
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Arab Banking Corporation Board Meeting

11

Board of Directors

Mr. Mohammed Hussain Layas EC RC ‡ §
Chairman
B.A. Accounting and Business
Management, University of Benghazi,
Libya; Diploma of the Institute of
Economic Development, Washington,
U.S.A.
Executive Chairman of Libyan Investment Authority; former
Executive Chairman and General Manager of Libyan Foreign
Bank; former Deputy Chairman of British Arab Commercial
Bank, London, U.K.; Banque Intercontinentale Arabe, Paris,
France and Arab International Bank, Cairo, Egypt. Mr. Layas
joined the Board of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) in 2001
with over 36 years’ experience in international banking.
Mr. Hilal Mishari Al-Mutairi EC ‡
Deputy Chairman
B.Sc. in Economics, Alexandria University,
Egypt.

First Vice Chairman, Kuwait Chamber of Commerce & Industry.
Director of Kuwait Investment Authority. Past offices include
Minister of Trade and Industry of Kuwait; General Manager
of Kuwait Investment Company and Chairman of Kuwait
Clearing Company. Mr. Al-Mutairi is also a Director of ABC
International Bank plc, U.K. He has been a Director of Arab
Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) since 2001 and has more than
36 years of commercial and financial industry experience.
Mr. Hassan Ali Juma æ
Director and President & Chief Executive
Fellow of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants (FCMA), U.K.

President and Chief Executive of Arab Banking Corporation
(B.S.C.); Chairman of Arab Banking Corporation - Egypt (S.A.E.);
Arab Banking Corporation Jordan; Arab Financial Services Co.
(E.C.) and Chairman of ABC International Bank plc, U.K. Former
Managing Director of National Bank of Bahrain; former Chairman
of Bahrain Telecommunications Company. Mr. Juma has been a
Director of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) since 1994. He has
more than 36 years’ experience as a commercial banker.

EC Member of the Executive Committee
AC Member of the Audit Committee
GC Member of the Corporate Governance Committee
RC Member of the Risk Committee
NC Member of the Nominations & Compensation Committee
‡	Non-Executive
æ	Executive
§
Independent
	Non-independent
*	Resigned December 3, 2010
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Mr. Mohamed Abdel Salam Shokri EC AC æ
Director
Masters Degree in Accounting Science,
Oklahoma City University, U.S.A.

Deputy Governor, Central Bank of Libya. Chairman of Arab
Banking Corporation (Algeria). Past offices include Deputy Chief
Executive, General Manager of British Arab Commercial Bank,
London, UK.; Chairman and General Manager of Gumhouria
Bank, Libya; Deputy General Manager and Director of Libyan
Arab Tunisian Bank; Chairman of the Libyan Banks Association
and Director of a number of other banks and financial
institutions across the region. Mr. Shokri has been a Director
of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) since April, 2006 and has
over 30 years’ experience as a banker.
Mr. Abdallah Saud Al Humaidhi EC GC NC ‡
Director
M.S. American University of Beirut.

Chairman and Managing Director, Commercial Facilities Company,
Kuwait, Member of the Board and the Executive Committee of
Kuwait Investment Authority and Vice Chairman of the Public
Institution For Social Security. Mr. Al Humaidhi is also a Member
of the Board of Kuwait Chamber of Commerce & Industry and
Director of ABCIB. He has been a Director of Arab Banking
Corporation (B.S.C.) since 2001 and has over 25 years’ experience
in the banking and investment sectors.
Dr. Anwar Ali Al-Mudhaf AC RC ‡ §
Director
M.B.A. and Ph.D. in Finance, Peter F.
Drucker Graduate School of Management,
Claremont Graduate University, California,
U.S.A.
Chairman & CEO of Al-Razzi Holding Company; a Director of the
Board of Governors of the Oxford Institute for Energy Studies
and Chairman of Banco ABC Brasil S.A. He is also a lecturer
in corporate finance; investment management and financial
institutions at Kuwait University. Dr. Al-Mudhaf has formerly
served as Director of the Board of the Public Institution for
Social Security (PIFSS), advisor to the Finance and Economic
Affairs Committee at Kuwait’s Parliament, Vice Chairman in
AlMal Investment Company, former Chairman of International
Bank of Asia in Hong Kong, and a Director of Al-Ahli Bank of
Kuwait. Dr. Anwar is a member of the economic task force set
up to deal with the implications of the global financial crises in
Kuwait. He is also a member of the Board of Directors of the
Public Authority for Applied Education. Dr. Al-Mudhaf joined Arab
Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)’s Board in December 1999 and has
over 16 years’ experience in banking and finance

Dr. Mohammed A. Abusneina NC GC æ
Director
Ph.D in Economics, Indiana University,
U.S.A.

Director of the Banking Supervision and Exchange Control
Department of the Central Bank of Libya. Director of Arab Banking
Corporation - Egypt (S.A.E.). Dr. Abusneina is also member of the
National Committee for Combating Money Laundering in Libya
and the Monetary Policy Committee at the Central Bank of Libya.
Previously, Dr. Abusneina was the Chairman and member of the
Board of Directors of the National Banking Corporation (Libya)
and served as Dean of the Faculty of Economics & Commerce
of Garyounis University. He joined the Board of Arab Banking
Corporation (B.S.C.) in February 2007 and has more than 20
years’ experience in international economics and banking.

Mr. Hareb Masood Al-Darmaki *
Deputy Chairman
B.Sc. in Economics and Politics, Bristol
University, England and Master of Arts in
International Studies, School of Advanced
International Studies of John Hopkins
University, U.S.A.
Executive Director, Private Equities Department at Abu Dhabi
Investment Authority. Mr. Al-Darmaki is also the incumbent
Chairman of Gulf Capital and director of Qatar Telecom (Qtel)
(amongst other companies). He joined the Board of Arab
Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) in March 2007 with over 30 years’
experience in international finance.
Mr. Eissa Mohammed Al Suwaidi *
Director
B.Sc. in Economics, Northeastern
University of Boston, U.S.A.

Dr. Yousef Abdullah Al Awadi RC GC ‡ §
Director
BA Economics, American University of
Beirut, Lebanon; Post Graduate Diploma
in Financial Planning, Arab Planning
Institute, Kuwait; MA and PhD Economics,
University of Colorado, U.S.A.
Chief Executive Officer of YAA Consultancy, Kuwait. Previously
Chief Executive Officer of Gulf Bank, Kuwait and President and CEO
of Kuwait Investment Office, London. Dr. Al Awadi is also a Vice
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Arab Banking Corporation
(Jordan) and a director of Fidelity International Funds. Dr. Al
Awadi has formerly served as a member of the International
Advisory Board of Goldman Sachs and Higher Planning Council
in Kuwait in addition to board directorships of many public
and private sector entities regionally and internationally. He
joined the Board of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) in March
2010 with over 35 years’ experience in banking, international
finance and investment management. In January 2005 Dr. Al
Awadi was awarded the Honorary Knight Commander of the
Most Excellent Order of the British Empire KBE.
Dr. Khaled Fareg Zentuti EC AC NC ‡ §
Director
BS Accounting, University of Garyounes,
Libya; MBA, University of Hartford, U.S.A.;
PhD Finance and Accounting, Bosphore
University, Turkey

Executive Director of Abu Dhabi Investment Council. He is also
a Director of Abu Dhabi National Oil Company for Distribution
(ADNOC Distribution), International Petroleum Investment
Company, Abu Dhabi Fund for Development, Emirates Investment
Authority and Emirates Integrated Telecommunications Company
“du”. He is also the Chairman of Abu Dhabi Commercial Bank and
also serves as the Vice Chairman of Arab Banking Corporation –
Egypt (S.A.E.). He has been a Director of Arab Banking Corporation
(B.S.C.) since 1995, with over 23 years in investment banking.
Mr. Saeed Al-Hajeri *
Director
B.A. from Lewis and Clark College, USA,
and Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA).

Mr. Saeed Al Hajeri is a Board Member of ADIA, and heads its
Emerging Markets Department. Mr. Al Hajeri is also a Board
Member of Abu Dhabi Tourism Development and Investment
Company (TDIC); Zayed University; the Higher Corporation for
Specialised Economic Zones (HCSEZ) and Dubai Cable Company
(DUCAB). Mr. Al Hajeri is a member of the CFA Institute Board of
Governors and MSCI Barra Executive Advisory Board. Mr. Al Hajeri
joined the Board of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) in March
2007, with over 15 years experience in international finance.

General Manager of the Libyan Long Term Investment Portfolio,
Libya. Previously, Dr. Zentuti was the Chairman and General
Manager of the Libyan Foreign Investment Company, Libya. Dr.
Zentuti is also the Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of
the British Arab Commercial Bank, UK, Union Bank, Jordan and
the Libyan Foreign Bank, Libya. Dr. Zentuti joined the Board of
Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) in March 2010 with over 25
years’ experience in finance and banking.
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Board of Directors
Audit Committee
President & Chief Executive
Hassan Ali Juma

Group Audit: Jehangir Jawanmardi

Deputy Chief Executive
Dr. Khaled Kawan
Group Chief Operating Officer
Sael Al Waary

Group Chief Financial Officer
Roy Gardner

Group Compliance

Group Planning & Financial Control

Group Corporate Communications

Office of Strategy Management

Group Information Technology
Group Legal

Group Treasury
Amr Gadallah

Group Policies & Procedures

Bahrain Treasury

Operations

Other Treasury Units in the Group

Accounts & Expenses Management

Group Chief Credit & Risk Officer
Vijay Srivastava

Premises & Engineering
Credit Department
International Wholesale Banking
Bahrain-based Global Products

Remedial Loans & Recovery
Risk Management

New York Branch
Grand Cayman Branch

Group Human Resources
Ian Gore

Baghdad Branch
Tunis Branch (OBU)

Banco ABC Brasil, S.A.

ABC International Bank plc
Branches:
London, Frankfurt, Milan, Paris
Marketing Offices:
Istanbul, Madrid, Rossendale (U.K.),
Stockholm, Moscow

ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)
Representative Offices:
Abu Dhabi, Singapore, Tehran, Tripoli (Libya),
Beirut (Lebanon)

MENA Subsidiaries
Arab Banking Corporation - Algeria
Arab Banking Corporation - Egypt (S.A.E)
Arab Banking Corporation - Tunisie, S.A.
Arab Banking Corporation (Jordan)
Group Retail
R. Sethu Venkateswaran
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Arab Financial Services B.S.C. (c)

Head Office Management

Mr. Hassan Ali Juma | President & Chief Executive
Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants (FCMA), U.K.
Mr. Juma assumed the position of President & Chief Executive
of ABC on 1 April 2008, having previously served as Chief
Executive Officer of National Bank of Bahrain since 1984 and
Managing Director of NBB since 1997. Mr. Juma has been a
director of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) since 1994, and
is Chairman of ABC International Bank plc, U.K., Chairman
of Arab Banking Corporation – Egypt (S.A.E.), Chairman
of Arab Banking Corporation – (Jordan) and Chairman of
Arab Financial Services BSC (c). He was formerly Chairman
of Bahrain Telecommunications Company and Umniah
Mobile Company, Jordan and a Director of National Bank of
Bahrain. Mr. Juma has more than 36 years’ experience as a
commercial banker.
Dr. Khaled S. Kawan | Deputy Chief Executive
Ph.D. (Doctorat D’Etat) in Banking Laws, University of Paris
(Sorbonne), France.
Dr. Kawan joined ABC in June 1991, having previously spent
some time with a prime French Law firm in Paris. He had
been Group Legal Counsel until January 2010, when he was
appointed Deputy Chief Executive. Dr. Kawan is Chairman
of ABC Islamic Bank, Bahrain and also represents ABC as a
Director on the board of Arab Banking Corporation – Egypt
(S.A.E.).
Mr. Sael Al Waary | Group Chief Operating Officer
B.Sc. (Hons) degree in Computer Sciences from the
University of Reading, United Kingdom.
Mr. Al Waary was appointed Group Chief Operating Officer
of the ABC Group in 2006. Prior to that, he was Senior Vice
President and Head of Group Support. In 1997, Mr. Al Waary
relocated from London to the Bahrain Head Office to direct
ABC’s Global Information Technology functions. Mr. Al Waary
originally joined the ABC Group in 1981 and, from 1986,
was the General Manager of ABC (IT) Services Ltd., the
wholly-owned subsidiary of the ABC Group. He has over 30
years of experience in banking. Mr. Al Waary is a Director
of Arab Banking Corporation Egypt (S.A.E.), Arab Banking
Corporation (Jordan) and Bahrain-based Arab Financial
Services (AFS).

Mr. Roy Gardner | Group Chief Financial Officer
Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland.

Mr. Gardner joined ABC in May 2009. Previously he held
a number of senior posts with Citigroup including Chief
Financial Officer for Global Treasury and Trade Solutions,
Chief Financial Officer for Russia and the CIS, Chief Financial
Officer for Emerging Markets Corporate Banking and Head
of Strategic Planning for Corporate and Investment Banking
activities in CEEMEA. He has worked for 20 years in the
Middle East as a finance professional and a corporate finance
banker, including a number of years with Saudi American
Bank where latterly he held the post of Chief Financial
Strategist.
Mr. Amr Gadallah | Group Treasurer
BA (h.hons), MA Economics, American University, Cairo,
Egypt; MA International Economics, George Washington
University, Washington D.C., U.S.A.
Before joining ABC in 1990, Mr. Gadallah spent 5 years
working for Arab International Bank, Cairo, Egypt and
Dean Witter, Chicago, U.S.A. Since 1999 he served as ABC’s
Assistant Group Treasurer, responsible for Money Markets,
Derivatives, Structured Products and Treasury Support. Mr.
Gadallah was appointed Group Treasurer in January 2007.
He is a director of ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.), Bahrain and ABC
Investments, Jordan.
Mr. Jehangir Jawanmardi | Group Chief Auditor
Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales, U.K.
Mr. Jawanmardi is a Chartered Accountant who trained
with KPMG in London. Upon qualification he joined Hill
Samuel Group in 1976 and was appointed a Director of Hill
Samuel Bank in 1986. He spent over 20 years at Hill Samuel
developing his expertise in various aspects of internal
audit in the investment banking and asset management
arena, before transferring to Lloyds TSB Group in the UK
in January 1997 where he was Head of Audit, Wholesale
and International Banking. Mr. Jawanmardi joined the ABC
Group in May 2004 as Group Chief Auditor.
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Mr. Souheil Badro | Global Head of International
Financial Institutions
MBA in Finance, American University, Washington, D.C.,
U.S.A.; MSc in Economics, St. Joseph University, Lebanon

Mr. Ian Gore | Group Head of Human Resources
Masters in Management, Macquarie Graduate School of
Management, Australia; Bachelors in Economics, Macquarie
University, Australia

Mr. Badro who joined ABC as Arab World Division Head in
2006 was appointed Head of Universal Banking in October
2008 and subsequently to his current post in January 2010.
He is also a director of Arab Banking Corporation – Egypt
(S.A.E.). Mr. Badro began his banking career at Credit
Libanais in 1975, before moving to Manufacturers Hanover
Trust Company, where he held various senior positions in
New York, Paris and Bahrain. In 1992, he moved to Chemical
Bank, Bahrain and in 1996 to Chase Manhattan Bank as
Vice President and Head of Financial Institutions. In 1998,
Mr. Badro joined Société Générale, where he was seconded
to the Dubai Regional Representative Office as Managing
Director, Corporate and Investment Banking - MENA.

Mr. Gore joined Arab Banking Corporation in April 2010.
Prior to that he worked at Citigroup for 12 years with
his most recent role being Human Resources Head for
Citigroup South Asia. Previous international assignments
within Citi included postings in Australia, New York and
London. Before joining Citigroup, Mr. Gore worked for
Price Waterhouse for nine years with his most recent role
as Human Resources Manager for the Audit Practice and
Graduate Recruitment Coordinator.

Mr. Vijay Srivastava | Group Chief Credit & Risk Officer
B. Com, Bombay University; Chartered Accountant, Institute
of Chartered Accountants of India
Mr. Srivastava who joined Arab Banking Corporation in
September 2009, started his banking career with HSBC,
India, in 1984 working in Operations and Corporate Banking.
He joined ABN AMRO Bank, Dubai in 1992, heading up the
Corporate Bank for two years before moving to the Risk
Management Division at the Amsterdam headquarters in
1998. In 2004 he helped set up the dedicated risk function
for the Global Transaction Services (GTS), assuming the
role of CRO for GTS in 2007 and helped develop award
winning risk technology for the Cash and Trade businesses.
Mr. Srivastava has also taught at the ABN AMRO Academy
in Amsterdam.
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Global Network
31st December 2010

THE ABC GROUP
		US$ millions
2010 Highlights
Total assets
Total non trading securities
Total loans and advances
Total deposits
Shareholders’ funds

ABC Parent (ABC BSC)
16,867
6,367
4,034
11,435
3,428

ABC Group
28,105
8,057
12,186
21,218
3,428

MENA subsidiaries		
		

2010 Highlights

Total assets
Total non trading securities
Total loans and advances
Total deposits
Shareholders’ funds
Number of branches

US$ millions

ABC
Algeria

ABC
Jordan

ABC
Egypt

ABC
Tunisie

538
224
346
165
12

983
273
440
792
150
25

843
37
250
638
147
28

160
25
134
19
4

Wholesale banking and Other subsidiaries	

		
US$ millions

		

2010 Highlights

Total assets
Total non trading securities
Total loans and advances
Total deposits
Shareholders’funds
Number of branches

ABC Int’l
Bank plc

Banco ABC
Brasil

ABC
Islamic Bank

AFS

5,166
444
1,738
3,945
477
4

5,892
543
4,226
4,479
809
6

1,209
358
844
1,015
187
-

72
7
2
61
-
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Financial Highlights

31 Dec
2010

31 Dec
2009

31 Dec
2008

31 Dec
2007

31 Dec
2006

Earnings (US$ million)					
Net interest income

440

391

431

298

249

Other operating income

279

250

176

393

235

Total operating income

719

641

607

691

484

Profit before provisions, taxation and non-controlling interests

360

315

255

416

222

Impairment provisions - net

(77)

(115)

Profit before taxation and non-controlling interests

283

200

(800)

186

222

Net profit (loss) for the year from continuing operations

143

122

(880)

125

202

Total assets

28,105

25,965

28,486

32,744

22,402

Loans and advances

12,186

10,949

11,931

12,329

8,622

6,573

3,949

4,017

5,268

4,160

65

135

126

747

757

Non-trading securities

8,057

9,552

10,623

12,890

7,828

Shareholders’ funds

3,428

2,191

1,793

1,867

2,068

(1,055)

(230)

-

Financial Position (US$ million)

Placements with banks and other financial institutions
Trading securities

					
Ratios (%)					
Profitability					
Cost: Income ratio (costs as % of gross operating income)

50

51

40

54

Net profit (loss) as % of average shareholders funds

4.3

5.9

(51.6)

6.2

10.2

0.54

0.46

(2.88)

0.45

0.94

-

-

-

2.0

Net profit (loss) as % of average assets
Dividend cover (times)

58

-

Capital					
20,823

19,863

19,537

20,893

14,107

4,818

3,347

3,159

3,006

2,225

Risk asset ratio - Tier 1

18.4

13.4

12.8

10.9

13.5

Risk asset ratio – Total

23.1

16.9

16.2

14.4

15.8

Average shareholders’ funds as % of average total assets

12.5

7.8

5.6

7.2

8.7

Loans and advances as a multiple of shareholders’ funds (times)

3.6

5.0

6.7

6.6

4.2

Total debt as a multiple of shareholders’ funds (times)

7.2

10.9

14.7

16.4

9.8

0.64

1.07

1.39

1.38

0.93

Risk weighted assets (US$ million)
Capital base (US$ million)

Term financing as multiple of shareholders’ funds (times)
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31 Dec
2010

31 Dec
2009

31 Dec
2008

31 Dec
2007

31 Dec
2006

Assets					
Loans and advances as % of total assets

43.4

42.2

41.9

37.7

38.5

Securities as % of total assets

28.9

37.3

37.7

41.6

38.3

3.5

3.5

1.9

1.3

2.0

127.8

131.1

181.6

196.9

208.2

Loan loss provisions as % of gross loans

4.5

4.6

3.5

2.5

4.2

Impaired securities as a % of gross non-trading securities

6.6

6.0

10.6

5.5

-

Securities provisions as a % of impaired securities

90.8

91.3

93.9

41.5

-

Securities provisions as a % of gross non-trading securities

6.01

5.50

9.98

2.3

-

Impaired loans as % of gross loans
Loan loss provisions as % of impaired loans

Liquidity					
Liquid assets ratio
Deposits to loans cover (times)

54.0

55.0

54.7

58.8

58.1

1.7

1.8

1.9

2.2

2.0

					
Share Information					
Basic Earnings per share - Profit for the year
Dividends per share - Cash
Net asset value per share

$0.05

$0.06

-

-

$1.10

$1.10

($0.57)

$0.13

$0.20

-

-

$0.10

$0.90

$1.87

$2.07

					
Capitalisation (US$ million)					
Authorised

3,500

2,500

2,500

1,500

1,500

Issued, Subscribed and fully paid-up

3,110

2,000

2,000

1,000

1,000

Registered address
Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
ABC Tower, Diplomatic Area

Publicly quoted company listed
on Bahrain Bourse.

P.O. Box 5698, Manama

(Commercial Registration No.10299)

Kingdom of Bahrain
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In 2010, Arab Banking Corporation (ABC) took
significant steps to implement its strategy
of becoming one of the Middle East & North
Africa’s (MENA) leading universal banks.
Mr. Hassan Ali Juma
President & Chief Executive

Expansion of the geographic footprint was accelerated, a new approach to building relationships with
core clients was introduced and the bank’s infrastructure was upgraded, both in terms of technology
and people.
New branches continued to be opened in the MENA countries where ABC already has a presence. ABC’s
branch opening programme, and the greater collaboration between MENA subsidiaries and Bahrain head
office, is already increasing demand for wholesale and retail banking products.
Within wholesale banking, ABC concentrated on building stronger relationships, especially with mid-sized
MENA organisations, aiming to provide them with complete solutions drawn from across the ABC product
range. An automated customer management tool will help staff to understand customers’ needs, and
remuneration will soon be partly linked to success in fulfilling these needs. Similarly, a function has been
introduced to optimise relationships with other financial institutions.
Considerable resources are being invested in upgrading information technology in order to improve
customer delivery channels and to develop ABC’s enterprise data warehouse for customer-centric
information. Furthermore, ABC’s program of core banking system centralisation covering retail, wholesale
and treasury products, continues to progress across MENA. By centralising these systems, ABC is leveraging
its IT investments and driving down the total cost of ownership.
Acknowledging the role of talented people in ABC’s success, a dedicated Human Resources (HR) function
has been established to improve the management of talent and performance; to ensure that ABC has the
critical skills it needs; and to enhance company culture. One of its early initiatives was to increase training,
with a view to fostering cultural transformation and cross-selling.
ABC is systematically implementing its strategy of becoming a leading MENA universal bank in order
to improve its potential for sustainable growth in profits. The pages that follow report 2010’s progress
towards achieving strategic goals, and the year’s financial performance, in more detail.
GEOGRAPHIES
MENA
ABC’s MENA subsidiaries continued to expand their branch networks, numbers of customers and product
sets, furthering the Group’s strategy of becoming a leading MENA universal bank.
Jordan
Arab Banking Corporation (Jordan) opened six new branches, lifting the total to 25, and successfully grew
both its retail and corporate businesses.
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With Jordan’s economy rebounding modestly from the low growth experienced in 2009, revenues
rose by 15% to $49.8 million ($43.2 million 2009). Growth in the retail business, better performance
in the investment portfolio and a lower cost of funds drove the increase. Net profit climbed by 12%
to $14.6 million ($13.0 million 2009), as efficiency initiatives limited costs.
Retail banking continued to expand. Both loans and customer deposits increased following product
enhancements and targeted marketing campaigns. Promotional campaigns successfully attracted new
personal loan, home loan and credit card business, with a focus on expanding the deposit base.
Within corporate lending, the bank concentrated on enhancing relationships with selected clients
and continuing to diversify lending across sectors. Financings focused on the energy, mining and
manufacturing sectors, as well as trade. The lending portfolio grew, as did operating income.
Treasury achieved its performance goals in cash flow management, money market, capital markets
and foreign exchange, in addition to fulfilling its duties in liquidity and risk management. New
investment products were launched for corporate clients, as well as hedge instruments such as
futures, interest rate swap contracts, and safe custody and investment trustee services.
A major programme to improve Jordan’s IT infrastructure is under way, with introduction of the ABC
core banking system expected to be completed in 2011.
Looking forward over the next three years, the bank has ambitious growth targets for both its
corporate and retail businesses. On the corporate side, management will focus on service quality
and cross selling, and a small and medium-sized enterprise proposition will be launched. Within
retail, tailored offers will be launched for the public sector and products will be improved across the
range.
Egypt
Arab Banking Corporation-Egypt (S.A.E) steadily expanded its geographical footprint in what is one
of the MENA region’s largest economies. Five new branches were opened, bringing the total to 28,
and the number of ATMs was increased from 74 to 97.
During a year of prudent development of the corporate loans portfolio and expansion of the branch
network, revenues were stable at $34.1 million ($35.1 million in 2009). Profit was $4.0 million
($9.0 million in 2009).
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During 2011, management will start to implement
a strategy to build a wider corporate and retail
customer base.
Notably, a new management team was appointed in September. The Egyptian subsidiary is being
restructured to reflect ABC’s strategy for growing universal banking, and to fulfil the potential for
profitable growth presented by Egypt’s economy.
The Corporate team carefully developed and diversified the loans portfolio, concentrating on strategic
sectors such as automotive, food & beverages, oil & gas and pharmaceuticals. Signalling a shift in
strategy, the team started to build fee income from cross-selling products such as trade finance, cash
management and treasury products. Correspondent banking enhanced its relationships with regional
and international financial institutions.
Introduction of the new ABC core banking system was completed during the year. The system,
centralised in ABC’s Head Office, has increased automation across both retail and corporate banking
processes, improved functionality within the customer delivery channels, enhanced management
information systems and provided more effective controls for management.
During 2011, management will start to implement a strategy to build a wider corporate and retail
customer base. The bank will seek to become a major provider of trade finance, while also diversifying
its range of corporate products and services. Geographical expansion will continue as new branches
are opened. Competitive positioning will improve, as will the ability to cross-sell retail, corporate and
treasury products.
Algeria
ABC Bank Algeria moved swiftly to diversify its product offering in 2010, following the Algerian
government’s restrictions on consumer credit imposed during the previous year. The retail team
launched new products, while the corporate team worked on strengthening its client base.
Distribution was enhanced through improvements to the branch network and the launch of online
banking services.
After several years of rapid growth, revenue and profit expansion paused as the bank rebalanced its
product proposition. Revenues were $33.2 million ($33.7 million in 2009), while profit was
$13 million ($12.8 million in 2009).
The corporate and trade finance business continued to grow both revenues and profits, but retail
business was affected due to the new consumer credit regulations that imposed restrictions on
consumer lending.
Ambitious expansion is underway in areas with high-growth potential. Eight new branches were
awaiting regulatory approval at the year end and a further four are planned for opening in 2011.
Additionally, a number of retail branches are being converted into universal banking branches. When
added to the 12 branches already in existence, ABC will have 24 branches in the country by the end
of 2011, assuming regulatory approvals are granted.
The Corporate Banking team built new client relationships among both multinationals and local
businesses, focusing on trade-related business across sectors identified as priorities under the
government’s five-year economic plan.
The Retail team launched Business Financial Services, a comprehensive banking service for small
businesses, professionals and the self-employed.

22 ABC Group | annual report 2010

Both Corporate and Retail took steps to improve efficiency and service quality. Corporate centralised
issuance of trade finance instruments such as letters of credit and advances. Meanwhile, Retail
achieved a major milestone, launching a new online banking service.
Reflecting the bank’s excellent standing in a highly competitive market, Global Finance magazine
selected ABC Bank Algeria as ‘The Best Bank in Algeria for 2010’, marking the second year in
succession it has won this accolade. Looking forward to 2011, the bank plans to expand and upgrade
its branch network, and to complete the introduction of new retail products.
Tunisia
Against a backdrop of a strengthening economy, supported by growing industrial activity, ABC
continued to strengthen its domestic banking operations, conducted from its four onshore branches.
Following a strategic review, the management team was also bolstered.
ABC Group’s two Tunisian banking entities had contrasting fortunes. ABC Tunisie, the onshore retail
and corporate bank, moved into profit as it processed growing volumes of money market transactions
while increasing the trade and structured finance business conducted with state-owned companies
and leasing organisations. Revenues climbed to $4.6 million ($3.3 million 2009) and profit reached
$0.9 million ($1.5 million loss 2009). The onshore bank’s total assets and liabilities remained at the
same level at $160 million.
At the Group’s offshore branch, which typically services international organisations’ trade finance
needs, revenues and net profits declined. This was due to lower trade finance and foreign exchange
activity, as well as thinner net interest margins.
In a competitive marketplace, ABC Tunisie improved its car, personal and home loan products, while
marketing initiatives enhanced the bank’s brand image and visibility. The bank also continued to
invest in technology to improve efficiency, security and delivery of key business and consumer
products and services.
Looking forward to 2011, new retail branches are planned and the retail customer base will expand.
Taking advantage of Tunisia’s robust international trade and foreign direct investment, it is intended
that trade and project finance activity will increase.
EUROPE
ABC International Bank
From its London base, ABC International Bank (ABCIB) plc built on its success as a leading financier
of trade between the MENA region and Europe, helping to position the wider ABC Group for robust
and sustainable growth. As the main international arm of the ABC Group, ABCIB plays a crucial role
in the development of group strategy.
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Seeking to broaden its geographical footprint and
capture a greater share of trade between Russia
and the MENA region, ABCIB opened a Moscow
representative office.
The Trade Finance Group, ABCIB’s largest contributor to revenue, accessed a significant share of business flows
between European corporates and the Arab world. Project and Structured Finance developed its advisory
business, while Islamic Financial Services selectively increased lending activity. Treasury placed increased
emphasis on cross-selling treasury products and supporting the hedging requirements of customers.
Partly reflecting the recovery in trade flows, ABCIB’s total revenues increased to $83.2 million
($79.9 million in 2009), with trade finance contributing 73%. After a decline in loan loss provisions,
net profit rose to $22.9 million ($15.2 million in 2009).
Seeking to broaden its geographical footprint and capture a greater share of trade between Russia and
the MENA region, ABCIB opened a Moscow representative office. This office has already generated a
flow of MENA related business and promises to be a key location for the ABC Group.
As global trade activity recovered tentatively during 2010, the Trade Finance Group used its innovative
structuring skills to widen the bank’s customer base and increase transaction volumes. Despite resurgent
competition and falling margins, the ABCIB team built on its excellent reputation in the market to
grow its relationship with some major European corporate names during the year. To complement this
activity and allow it to manage its limits in line with risk appetite, ABCIB’s Distribution Unit contributed
strongly to this success by selling almost $1 billion of risk assets to third parties.
Project & Structured Finance continued to concentrate on building its advisory business. The team
worked on three major advisory assignments, including the $1 billion Jordanian DISI Water Project,
which reached financial completion. Selected short-term lending was also undertaken.
Islamic Financial Services changed its business model and increased its lending activity with a
specific focus on Europe and the Middle East. A small number of high-value residential real estate
financings were completed, and Islamically-structured working capital facilities were provided for
two companies.
In line with ABC Group strategy, Treasury increased income by expanding its foreign exchange
business, both for corporate customers and correspondent banks. ABCIB’s funding and liquidity
requirements were prudently managed, complying fully with the UK Financial Services Authority’s
new liquidity regime.
In 2011, ABCIB will continue with steady growth towards its ambition to become the leading MENAfocused European bank. This will be supported by expansion of marketing resources across Europe,
growth in the client base and a continued creative approach to business, especially in trade finance.
AMERICAS
Banco ABC Brasil
With the Brazilian economy expanding strongly, Banco ABC Brasil SA capitalised on its established
market position to expand its loan portfolio and grow its fee business. Providing credit and other
banking services to mid-to-large Brazilian companies, the bank is well established in its market
niche with recognised strengths.
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Banco abc brasil is opening new branches to
serve mid-sized companies.
As the loan portfolio expanded to $4.4 billion by the year end ($3.2 billion in 2009), revenues grew
substantially to $314 million ($194.6 million in 2009). Loan loss provisions declined to $22.3 million
($27.1 million in 2009). Reflecting rising interest and commission income, as well as declining
provisions, net profit increased significantly to $110.6 million ($47.2 million in 2009).
At a time of expanding corporate demand for credit, the bank exploited its robust competitive
position to expand its loan book. Banco ABC Brasil has the advantage of being one of the few banks
not owned by a Brazilian family or industrial group. Additionally, bank mergers and the withdrawal
of some international banks during the credit crisis, have minimised competition.
In particular, Brazilian companies were attracted to the bank in 2010 by its diversification of funding,
attractive rates and credit product diversity.
To promote future growth, the bank is investing in its business serving mid-sized companies by
opening three new branches.
In 2011, the bank will work to sustain the impressive organic growth achieved since its initial public
offering in 2007, improving internal processes and investing in people.
New York Branch
The New York branch focused on supporting trade between the United States and the MENA region,
successfully increasing its profits due to higher trade finance commission income.
The branch offered an increasingly wide range of products, cross selling project finance and Islamic
banking products to both existing and new clients. Deposits were attracted from US corporate clients
and foreign exchange business began to be written.
Business activity benefited from working increasingly closely with other ABC offices in the United
Kingdom, Europe and the Middle East.
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In line with Group strategy, staff focused on
building relationships with the governmental and
corporate customers where ABC can add most
value.
GLOBAL PRODUCTS
International Wholesale Banking
While 2010 saw some recovery in MENA banking markets, liquidity remained considerably tighter than
in the peak years and some regional credits continued to face challenges. Against this background,
International Wholesale Banking activities maintained steady revenues and profits, and managed
risk through balance sheet reduction and shorter term lending.
Revenues were stable at $156 million ($159 million in 2009), and profit before taxation
increased to $68 million ($37 million in 2009), mainly due to lower provisions of $41 million
($69 million in 2009). Total assets deployed continued to be reduced and stood at $7.3 billion
at year end ($7.6 billion in 2009).
The pace of lending activity and unfunded business growth picked up in the second half of the year,
both in line with customer demand and as management reinforced the business unit’s strategy.
In line with Group strategy, staff focused on building relationships with the governmental and
corporate customers where ABC can add most value. This approach was rewarded by steady growth
in the number of customers buying more than one product, which should lead to a higher proportion
of fee-based income.
An internally developed account management tool supported the strategy, providing front-line staff
with real-time access to information and goals, and management with the tools to monitor effective
progress. Customer service teams now have access to detailed client exposure and profitability data,
which allows the returns on equity for client relationships to be measured. The tool also enhances
communication between the teams’ product specialists and regional coverage representatives, and
with the wider bank. Team members write client updates that are then instantly emailed to all
relevant ABC staff.
Trade Finance
With its increasingly wide geographical reach, Global Trade Finance was well positioned to benefit
from growing trade between the MENA region and the rest of the world, particularly trade related to
local governments’ infrastructure development programmes and the private sector.
Revenues and profits remained stable, while the business unit’s risk profile was enhanced through
pragmatic use of asset distribution and other risk reduction strategies, together with an increased
emphasis on fully-funded alongside off-balance sheet solutions.
Trade Finance’s broad geographical footprint, extending beyond its London and Bahrain hubs, enabled
it to benefit from the MENA region’s growing trade flows across the world. Both the New York branch
and Singapore office are sourcing growing volumes of primary business, with the latter benefiting
as Asian trade flows increased. Additionally, ABC became the first Middle Eastern bank to open a
Moscow representative office.
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Demonstrated success in trade receivables financing generated business growth from both existing
and new clients, and ABC is fast becoming recognised as an industry leader in the provision of trade
receivables financing for MENA and beyond.
The Trade Finance unit also successfully sold other bank products to clients, especially treasury products.
Looking forward, MENA trade is likely to continue to grow in 2011 and beyond, supported by
continued infrastructure investment. Having the geographical breadth to adapt to changing MENA
trade patterns will confer a strong competitive advantage. Additionally, there is a growing trend for
clients to have a strong preference for niche regional banks over global banks.
Corporate & Structured Finance
Corporate & Structured Finance focused on developing relationships with medium-sized organizations
and entered into selective project finance transactions. Corporate Banking & Financial Institutions, ABC’s
primary relationship management and marketing unit within the Middle East, was increasingly successful
in positioning the ABC Group as a provider of banking solutions spanning a range of products.
With lending facilities at the core, the year’s successful transactions validated the strategy. ABC had
the opportunity to provide YBA Kanoo, one of the Gulf’s largest family-owned conglomerates, with
a noteworthy credit facility. The unit also initiated relationships with some of India’s biggest financial
institutions, providing facilities to develop bilateral relationships and to intermediate growing Indian
trade with the MENA region. ABC acted as lead arranger and bookrunner for Afreximbank’s
$150 million and €74 million dual-tranche syndicated term loans.
The Project & Structured Finance team cautiously increased its activity during the year, as the regional
project finance market became more active and an ABC strategic review confirmed it as a core
product offering. The team is one of the region’s leading project finance houses, having a dedicated
regional presence and deep expertise in structuring transactions for project and asset finance.
ABC was financial adviser to the successful bidding consortia on the Djerba Desalination project in
Tunisia, was lead arranger for the $1.1 billion Emirates Steel project finance transaction in Abu Dhabi,
and participated in Egyptian General Petroleum Corp’s structured financing. Lending relationships
were selective and led to related structured derivative and trade finance transactions.
Looking forward, the Corporate & Structured Finance unit anticipates that regional banking activity will
continue to grow as economic improvements are sustained. ABC believes the relationships it has built
with smaller and medium-sized corporates, and financial institutions active in MENA, along with its
reputation for structuring innovative financial solutions for clients, will generate a growing number of
attractive opportunities.
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TOTAL ASSETS
$ MILLIONS

SHORT & LONG TERM LOANS
$ MILLIONS
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Islamic Finance
ABC Islamic Bank, ABC’s Bahrain-based Islamic banking subsidiary, built new relationships with target
customers across the MENA region, as well as raising its quality of service to differentiate it from other
Islamic banks. Having one of the broadest product ranges of any Islamic institution, the bank is providing
selected customers with high-quality relationship banking incorporating more than one product.
As ABC Islamic Bank’s balance sheet continued to shrink, reflecting ABC’s conservative credit policy,
total operating income stood at $15.9 million ($15.1 million in 2009). Net profit was $2 million
($10 million in 2009), reflecting the financial crisis’s delayed impact on provisions. Total assets stood
at $1,208 million at the year-end ($1,318 million in 2009).
The bank led several Murabaha financings. Notably, it was sole arranger of Japanese bank Nomura
International’s $70 million three-year syndicated facility, which demonstrated how Islamic finance
can give conventional borrowers access to a diversified source of finance. This was the first syndicated
Islamic financing for a Japanese bank.
During 2011, ABC Islamic Bank expects to grow its lending activity selectively, as a result of both
its recent drive to win new clients, and a gradual recovery in the appetite of existing clients for
funds. The bank will also work closely with ABC’s expanding regional retail business, designing and
producing Islamic products for the retail market.
Group Retail
In line with the Group’s strategy of building a substantial MENA retail bank to tap into increasing regional
demand for banking products from a young population, ABC continued to expand its distribution
network by opening new branches. Innovative marketing campaigns and new products enhanced
market penetration, while upgraded information technology systems improved efficiency.
Across Egypt, Jordan, Algeria and Tunisia, the bank continued its growth trajectory, opening 11 new
branches, lifting the total network to 69. In Egypt and Jordan, new branches were opened outside
the capital cities in order to reach a wider segment of the population.
Demonstrating the effect of doubling the branch network in two years, the number of customers
grew during 2010. With customers buying a range of deposits and loan products, retail banking now
accounts for twice as high a percentage of ABC’s revenues compared with 2007.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
$ MILLIONS

DEPOSITS
$ MILLIONS
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‘Lifestyle-aligned’ marketing campaigns generated significant new business, deepening penetration
in existing markets. There was particular success in Jordan, where campaigns had notable success in
increasing home loan, personal loan and credit card assets. In Egypt, ABC collaborated with strategic
partners such as insurance companies and clubs to distribute bespoke products tailored to the needs
of specific target groups.
A wider range of products and services was made available across all MENA geographies, and the
bank targeted new customer groups. In Jordan, for example, the bank started to target public sector
employees with a new range of customised products. In Tunisia, both home loan and auto loan
products were launched to accelerate growth. Meanwhile, in Algeria a loan product was launched to
cater to growing numbers of self-employed and professionals.
The Group’s Retail Centre of Excellence was expanded during the year, and continued to support
implementation of the latest retail banking management techniques across the network. The
Bahrain-based team identified initiatives for enhancing customer experience, process management,
product design and development. Training workshops emphasised a customer-centric approach to
business development and delivery.
Looking forward, ABC plans to expand its retail business over the years, by establishing a broad
regional branch network and further enhancing the contribution of retail to Group revenue and
profits. While branches will be the primary source of distribution, they will be complemented by
electronic delivery channels and direct sales agents.
Within the MENA subsidiaries, management will focus on hiring specialists needed to facilitate
expansion, and will upgrade marketing capabilities to ensure that new products and services find
greater acceptability from a wider section of customers.
Treasury
ABC’s Group Treasury worked to improve the sustainability of both the bank’s funding and the
business unit’s sources of profit. In a regional funding market that continued to be challenging, the
treasury team sought to lengthen the bank’s liability profile, while reducing proprietary trading and
increasing sales of treasury products.
A new sales unit was formed in order to develop new products and boost treasury sales to wholesale
and corporate customers, both internationally and in the MENA region. New treasury products will
also be developed for high-net-worth individuals.
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ABC Group’s conservative risk appetite, and new
regulatory liquidity requirements in Bahrain
and London, have caused proprietary securities
portfolios to be more liquid and highly rated.
Bahrain Treasury had a positive year in terms of trading and customer-related revenues. All trading
desks performed well, while the money market desk employed the available liquidity prudently.
ABC Group’s conservative risk appetite, and new regulatory liquidity requirements in Bahrain and
London, have caused proprietary securities portfolios to be more liquid and highly rated.
The asset management unit’s income grew substantially as institutional customers, including
central banks and sovereign wealth funds, placed more funds with ABC.
Treasury expects funding conditions to improve in 2011, creating opportunities to improve liquidity
at relatively attractive pricing. The new treasury sales team’s initiatives are likely to lead, slowly,
to higher sales from business units across ABC.
Payment Processing (Arab Financial Services)
Arab Financial Services B.S.C. (AFS), the Middle East’s largest card processing company, invested
in new technology and enhanced client services that will boost its position as the region’s leading
provider of value-added, cost-effective processing services for banks.
Technology infrastructure continued to be strengthened by forging a strategic alliance with one of
the world’s leading providers of payment processing technology. AFS enhanced its 24 hours a day,
seven days a week call centre service with new technology and is now serving Visa International’s
Global Refund Service needs.
Following the turbulent market conditions of 2008-2009, regional banks want card processing
services that are both cost effective and offer value-added facilities available through EMV chipcard technology. AFS’s ability to meet this need is unrivalled in the Middle East. Consequently,
revenues and profits were in line with the 2010 forecast.
AFS’s focus on quality control, best-in-class products and creation of a ‘learning organisation’
culture has strengthened competitive advantage. The launch of a quality-monitoring initiative is
intended to ensure AFS listens to its customers, paying due attention to their requirements and
acting upon positive changes which improve delivery capabilities.
In 2011, AFS plans to embark on a new long-term phase of growth, introducing a new technology
platform, employing and retaining top talent, entering new lines of business and expanding in
Iraq and North Africa.
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ABC’s program of core banking system centralisation
throughout the Group is also being progressively
completed across the MENA markets.
Global IT Function
After a strategic review during 2010, the Global IT function will continue to focus on further enhancing
retail delivery channels across ABC’s four historic MENA markets in order to enrich the customer
experience.
ABC’s program of core banking system centralisation throughout the Group is also being progressively
completed across the MENA markets. Egypt’s system went live in 2010, joining Tunisia’s which had
already been completed. Jordan’s is scheduled for completion in late 2011 and Algeria’s for 2012.
Internal support systems have also been identified for enhancement, including account management,
customer-centric information, enterprise-wide data warehouse and workflows.
Further investment in ABC’s IT infrastructure and resources is already underway to support the
initiatives identified in the strategic review.
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ABC is a pioneer of good corporate governance
principles and practices in Bahrain’s banking sector.
Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C) (“ABC”) was incorporated in 1980 as a Bahrain joint stock
company. The Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) licenses ABC as a conventional wholesale bank with
an authorised capital of $3.5 billion and a paid up capital of $3.11 billion.
Shareholders
Since 1990, ABC’s shares have been listed on the Bahrain Bourse. The Central Bank of Libya, one
of the founding shareholders of ABC, owns a majority of the shares of ABC, having increased its
percentage shareholding by 12.12% in March 2010 by participating in ABC’s 2010 capital increase
and having acquired the 17.72% shareholding of the Abu Dhabi Investment Authority in December
2010. The Kuwait Investment Authority, another founding shareholder of ABC, continues to own a
significant shareholding in ABC. Each of the foregoing shareholders is either a governmental entity
or is (directly or indirectly) owned by a governmental entity in its jurisdiction of establishment.
International and regional investors hold the remaining shares of ABC.
The following table shows the ownership structure of ABC as at 31st December 2010:
Name of Shareholder	Percentage Shareholding

Nationality

Central Bank of Libya

59.37%	Libyan

Kuwait Investment Authority

29.69%

Kuwaiti

Other shareholders with less than 5% holdings

10.94%

various

Total

100%

Recent corporate governance changes
ABC is a pioneer of good corporate governance principles and practices in Bahrain’s banking sector. The
bank initially adopted formal internationally recognised best practice principles and guidelines in May
2004. Among other things, these commit ABC to communicate all relevant information to stakeholders
punctually and clearly through a variety of channels, including a well-maintained website.
In 2010 the CBB updated its requirements with regard to corporate governance standards for
financial institutions which are incorporated in Bahrain, such as ABC (the CBB Corporate Governance
Requirements). Such new regulatory requirements largely correspond with the Corporate
Governance Code of Bahrain of 2010 (the Code), which was issued by the Ministry of Industry
and Commerce of Bahrain in March 2010 and applies to companies whose shares are listed on
the Bahrain Bourse, including ABC. Although ABC was substantially compliant with such regulatory
corporate governance requirements, ABC’s Board decided to revise its mandate and the mandate
of various Board committees so as to more closely align the wording of such mandates with the
wording of the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements and the Code. Such revised mandates
were adopted in December 2010 and are displayed on the ABC corporate website (the ABC Board
Mandates). The CBB Corporate Governance Requirements and the Code will take full effect at the
end of 2011.
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Save as may otherwise be disclosed in this annual report, as at 31st December 2010 ABC was
compliant with the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements and the Code.
The CBB Corporate Governance Requirements require that equivalent corporate governance
arrangements should apply to ABC’s regulated subsidiaries. ABC’s regulated subsidiaries are located
in various jurisdictions throughout the world, all of which are subject to local regulatory and legal
requirements. ABC believes that the application of equivalent corporate governance arrangements
to such subsidiaries may not always be appropriate or practicable. However, it is expected that
certain aspects of the ABC Board Mandates will be used as a template for the corporate government
arrangements applicable to such subsidiaries going forward, subject to local legal and regulatory
requirements. The Board of ABC is satisfied that the corporate governance standards applicable to
such subsidiaries are adequate in the light of all the circumstances, notwithstanding that they may
not be equivalent to the arrangements set out in the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements or
the ABC Board Mandates.
Board of Directors
Responsibilities of the Board
The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall direction, supervision and control of the ABC
Group. In particular, the Board’s responsibilities include (but are not limited to):
(a)

those responsibilities assigned to the Board by the Articles of Association of ABC;

(b)

establishing the objectives of ABC;

(c)

the overall business performance of ABC;

(d)

monitoring management performance;

(e)

the adoption and annual review of strategy;

(f)

monitoring the implementation of strategy by management;

(g)

causing financial statements to be prepared which accurately disclose ABC’s financial position;

(h)

convening and preparing the agenda for shareholder meetings;

(i)

monitoring conflicts of interest and preventing abusive related party transactions;

(j)

assuring equitable treatment of shareholders including minority shareholders;

(k)

the adoption and review of management structure and responsibilities;

(l)

the adoption and review of the systems and controls framework.

The Board meets regularly (usually six times a year) to consider key aspects of the Group’s affairs,
strategy and operations.
The Board has delegated authority to Executive Management to enter into transactions which are
consistent with the Group’s Risk Strategy / Appetite and Policy Guidelines (as more particularly
described on pages 42 to 69); transactions which fall outside the Group’s Risk Strategy / Appetite
and Policy Guidelines or in respect of which authority has not been delegated to Executive
Management (for example, because the value of the transaction exceeds a specified amount)
must be approved by the Board.
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Appointment of Directors
The shareholders appoint the Board for a term of three years. Currently, there are nine Board
directors, with diverse and relevant skills who work well together as a team. Collectively, they
exercise independent and objective judgement in meeting their responsibilities.
In accordance with ABC’s Articles of Association, a shareholder or group of shareholders holding
25% or more of the share capital of ABC may nominate Directors proportionate to their respective
shareholdings; other Directors are elected.
In accordance with the ABC Board Mandates, each proposal for the election or re-election of a
Director shall be accompanied by a recommendation of the Board and a summary of the advice
of the Nominations and Compensation Committee (see page 36 with regard to the role of the
Nominations and Compensation Committee).
When a new Director is inducted, the Chairman, assisted by ABC’s company secretary, legal counsel
or compliance officer, reviews the Board’s role and duties with that person, particularly covering
legal and regulatory requirements of the ABC Board Mandates, the Corporate Governance Code
and the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements. The Chairman of the Board ensures that each
new Director receives a formal and tailored induction to ensure his contribution to the Board from
the beginning of his term, including meetings with senior management, visits to ABC facilities,
presentations regarding strategic plans, significant financial, accounting and risk management
issues, compliance programs, its internal and independent auditors and legal counsel.
ABC has a written appointment agreement with each Director, which recites the Directors’ powers,
duties, responsibilities and accountabilities, as well as other matters relating to their appointment
including their term, the time commitment envisaged, the committee assignments (if any),
their remuneration and expense reimbursement entitlement, and their access to independent
professional advice when that is needed.
Assessment of the Board
The ABC Board Mandates require that the Board annually conducts an evaluation of its performance
and the performance of each Board committee and each individual Director, including:
(a)

assessing how the Board operates

(b) evaluating the performance of each committee in light of its specific purposes and
responsibilities, which shall include review of the self-evaluations undertaken by each
committee
(c)

reviewing each Director’s work, his attendance at Board and committee meetings, and his
constructive involvement in discussions and decision making

(d) reviewing the Board’s current composition against its desired composition with a view toward
maintaining an appropriate balance of skills and experience and a view toward planned and
progressive refreshing of the Board
(e) recommendations for new Directors to replace long-standing Directors or those Directors whose
contribution to the Company or its committees (such as the Audit Committee) is not adequate
Prior to adoption of the ABC Board Mandates, the performance of the Board was assessed on an
ad hoc basis.
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The Chairman of the Board ensures that each new
Director receives a formal and tailored induction.
Independence of Directors
The ABC Board Mandates include detailed criteria to determine whether a Director should be
classified as independent or non-independent; such criteria set out a number of factors which
would prevent a Director from being classified as independent; Directors prevented from being
classified as independent by the criteria are automatically classified as being non-independent.
The independence criteria specified in the ABC Board Mandates are at least as restrictive as the
mandatory criteria specified in the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements and the Code. The
adoption of the new criteria required some of the Directors to be re-classified as independent
directors and certain Directors to be re-classified as executive Directors. The re-classification in
2010 of two of the Directors as executive Directors was due to the fact that such Directors are
employees of a controlling shareholder of ABC (the Central Bank of Libya), which means that
such Directors have to be classified as executive Directors of ABC in accordance with the criteria,
and does not reflect any change in the roles of such Directors, who do not perform any executive
functions at ABC. As a result of the re-classification process described above, as at 31st December
2010, ABC had four independent non-executive Directors, two non-independent non-executive
Directors and three non-independent executive Directors.
As from the end of 2011, the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements will require that at least
one third of ABC’s Board comprises independent Directors, a requirement with which the Board
of ABC is already compliant. In line with international best practice, the posts of Chairman and
President & Chief Executive are held by two different Directors, and each has separate, clearly
defined responsibilities. As a rule Directors do not have any direct or indirect material interest in
any contract of significance with ABC or any of its subsidiaries or any material conflicts of interest,
and this remained the case in 2010.
The following table sets out the interests of Directors in the shares of ABC during 2010:
25th March 2010

1st January 2010

Dr. Saleh Al Humaidan1

191,260

191,260

Dr. Yousef Abdelmaula2

1,070

1,070

192,330

192,330

Name of Director

Total

Save as set out above, no Director owned or traded any shares of ABC during 2010. The ABC Board
Mandates require that any transaction under which a Director would have a material conflict of
interest must be unanimously approved by the Board (other than the relevant Director). Each
Director is required to inform the entire Board of any actual or potential conflicts of interest
in their activities with, or commitments to, other organisations as they arise and abstain from
voting on these matters. This disclosure shall include all material facts, in the case of a contract or
transaction, involving the Director.
1

Ceased to be a member of the Board on 25th March 2010 upon the expiry of his term of appointment

2

Ceased to be a member of the Board on 25th March 2010 upon the expiry of his term of appointment
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Compensation of Directors
The general remuneration policy of ABC with regard to Directors is included in the ABC Board
Mandates (as set out on the ABC corporate website). The compensation for members of the Board
of Directors (other than executive directors) consists of the following elements:
•	Attendance fees payable to members attending different Board and Committee meetings
•	Allowance to cover travelling, accommodation and subsistence, while attending Board and
Committee meetings
•	An annual fee, which is approved by the AGM
Board Committees
The Board and its Committees are supplied with full and timely information to enable them to
discharge their responsibilities. In this respect, the Board, its Committees and all Directors have
access to senior management, external consultants and advisors. The Board Secretary is responsible
for ensuring that the Board procedures, and applicable rules and regulations, are observed.
The Board has delegated specific responsibilities to a number of Board Committees. Each such
Committee has its own formal written charter. The main Committees are:
•	The Executive Committee, which is responsible for exercising the powers of the Board in
the management of the business and affairs of the Group when the Board is not in service,
excepting those powers that the Board expressly reserves for itself. The Executive Committee
has no minimum number of meetings in any year, but meets as and when required.
•	The Audit Committee, which is responsible to the Board for the integrity and effectiveness
of the Group’s system of financial, accounting and risk management controls and practices,
and for reviewing compliance with legal requirements. This Committee also recommends the
appointment, compensation and oversight of the external auditors, as well as the appointment
of the Group Chief Auditor. The Audit Committee meets not less than four times a year.
•	The Corporate Governance Committee, which assists the Board in shaping and monitoring the
Group’s Corporate Governance policies and practices, reviewing and assessing the adequacy of
these policies and practices, and evaluating the Group’s compliance with them. The Corporate
Governance Committee meets not less than once a year.
•	The Board Risk Committee, which is responsible for the continual review and approval of the
Group’s Credit and Risk Policies, and the consideration and approval of related limit applications
and those matters that are beyond senior management’s delegated authority. The Committee
reviews and makes recommendations to the Board regarding the medium-term and annual risk
strategy/appetite, within which business strategy, objectives and targets are formulated. The
Committee delegates authority to senior management to conduct day-to-day business within
the prescribed policy and strategy parameters, while ensuring that processes and controls are
adequate to manage the Group’s Risk Policies and Strategy. The Board Risk Committee meets
not less than four times a year.
•	The Nominations and Compensation Committee, which is responsible for the formulation of
the Group’s executive and staff remuneration policy, as well as senior management appointments.
The Nominations and Compensation Committee meets not less than twice a year.
The written charters for each of the above Committees is included in the ABC Board Mandates (which
is available on the ABC corporate website).
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As at 31 December 2010, the members of each of the Committees were as set out in the
table below:
Board Committees

Member Name

Member Position

The Executive Committee

Mr. Mohammed H. Layas

Chairman

Mr. Hilal Al Mutairi

Deputy Chairman

Dr. Khaled Zentuti

Member

Mr. Abdallah S. Al Humaidhi

Member

Mr. Mohamed A. Shokri

Member

Mr. Mohamed A. Shokri

Chairman

Dr. Khaled Zentuti

Member

Dr. Anwar Al Mudhaf

Member

Mr. Mohammed H. Layas

Chairman

Dr. Anwar Al Mudhaf

Member

Dr. Yousef Al Awadi

Member

Dr. Mohammed A. Abusneina

Chairman

Mr. Abdallah S. Al Humaidhi

Member

Dr. Yousef Al Awadi

Member

Mr. Abdallah S. Al Humaidhi

Chairman

Dr. Mohammed A. Abusneina

Member

Dr. Khaled Zentuti

Member

The Audit Committee

The Board Risk Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee

The Nominations and
Compensation Committee
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Attendance of Directors
The details of Directors’ attendance at Board and Committee meetings are set out in the following table:
TABLE 1 – DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE
						
The
				
The		 Nominations
		
The
The
Corporate
The
And
Board
Executive
Audit Governance
Board Risk Compensation
Board Members
Meetings
Committee Committee
Committee
Committee
Committee

Mr. Mohammed Layas
Chairman

6 (6)

1 (1)	N/A	N/A	

5 (6)

0 (1)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

5 (5)

0 (1)	N/A	N/A	

Mr. Abdallah Al Humaidhi
Director

6 (6)

1 (1)	N/A	

Dr. Anwar Ali Al-Mudhaf
Director

6 (6)	N/A	

3 (4)	N/A	

Mr. Eissa Al Suwaidi4
Director

5 (5)	N/A	

4 (4)

Mr. Hassan Juma
Director

6 (6)

1 (1)	N/A	

Mr. Mohamed Shokri
Director

4 (6)

1 (1)

Dr. Mohammed Abusneina
Director

5 (6)	N/A	N/A	

Mr. Saeed Al Hajeri
Director

Mr. Hilal Al Mutairi
Deputy Chairman
Mr. Hareb M. Al Darmaki
Deputy Chairman

2 (3)	N/A

3

2 (2)	N/A

3 (3)	N/A	

1 (1)

2 (3)	N/A

2 (2)	N/A	N/A
3 (3)

3 (3)5

1 (1)

4 (4)	N/A	N/A	N/A
2 (3)	N/A	

1 (1)

4 (5)

1 (1)	N/A	N/A	N/A	

0 (0)

Dr. Khaled Zentuti7
Director

4 (4)

1 (1)

1 (1)

Dr. Yousef Al Awadi8
Director

4 (4)	N/A	N/A	

6

2 (2)	N/A	N/A	
2 (2)

2 (2)	N/A

Dr Saleh Al Humaidan9

2 (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

Mr Yousef Abdelmaula

2 (2)

10

0 (0)

2 (2)

1 (1)	N/A	N/A

Figures in brackets indicate maximum number of meetings during the period of membership
“N/A” indicates that a Director was not a member of the relevant Committee at any time during 2010

3

Resigned from the Board on 3rd December 2010

7

Appointed to the Board on 25th March 2010

4

Resigned from the Board on 3rd December 2010

8

Appointed to the Board on 25th March 2010

9

Ceased to be a member of the Board on 25th March 2010 upon the

5
6

Non-voting member
Resigned from the Board on 3rd December 2010

expiry of his term of appointment
10

Ceased to be a member of the Board on 25th March 2010 upon the
expiry of his term of appointment
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0 (0)

Internal Controls
The Board of Directors is responsible for the establishment and review of the Group’s system of
internal control. The Board receives minutes and reports from the Board Risk Committee (BRC)
and the Audit Committee identifying any significant issues relating to the adequacy of the Group’s
risk management policies and procedures, as well as reports and recommendations from the
Corporate Governance Committee, and the Nominations and Compensation Committee. After
receiving submissions from these committees, the Board decides what action to take.
The Board also receives regular reports from management identifying performance versus budget,
major business issues and the impact of the external business and economic environment on its
areas of responsibility.
Day-to-day responsibility for internal control rests with management. The key elements of the
process that management uses for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced
by the Group can be summarised as:
•	A well-defined management structure - with clear authorities and delegation of responsibilities,
documented procedures and authority levels - to ensure that all material risks are properly
assessed and controlled
•

Internal control policies that require management to identify major risks and monitor the
effectiveness of internal control procedures in controlling them and reporting on them

•	A robust compliance function including, but not limited to, anti-money laundering and antiinsider trading policies
•	An internal audit function, exercised through Group Audit, which reports to the Audit Committee
on the effectiveness of key internal controls in relation to the major risks faced by the Group and
conducts reviews of the efficacy of management oversight in regard to delegated responsibilities,
as part of its regular audits of Group Departments and Business Units
•	A comprehensive planning and budgeting process that delivers detailed annual financial
forecasts and targets for Board approval
•	A Group Risk Management function, comprising overarching Head Office risk management
committees and a dedicated risk management support group
Compliance
Compliance risk is the risk of legal or regulatory sanctions, material or financial loss or loss of
reputation a bank may suffer as a result of its failure to comply with laws, regulations, rules,
reporting requirements, codes of conduct and standards applicable to its activities.
On behalf of the Board of Directors and senior management, the Compliance function provides
independent oversight. Compliance can carry out its work freely and objectively. The Group
Compliance Officer reports directly to senior management and the Audit Committee. Direct access
to the Board of Directors is allowed when needed. Additionally, the Group Compliance Officer has
the right, if needed, to contact the CBB, or any local regulator, in any country where ABC Group
operates.
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Throughout its network of offices, ABC has published
written guidelines to staff on the appropriate
implementation of laws, regulations, rules and
standards through policies and procedures.
ABC is committed to complying with rules and regulations across all of its businesses. Each Group
operating branch or subsidiary, to the extent required by applicable laws and regulations, has a
Compliance Officer who ensures adherence to local, as well as CBB, rules and regulations. At the
Group level, the Group Compliance Officer is responsible for formulating the Group’s compliance
strategy, coordinating the identification and management of the Group’s compliance risk in
collaboration with local heads of compliance in Group units.
Throughout its network of offices, ABC has published written guidelines to staff on the appropriate
implementation of laws, regulations, rules and standards through policies and procedures. This
includes the Code of Conduct and Compliance Policy, which are approved by the Board of Directors
and are updated on a regular basis. Our Compliance Policy requires all officers and staff to comply
with both the letter and the spirit of all relevant laws, rules, regulations and standards of good
market practice. External regulations and internal policies protect all stakeholders’ interests.
ABC has a Group whistle-blowing policy, which is published on the corporate intranet website,
ensuring that staff have a formal channel for reporting any unethical conduct or corporate wrongdoing. Staff members are encouraged to report their concerns by ordinary mail, phone or email,
without fear of reprisal, retaliation or victimisation. Reportable disclosures may include legal or
regulatory wrongdoing, fraud or any other malpractice.
The ABC Group is committed to ensuring adherence to laws and regulations relating to AntiMoney Laundering (AML), combating the financing of terrorism (CFT), sanctions and to the
relevant recommendations of the Basel Committee and Financial Action Task Force throughout
ABC’s network of branches and subsidiaries. The Group’s AML Manual reflects this commitment and
has been approved by the Board of Directors.
ABC has appointed a Group Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO), who reports to the Group
Compliance Officer and has a nominated MLRO in each operating branch and subsidiary. These
individuals maintain appropriate and effective systems, controls and records to ensure compliance
with local AML, CFT and sanctions regulations, as well as those of the CBB. Each MLRO is also
responsible for reviewing and reporting to their respective host regulator, and senior management,
any suspicions concerning customers or transactions.
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ABC has an established insider trading policy to
ensure that insiders are aware of the legal and
administrative requirements regarding holding and
trading in ABC shares, and to prevent abuse of
inside information.
The responsibilities of the Group MLRO also include the development and maintenance of
the Group’s AML strategy and policies, overseeing staff AML training, as well as supervising
and coordinating the activities of each unit’s MLRO. Additionally, the Group MLRO reports
to senior management, the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors on critical money
laundering issues.
Insider Trading Policy
ABC has an established insider trading policy to ensure that insiders are aware of the legal and
administrative requirements regarding holding and trading in ABC shares, and to prevent abuse
of inside information. This insider trading policy was updated following changes to the rules in
Bahrain which were implemented by the Bahrain Bourse and the CBB in December 2010. A copy
of the ABC insider trading policy is available on the corporate website.
Compensation
The Nominations and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors reviews ABC’s human
resources and compensation policies, and makes the necessary recommendations to the Board for
its approval. The Committee ensures that ABC’s remuneration levels remain competitive so it can
continue to attract, develop and retain the skilled staff needed to meet its strategic objectives.
The Committee also ensures that effective procedures are in place to enable it, and senior
management, to monitor and evaluate the performance of staff.
ABC has in place comprehensive policies regarding the remuneration and benefits provided to
members of the Board of Directors and its Committees, senior management and staff. Directors’
compensation comprises fixed annual remuneration fees and attendance allowances. Senior
management and staff receive compensation based on a number of fixed elements, covering
salary, allowances and benefits, as well as variable, performance-related elements.
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Including Basel II - Pillar 3 disclosures
(All figures stated in US dollars unless otherwise indicated)

The Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) requirements, which act as a common framework for the
implementation of the Basel II Accord in the Kingdom of Bahrain, came into effect on 1 January 2008.
The Basel II Accord is built on three pillars:
•

Pillar I defines the regulatory minimum capital requirements by providing rules and regulations
for measurement of credit risk, market risk and operational risk. The requirement of capital has
to be covered by the bank’s own regulatory funds.

•

Pillar II addresses a bank’s internal processes for assessing overall capital adequacy in relation
to risks (ICAAP). Pillar II also introduces the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP),
which assesses the internal capital adequacy.

•

Pillar III complements the other two pillars and focuses on enhanced transparency in information
disclosure, covering risk and capital management, including capital adequacy.

The CBB has issued directives on the Pillar III disclosures under the Basel II framework applicable to
licensed banks setting out enhanced disclosure requirements. This report gathers together all the
elements of the disclosure required under Pillar III.
As such, it describes the Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) (the Bank) risk management practices
and framework, with a specific emphasis on credit, market and operational risks, and sets out the
related monitoring processes and credit mitigation initiatives. Additionally, it provides an overview of
the approach taken by the Bank and its subsidiaries (the Group) to Pillar I and profiles the risk-weighted
assets, according to the ‘standard portfolio’ as defined by the CBB. Finally, the report provides all other
disclosures required under the Public Disclosure Module of the CBB, such as management of capital.
The disclosures in this report are in addition to the consolidated financial statements prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
However, the credit risk exposures considered in this document differ from the credit risk exposures
reported in the consolidated financial statements due to the application of different methodologies
under Basel II and International Financial Reporting Standards as follows:
•	Under the Basel II framework, for credit-related contingent items, the nominal value is converted
to an exposure through the application of a credit conversion factor (CCF). The CCF is at 20%,
50% or 100% depending on the type of contingent item, and is used to convert off-statement of
financial position notional amounts into an equivalent statement of financial position exposure.
In the consolidated financial statements, the nominal values of credit-related contingent items
are considered off-statement of financial position.
•	Under this section, the credit exposures are classified as per the Standard Portfolio approach
set out in the CBB’s Basel II capital adequacy framework covering the Standardised Approach
for credit risk. In the case of guaranteed exposures, the exposures would normally be reported
based on the guarantor. However, in the consolidated financial statements the assets are
presented based on asset class (i.e. securities, loans and advances, etc.).
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•	Eligible collateral is taken into consideration in arriving at the net exposure under the Basel II
framework, whereas collateral is not netted in the consolidated financial statements.
•

Securities in the non-trading securities portfolio are considered at cost under the Basel II
framework, whereas they are considered at fair value in the consolidated financial statements.

•	Under the Basel II framework, certain items are considered as a part of the regulatory capital base,
whereas these items are netted off against assets in the consolidated financial statements.
RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities and is managed through a process of on-going identification,
measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. The Group is exposed to credit
risk, market risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, operational risk, legal and strategic risks as well as
other forms of risk inherent in its financial operations.
Over the last few years the Group has invested heavily in developing a comprehensive and robust
risk management infrastructure. This includes risk identification processes under credit, market and
operational risk spectrums; risk measurement models and rating systems; and a strong business process
to monitor and control these risks. Figure 1 outlines the various congruous stages of the risk process.
Figure 1
Board and Senior Management Oversight
Monitoring

Risk
Identification

Ex ante
control

Quality Assurance
Process (all stages)

Quantification of
Risk and capital

Aggregation
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RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK (continued)

Executive Management is responsible for implementing the Group’s Risk Strategy/Appetite and
Policy Guidelines set by the Board Risk Committee (BRC), including the identification and evaluation
on a continuous basis of all significant risks to the business, and the design and implementation of
appropriate internal controls to minimise them. This is done through the BRC, senior management
committees, as shown below, and the Credit & Risk Group in Head Office.
Figure 2: Risk Management Structure
Board Committees

Executive Committee

Audit Committee

Nomination &
Compensation Committee

Corporate Governance
Committee

Board Risk Committee

Risk Management Committees

Risk Management
Committee
(RMC)

Head Office Credit
Committee
(HOCC)

Asset & Liability
Committee
(ALCO)

Operational
Risk Management
Committee
(ORCO)

Within the broader governance infrastructure, the Board Committees carry the main responsibility
for best practice management and risk oversight. At this level, the BRC oversees the definition of
risk appetite, risk tolerance standards and risk process standards to be kept in place. The BRC is
also responsible for coordinating with other Board Committees in monitoring compliance with the
requirements of the regulatory authorities in the various countries in which the Group operates.
The Risk Management Committee (RMC) reviews risk methodologies and parameters including
credit, market, operational, liquidity, retail etc.
The Head Office Credit Committee (HOCC) is responsible for credit decisions at the higher levels of
the Group’s wholesale and retail lending portfolios, setting country and other high-level Group limits,
dealing with impaired assets, provisioning and general credit policy matters.
The Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) is chiefly responsible for defining long-term strategic
plans and short-term tactical initiatives for prudently directing asset and liability allocation for the
achievement of the Group’s strategic goals. ALCO monitors the Group’s liquidity and market risks, and
the Group’s risk profile, in the context of economic developments and market fluctuations. In this
way, it ensures that the Group’s ongoing activities are compatible with the risk/reward guidelines
as approved by the BRC.
The Operational Risk Management Committee (ORCO) is responsible for defining long-term strategic
plans and short-term tactical initiatives for the prudent management, control and measurement of
the Group’s exposure to operational risks. It oversees the independent Operational Risk Management
function and also provides advice and guidance on the operational risk framework, risk assessments,
measurement and mitigation, and related monitoring. ORCO periodically reviews reports, key risk
indicators, action plans, capital numbers, framework issues, etc.
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The Credit & Risk Group (CRG) has overall responsibility for centralised credit policy and
procedure formulation, country risk and counterparty analysis, approval/review and exposure
reporting, control and risk-related regulatory compliance, remedial loans management and the
provision of analytical resources to senior management. It is also responsible for identifying
market and operational risks arising from the Group’s activities, recommending to the relevant
central committees appropriate policies and procedures for managing exposure to such risks and
establishing the systems necessary to implement effective controls.
The management structure explained above, supported by teams of risk and credit analysts and
the Group’s IT systems, provides a coherent infrastructure for the management of the Group’s
credit and risk functions.
Each subsidiary of the Group is responsible for managing its own risks and has its own Subsidiary
Board Risk Committee (to which Head Office nominates members and sends representatives to
participate as observers/invitees); its own Credit Committee; and (in the case of major subsidiaries)
its own ALCO, or equivalent.
CREDIT RISK
The Group’s portfolio and credit exposures are managed in accordance with the Group Credit
Policy, which applies Group-wide qualitative and quantitative guidelines, with particular emphasis
on avoiding undue concentrations or aggregations of risk. The Group’s banking subsidiaries are
governed by specific credit policies that are aligned with the Group Credit Policy, but may be
adapted to suit local practices and regulatory requirements as well as individual units’ product
and sectoral needs.
The credit risk section of the CRG’s Risk Management Department (RMD) coordinates all
technology development related to credit risk management and provides senior management
with consolidated information on Group exposures to counterparties, countries, industries, etc.
The first level of protection against undue credit risk is through the Group’s counterparty, country,
industry and other risk threshold limits, together with customer and customer group credit limits,
set by the BRC and the HOCC and allocated between the Bank and its banking subsidiaries. Credit
exposure to individual customers or customer groups is then controlled through a tiered hierarchy
of delegated approval authorities, based on the risk rating of the customer under the Group’s
internal credit rating system.
Where unsecured facilities are considered to be beyond prudential limits, Group policies require
collateral to mitigate the credit risk in the form of cash, securities and legal charges over the
customer’s assets or third-party guarantees. The amount and type of collateral depends on an
assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Management monitors the market value of
collateral, requesting additional collateral where required in accordance with the underlying
agreement. Management also monitors the market value of collateral held during its review of
the adequacy of the allowance for impairment losses. The Group also makes use of master netting
agreements with counterparties.
The Group employs a Risk Adjusted Return on Capital (RAROC) measure to evaluate the risk/
reward relationship at the transaction approval stage. This is aggregated for each business
segment, business unit and for the Group as a whole, and is constantly being upgraded in line
with market needs.
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CREDIT RISK (continued)
Business unit account officers are responsible for day-to-day management of existing credit
exposures. In the case of customers with limits exceeding the relevant business unit’s authority, they
must regularly review customers’ financial and economic conditions, under the oversight of the CRG’s
Head Office Credit Department. Every quarter, senior management and the BRC review the exposure
profile of the Group using a variety of risk parameters. Group Audit meanwhile carries out separate
Risk Asset Reviews of business units to assess and provide an independent opinion on the quality of
their credit exposures and adherence to credit policies and procedures. These measures, collectively,
constitute the main lines of defence against undue risk for the Group.
Credit exposures found to rank below a satisfactory risk rating are segregated and more actively
supervised as impaired assets, under the guidance or supervision of the CRG’s Remedial Loans
Unit (RLU). Impaired assets are reviewed regularly by the respective business units, with progress
reports submitted at least quarterly to the RLU, which in turn reports to senior management and
regulators. Subject to minimum loan loss provision levels mandated under the Group Credit Policy,
specific provisions in respect of impaired assets are based on estimated potential losses, through
a quarterly portfolio review and adequacy of provisioning exercise, which complies with IAS 39
reporting. An unencumbered portfolio provision (Collective Impairment Provision) is also maintained
to cover unidentified possible future losses.
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or
activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their
ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political
or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to
developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location.
In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, Group policies and procedures include specific
guidelines. These focus on country and counterparty limits and the importance of maintaining a
diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risk are controlled and managed accordingly.
Single name concentrations are monitored on an individual basis. Under the CBB’s single obligor
regulations, banks incorporated in Bahrain are required to obtain the CBB’s approval for any planned
exposure to a single counterparty, or group of connected counterparties, exceeding 15% of their
regulatory capital base.
As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s exposures in excess of the 15% obligor limit to individual
counterparties were as shown below:
	On balance	Off balance
$ million
sheet exposure
sheet exposure
Counterparty A	
Counterparty B
Counterparty C
			

1,179
1,097

1,121
-

Total		
exposure
1,179
1,121
1,097

Definition of exposure classes per Standard Portfolio
The Group has a diversified funded and unfunded credit portfolio. The exposures are classified as per
the Standard Portfolio approach under the CBB’s Basel II Capital Adequacy Framework, covering the
Standardised Approach for credit risk.
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The descriptions of the counterparty classes, along with the risk weights to be used to derive the
risk-weighted assets, are as follows:
a. Claims on sovereigns
	These pertain to exposures to governments and their central banks. Claims on Bahrain and
other GCC sovereigns are risk-weighted at 0%. Claims on all other sovereigns are given a risk
weighting of 0% where such claims are denominated and funded in the relevant domestic
currency of that sovereign. Claims on sovereigns, other than those mentioned above, are riskweighted based on their credit ratings.
b. Claims on public sector entities (PSEs)
	Listed Bahrain PSEs are assigned a 0% risk weighting. Other sovereign PSEs, where claims are
denominated in the relevant domestic currency and for which the local regulator has assigned
a risk weighting of 0%, are assigned a 0% risk weighting by the CBB. PSEs other than those
mentioned above are risk-weighted based on their credit ratings.
c. Claims on multilateral development banks (MDBs)
	All MDBs are risk-weighted in accordance with the banks’ credit ratings, except for those
members listed in the World Bank Group, which are risk-weighted at 0%.
d.

Claims on banks
Claims on banks are risk-weighted based on the ratings assigned to them by external rating
agencies. However, short-term claims on locally-incorporated banks are assigned a risk weighting
of 20% where such claims on the banks are of original maturities of three months or less, and
are denominated and funded in either Bahraini Dinars or US Dollars.

	Preferential risk weights that are one category more favorable than the standard risk weighting
are assigned to claims on foreign banks licensed in Bahrain, with original maturities of three
months or less and denominated and funded in the relevant domestic currency. Such preferential
risk weights for short-term claims on banks licensed in other jurisdictions are allowed only if the
relevant supervisor also allows this preferential risk weighting to short-term claims on its banks.
	No claim on an unrated bank would receive a risk weight lower than that applied to claims on
its sovereign of incorporation.
Investments in the subordinated debt of banking, securities and financial entities are riskweighted at a minimum risk weight of 100% for listed entities or 150% for unlisted entities,
unless such investments exceed 20% of the eligible capital of the investee entity, in which case
they are deducted from the Group’s capital.
e.

Claims on the corporate portfolio
Claims on the corporate portfolio are risk-weighted based on credit ratings. Risk weightings for
unrated corporate claims are assigned at 100%.

f. Claims on regulatory retail exposures
	Retail claims that are included in the regulatory retail portfolio are assigned risk weights of 75%
(except for past due loans), provided they meet the criteria stipulated in the CBB’s Rule Book.
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CREDIT RISK (continued)
g.	Past due loans
	The unsecured portion of any loan (other than a qualifying residential mortgage loan) that is
past due for more than 90 days, net of specific provisions (including partial write-offs), is riskweighted as follows:
•

150% risk weighting when specific provisions are less than 20% of the outstanding amount
of the loan; and

•

100% risk weighting when specific provisions are greater than 20% of the outstanding
amount of the loan.

h.	Residential retail portfolio
	Lending fully secured by first mortgages on residential property that is or will be occupied by the
borrower, or that is leased, is risk-weighted at 75%. However, where foreclosure or repossession
with respect of a claim can be justified, the risk weighting is 35%.
i.

Equity portfolios
Investments in listed equities are risk-weighted at 100% while those in unlisted equities are
risk-weighted at 150%.

j.	Other exposures
	These are risk-weighted at 100%.
Credit exposure and risk-weighted assets

$ million

Cash		

Gross				
	Risk-			
credit Funded	Unfunded
Cash
Eligible weighted Capital
exposure exposure exposure collateral guarantees
assets charge

54

54

-

-

-

-

-

Claims on sovereigns*

3,839

3,315

524

-

18

530

64

Claims on public sector
entities **

4,362

4,246

116

63

89

2,289

275

Claims on multilateral
development banks

87

87

-

-

-

-

-

Claims on banks

12,036

10,172

1,864

1,020

403

5,085

610

Claims on corporate
portfolio

11,509

9,411

2,098

1,405

45

9,443

1,133

295

291

4

-

-

210

25

Regulatory retail
exposures
Past due loans

140

140

-

-

-

194

23

Residential retail portfolio

136

136

-

15

-

126

16

Equity portfolios

61

61

-

-

-

82

10

Other exposures

95

95

-

-

-

96

11

32,614

28,008

4,606

2,503

555

18,055

2,167

		

* Includes Ginnie Mae & Small Business Administration pools.
** Includes exposures to Collateralized Mortgage Obligations (CMOs) of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae, both of which are
deemed to be Government Sponsored Enterprises (GSEs).

Monthly average gross exposures and the risk-weighted assets for 2010 were $28,960 million and
$18,377 million respectively.
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Geographical distribution of exposures
The geographical distribution of exposures, impaired assets and the related impairment provisions
can be analysed as follows:
				
		
Gross		
		
credit
Impaired
$ million
exposure
loans

Specific		
provision		
Impaired
Impaired
loans
securities

Specific
provision
Impaired
securities

North America

5,795

-

-

454

451

Western Europe

5,876

80

22

24

19

45

-

-

-

-

12,016

354

272

52

39

21

-

-

-

-

1,730

-

-

37

6

Other Europe
Arab World
Other Africa
Asia
Australia/New Zealand
Latin America
		

224

-

-

-

-

6,907

11

10

-

-

32,614

445

304

567

515

In addition to the above specific provisions the Group has collective impairment provisions amounting to $169 million.

The geographical distribution of gross credit exposures, by major type of credit exposure, can be
analysed as follows:
							Australia/
North Western	Other
Arab	Other		
New
Latin		
Total
$ million
America Europe Europe World Africa Asia Zealand America

-

-

-

54

-

-

-

-

54

Claims on sovereigns*

1,350

44

-

1,825

-

95

-

525

3,839

Claims on public
sector entities **

2,342

84

-

1,808

-

103

-

25

4,362

-

37

-

50

-

-

-

-

87

1,138

4,740

2

3,729

2 1,163

221

1,041 12,036

919

796

43

4,075

19

356

3

5,298 11,509

Regulatory retail exposures

-

23

-

263

-

-

-

9

295

Past due loans

-

39

-

101

-

-

-

-

140

Cash

Claims on multilateral
development banks
Claims on banks
Claims on corporate
portfolio

1

78

-

48

-

-

-

9

136

Equity portfolios

21

1

-

27

-

12

-

-

61

Other exposures

24

34

-

36

-

1

-

-

95

5,795

5,876

21 1,730

224

Residential retail portfolio

45 12,016

6,907 32,614

* Includes Ginnie Mae & and Small Business Administration pools.
** Includes exposures to CMOs of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae, both of which are deemed to be GSEs.
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CREDIT RISK (continued)
Industrial sector analysis of exposures
The industrial sector analysis of exposures, impaired assets and the related impairment provisions
can be analysed as follows:
						

Specific		

Specific

						 provision		 provision
		
$ million

Manufacturing
Mining and quarrying
Agriculture, fishing
and forestry
Construction
Financial

Gross

Funded	Unfunded Impaired impaired Impaired impaired

exposure

exposure

exposure

loans

loans securities securities

5,036

4,086

950

68

49

-

-

83

68

15

3

3

-

-

66

61

5

-

-

-

-

904

631

273

2

2

-

-

14,428

12,423

2,005

165

126

510

491

Trade

610

501

109

87

69

-

-

Personal / Consumer
finance

633

616

17

12

9

-

-

Commercial real estate
financing

149

148

1

36

2

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

6,100

5,611

489

31

31

24

6

415

254

161

2

1

1

1

Residential mortgage
Government
Technology, media
& telecommunications
Transport
Other sectors
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616

554

62

1

1

-

-

3,574

3,055

519

38

11

32

17

32,614

28,008

4,606

445

304

567

515

The industrial sector analysis of gross credit exposures, by major types of credit exposure, can be analysed as follows:
											 Technology					
			 Agriculture				Personal/ Commercial			
media &		
		 Mining & Fishing &				 consumer real estate	Residential		
telecom-		Other
Total
$ million
Manufacturing quarrying
forestry Construction Financial Trade
finance
financing mortgage Government munications Transport sectors

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

54

54

Claims on
sovereigns*

51

-

-

-

69

-

-

-

-

3,719

-

-

-

3,839

Claims on
public sector
entities **

840

-

-

-

869

38

-

-

-

2,361

-

69

185

4,362

Claims on
multilateral
development
banks

-

-

-

-

87

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

87

Claims on
banks

-

-

-

- 12,036

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

- 12,036

Claims on
corporate
portfolio

4,126

83

66

893

1,284

554

361

123

-

-

414

-

-

-

-

-

-

265

-

-

-

-

16

14

295

Cash

Regulatory retail
exposures
Past due
loans

520 3,085 11,509

18

-

-

11

30

18

6

25

-

20

-

11

1

140

Residential
retail portfolio

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

136

136

Equity portfolios

1

-

-

-

53

-

1

1

-

-

1

-

4

61

Other exposures

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

95

95

5,036

83

66

904 14,428

610

633

149

-

6,100

415

616 3,574 32,614

* Includes Ginnie Mae & and Small Business Administration pools.
** Includes exposures to CMOs of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae, both of which are deemed to be GSEs.
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CREDIT RISK (continued)
Exposure by external credit rating
The Group uses external ratings from Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s, Fitch Ratings and Capital Intelligence
(accredited External Credit Assessment Institutions). The breakdown of the Group’s exposure into
rated and unrated categories is as follows:

$ million

Net credit
exposure (after
credit risk
mitigation)	Rated exposure	Unrated exposure

Cash

54

-

54

Claims on sovereigns*

3,839

3,557

282

Claims on public sector entities**

4,299

2,546

1,753

87

87

-

Claims on banks

11,016

9,193

1,823

Claims on corporate portfolio

10,104

1,248

8,856

Claims on multilateral development banks

Regulatory retail exposure

295

-

295

Past due loans

140

5

135

Residential retail portfolio

121

-

121

Equity portfolios

61

-

61

Other exposures

95
30,111

16,636

95
13,475

* Includes Ginnie Mae & Small Business Administration pools.
** Includes exposures to CMOs of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae, both of which are deemed to be GSEs.

It is the Group’s policy to maintain accurate and consistent risk ratings across the credit portfolio
through an internal risk rating system. Risk ratings are supported by a variety of financial analytics,
combined with processed market information, to provide the main inputs for the measurement
of counterparty credit risk. All internal ratings are tailored to the various categories, are derived
in accordance with the Group’s credit policy, and are assessed and updated regularly. Each risk
rating class is mapped to grades equivalent to Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s, Fitch Ratings and Capital
Intelligence rating agencies.
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The Group uses a 23-point rating scale to grade corporate and financial institution obligors, of which 20 are performing grades. The Group’s
vendor and internally-developed rating tools use financial and non-financial factors, besides peer and sector comparisons, in arriving at
counterparty obligor ratings. Ratings may be notched up or down based upon contingents or credit support as appropriate.

Satisfactory (29.8%)

Doubtful (0.2%)

Good (19.9%)

Substandard (0.2%)

Superior (22.9%)

Special Mention (0.5%)

Excellent (5.2%)

Marginal (1.9%)

Exceptional (13.8%)

Adequate (5.6%)

Loss (0.0%)

Maturity analysis of funded exposures
Residual contractual maturity of the Group’s major types of funded credit exposures, except for CMOs and Small Business Administration pools
amounting to $3,608 million which are based on expected realization or settlement, is as follows:
						
$ million
		
Cash
Claims on sovereigns*

within
1 month

1-3

3-6

months months

Total				Over		

6 - 12 within 12

1–5

5-10 10 - 20

months

months

years

years

Total

20		 over 12

years years	Undated

months

Total

54

-

-

-

54

-

-

-

-

-

-

54

2,008

163

223

54

2,448

692

68

-

-

107

867

3,315

2,399

683

23

55

3,160

136

661

276

-

13

1,086

4,246

50

37

-

-

87

-

-

-

-

-

-

87

5,044

699

1,071

923

7,737

2,040

308

-

-

87

812

1,051

932

1,009

3,804

3,820

1,294

290

6

197

5,607

9,411

Claims on public sector
entities**
Claims on multilateral
development banks
Claims on banks
Claims on corporate portfolio

2,435 10,172

Regulatory retail exposures

73

14

9

3

99

98

85

8

1

-

192

291

Past due loans

44

52

-

13

109

30

-

-

1

-

31

140

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

3

11

121

136

136

Residential retail portfolio
Equity portfolios

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

61

61

61

Other exposures

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

95

95

95

10,484

2,699

2,258

2,057

17,498

6,816

2,417

577

19

681

		

10,510 28,008

* Includes exposures to Ginnie Mae and Small Business Administration pools.
* * Includes exposures to CMOs of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae, both of which are deemed to be GSEs.
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CREDIT RISK (continued)
Maturity analysis of unfunded exposures
The residual contractual maturity analysis of unfunded exposures is as follows:
						
		
$ million

Claims on sovereigns
Claims on public
sector entities
Claims on banks
Claims on corporate
portfolio
Regulatory retail
exposures

within

1-3

3-6

Total				Over		

6 - 12 within 12

1 month months months months

months

1-5

5-10 10-20

Total

20		 over 12

years years years years	Undated months

Total

10

39

16

44

109

395

-

-

20

-

415

9
303

3
431

36
228

9
379

57
1,341

44
413

15
109

-

1

-

59
116
523 1,864

89

514

376

414

1,393

49

7

8

-

705 2,098

411

1
988

2
658

1
847

4
2,904 1,493

173

7

29

641

524

4
- 1,702 4,606

Unfunded exposures are divided into the following exposure types, in accordance with the calculation of credit riskweighted assets in the CBB’s Basel II capital adequacy framework:
(a) Credit-related contingent items comprising letters of credit, acceptances, guarantees and commitments.
(b) Derivatives including futures, forwards, swaps and options in the interest rate, foreign exchange, equity and credit
markets.
In addition to counterparty credit risk, in accordance with the Basel II Accord, derivatives are also exposed to market risk,
which requires a separate capital charge.
Credit-related contingent items
As mentioned above, for credit-related contingent items the nominal value is converted to an exposure through the application
of a credit conversion factor (CCF). The CCF is at 20%, 50% or 100% depending on the type of contingent item, and is used to
convert off-statement of financial position sheet notional amounts into an equivalent on-statement of financial exposure.
Undrawn loans and other commitments represent commitments that have not been drawn down or utilised at the
reporting date. The nominal amount is the base upon which a CCF is applied for calculating the exposure. The CCF ranges
between 20% and 50% for commitments with original maturities of up to one year and over one year respectively. The
CCF is 0% for commitments that can be unconditionally cancelled at any time.
The table below summarises the notional principal amounts and the relative exposure before the application of credit risk
mitigation:
$ million

Notional Principal

Credit Exposure*

6,037
2,762
1,049
9,848
RWA		

2,726
1,227
429
4,382
3,275

Short-term self-liquidating trade and transaction-related contingent items
Direct credit substitutes, guarantees and acceptances
Undrawn loans and other commitments

* Credit exposure is after applying CCF.

At 31 December 2010, the Group held eligible guarantees as collateral in relation to credit-related contingent items
amounting to $555 million.
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Derivatives
Most of the Group’s derivative trading activities relate to sales, positioning and arbitrage. Sales
activities involve offering products to customers. Positioning involves managing market risk positions
with the expectation of profiting from favourable movements in prices, rates or indices. Arbitrage
involves identifying and profiting from price differentials between markets or products. Also included
under this heading are those derivatives which do not meet IAS 39 hedging requirements.
The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts and currency swaps to hedge against specifically
identified currency risks. Additionally, the Group uses interest rate swaps and interest rate futures to
hedge against the interest rate risk arising from specifically identified loans and securities bearing
fixed interest rates. The Group participates in both exchange-traded and over-the-counter derivative
markets.
Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments arises from the potential for a counterparty to
default on its contractual obligations, and is limited to the positive fair value of instruments that are
favourable to the Group. The majority of the Group’s derivative contracts are entered into with other
financial institutions, and there was no significant concentration of credit risk in respect of contracts
with positive fair value with any individual counterparty as at 31 December 2010.
The counterparty credit risk for derivative and foreign exchange instruments is subject to credit limits
on the same basis as other credit exposures. Counterparty credit risk arises in both the trading book
and the banking book.
For regulatory capital adequacy purposes, the Group uses the current exposure method to calculate
the counterparty credit risk of derivative and foreign exchange instruments, in accordance with the
credit risk framework in the CBB’s Basel II capital adequacy framework. Counterparty credit exposure
comprises the sum of replacement cost and potential future exposure. The potential future exposure
is an estimate that reflects possible changes in the market value of the individual contract during
the remaining life of the contract, and is measured as the notional principal amount multiplied by
an add-on factor.
The aggregate notional amounts for interest rate and foreign exchange contracts as at 31 December
2010 were as follows:
Derivatives
		
Foreign
Interest rate
exchange
$ million
contracts
contracts

Total

Notional – Trading book
Notional – Banking book

4,945
676

4,976
239

9,921
915

5,621

5,215

10,836

Credit RWA (replacement cost plus
potential future exposure)

121

103

224

Market RWA	

262

1,173

1,435
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Impairment of assets
An assessment is made at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is objective evidence
that a specific financial asset, or group of financial assets, may be impaired. If such evidence exists,
an impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.
In respect of a borrower or a group of borrowers, evidence of impairment may include indications of:
•
•
•

significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
the probability that it will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
based on observable data, a measurable decrease in estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions, which correlate with defaults

Impairment is determined as follows:
a) for assets carried at amortised cost, impairment is based on the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate;
b) for assets carried at fair value, impairment is the difference between cost and fair value;
c) for assets carried at cost, impairment is based on the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset
The Group uses the provision account to record impairments, except for equity and similar investments.
These are written down, with future increases in their fair value being recognised directly in equity.
Impairment losses on financial assets
On a quarterly basis, the Group assesses whether any provision for impairment should be recorded in
the consolidated statement of income. In particular, management exercises considerable judgement
when estimating the amount and timing of future cash flows in order to determine the level of
provision required. Such estimates are necessarily based on assumptions about several factors,
involving varying degrees of judgement and uncertainty. Actual results may differ, resulting in future
changes in such provisions.
Impairment against specific groups of financial assets
In addition to specific provisions against individually significant loans and advances and securities, the
Group makes a provision to cover impairment against specific groups of financial assets where there
is a measurable decrease in estimated future cash flows. This provision is based on deterioration of
the financial assets, decided by subjecting the portfolio to rigorous credit risk scenario testing and
averaging the existing Expected Loss (EL) with a severely stressed scenario EL. Further, the amount
of provision is also based on the historical loss pattern for loans within each grading and is adjusted
to reflect current economic changes.
The internal grading process takes into consideration factors such as collateral held, deterioration in
country risk, industry and technological obsolescence, as well as identified structural weakness or
deterioration in cash flows.
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Industry sector analysis of the specific and collective impairment provisions charges and write-offs
$ million	Provision charges
Manufacturing
Financial
Trade
Personal / Consumer finance
Government
Commercial real estate financing
Construction

20
36
15
4
(4)
6
77

Write-offs
23
48
1
3
1
76

Remedial Loans Unit
Non-performing loans as a percentage of gross loans decreased from 3.53% in 2009 to 3.49% in
2010, continuing to reflect the adverse global market conditions. Due to the deteriorating economic
and credit environment, the Group increased its total provisions by $77 million in 2010 (decrease
of $38 million over 2009) to further cover weakening assets. The provisions coverage ratio (total
provisions as percentage of non-performing loans) fell slightly from 131.1% in 2009 to 127.6% in
2010. However, non-performing loans as a percentage of equity as at 2010 year end fell to 13.0%,
compared with 18.5% at the end of 2009, due to the capital increase during 2010.
The RLU policy is continuously revised given the dynamic economic environment and is enhanced on
an ongoing basis to cover any new issues related to the management of impaired assets, especially
those that arise from differences related to local versus global provisioning policies. Policy changes
are applied consistently across the Group.
The Head Office based Recovery & Support Unit has now been merged into the Remedial Loans Unit
for more effective management of impaired assets across the whole Group, while maintaining the
support and assistance to retail subsidiaries in remedial loan management.
Initiatives taken in 2010
During 2010, several initiatives were taken to make the management of credit risk more robust and
to align it with Group strategy.
The Group’s corporate credit rating system was upgraded, and 70 people from across all ABC Business
Units were trained to use it. Steps were taken to align the CRG and Business Units at both strategic
and tactical levels, with closer communication of business strategy and risk formulation a good
example of this. Furthermore, the Bank’s credit risk system has been upgraded, as has the Credit
Administrative Department through the recruitment of skilled staff.

57

Risk Management

MARKET RISK
Market risk is the risk that the Group’s earnings or capital, or its ability to support its business strategy,
will be impacted by changes in interest rates, equity prices, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates
and commodity prices.
The Group has established risk management policies and limits within which exposure to market risk
is monitored, measured and controlled by the RMD, with strategic oversight exercised by ALCO. The
RMD’s Market Risk Management (MRM) Unit is responsible for developing and implementing market
risk policy, as well as risk measuring/monitoring methodology, and for reviewing all new trading
and investment products and product limits, prior to ALCO approval. MRM’s core responsibility is to
measure, report, monitor and control market risk. For further explanation, please refer to Note 24 of
the Financial Statements.
The Group classifies market risk as follows:
•

Trading Market Risk arises from movements in market risk factors that affect short-term trading.

•

Non-Trading Market Risk in Securities arises from market factors affecting securities held for
long-term investment.

•

Non-Trading Asset and Liability Risk exposures arise where the re-pricing characteristics of the
Group’s assets do not match with those of its liabilities.

As there is no specific measure that reflects all aspects of market risk, the Group analyses risk using
various risk measures and reports the results to senior management. It should be noted that some
of these methodologies are made available to selected branches and subsidiaries.
The primary market risk measures are:
• Value-at-Risk (VaR)
• Basis Point Value (BPV)
• Stress Testing
•	Non-Technical Risk Measures
On an annual basis, the BRC reviews and approves VaR Trading Guidance, BPV trading and investment
Limits, options stress testing trading limits, and non-technical trading and investment limits.
Currency risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange rate risk through both its trading portfolios and its
structural positions. Foreign exchange rate risk is managed by applying appropriate limits and stoploss parameters, determined by each subsidiary’s local ALCO and approved by its Board of Directors.
In accordance with ABC’s strategic plans, ALCO regularly reviews the Group’s structural balance sheet
positions, which relate to its net investment in its foreign subsidiaries. Group Treasury manages these
positions on an ongoing basis, hedging such exposures as appropriate.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability,
or the fair values of financial instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk due to mismatches
of interest rate re-pricing of assets and liabilities. Interest rates are the Group’s primary market risk
factor. The fact that the Group’s rate-sensitive assets and liabilities are mostly floating rate, where
duration risk is lower than for fixed rate, minimises this risk. In general, the Group uses matched
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currency funding and translates fixed-rate instruments to floating rates, to better manage the
duration in the asset book. When managing the interest rate risk resulting from the Group’s trading
and banking activities, the effect of interest rate movements is assessed using sensitivity analyses
and other modelling techniques. There are established limits on individual Business Units’ aggregate
maximum exposures to interest rate risk, as there are on an overall basis for the core banking units.
MRM monitors Board-approved trading limits, bringing any exceptions to the attention of ALCO.
Interest rate risk in the banking book (IRRBB)
The Group uses the Basis Point Value (BPV) approach to control the IRRBB. BPV measures changes
in economic value resulting from changes in interest rates. The BPV methodology uses the modified
duration and, for some products, the effective duration approaches to measure the IRRBB. Modified
duration is a good measure of linear risk for interest rate-sensitive products. Effective duration takes
into consideration the fact that any embedded option has an impact on the sensitivity. With products
that have embedded options, the effective duration is typically a better representation of interest
sensitivity than modified duration.
The BPV measure incorporates the entire rate-sensitive segment of the balance sheet for the Group
and is classified into appropriate buckets. Non-maturity interest rate-sensitive assets and liabilities
are bucketed in the short term. Equity is considered a non-interest rate-sensitive component and
is excluded from these computations. As at 31 December 2010, an immediate shift up by 25 basis
points in interest rates would potentially impact the Group’s economic value by (-) $19 million.
As a normal part of its treasury trading activities, the Group may also be exposed to equity, debt
security, commodity and volatility risk. MRM monitors these risks against Board-approved limits.
In line with the Standardised Approach to calculating market risk, the capital charge for market risk
is as follows:
			
		
Year end
$ million	RWA Capital Charge
Interest rate risk

272

22

Capital
chargeMinimum*

Capital
chargeMaximum*

8

34

- Specific interest rate risk

10

1

-

3

- General interest rate risk

262

21

8

31

Equity position risk
Foreign exchange risk
Options risk
Total market risk

11

1

1

7

1,170

94

123

164

4

-

-

1

1,457

117

132

206

* The information in these columns shows the minimum and maximum capital charge of each of the market risk categories
during the year ended 31 December 2010

Business risk
Business risk represents the earnings volatility inherent in all business activities due to the uncertainty
of revenues and costs associated with changes in the economic and competitive environment.
Business risk is evaluated through a business and strategy development process. Each unit develops
a risk budget at the start of each year, along with a business plan. Subsequently, the actual quarterly
performance is compared with the detailed financial budget, including the historical volatility in
earnings, which supports both the decision making and the planning process.
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MARKET RISK (continued)
Equity position risk
Equity position risk arises from the possibility that changes in the prices of equities or equity indices
will affect the future profitability, or the fair values, of financial instruments. The Group is exposed
to equity risk in its trading positions and investment portfolio, primarily in its core international and
GCC markets.
Equity positions in the banking book
$ million
Quoted Equities

21

Unquoted Equities

40
61

Realised gain during the year

-

Unrealised gain as at year end

6

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that maturing and encashable assets may not cover cash flow obligations
(liabilities). The Group maintains liquid assets at prudential levels to ensure that cash can quickly be
made available to honour all its obligations, even under adverse conditions. The Group is generally
in a position of excess liquidity, its principal sources of liquidity being its deposit base, liquidity
derived from its operations and inter-bank borrowings. ABC has specific policies regarding liquid
assets coverage of short-term wholesale deposits and, in particular, the potential risk impact of
withdrawals by large single depositors. In this way, it ensures that there is no reliance on any
one customer or small group of customers. The Minimum Liquidity Guideline (MLG) is used to
manage and monitor daily liquidity. The MLG represents the minimum number of days the Group
can survive the combined outflow of all deposits and contractual draw downs, under market-value
driven encashability scenarios. Maturity mismatch is also managed within internal policy limits. The
maturity profile of the Group’s assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items is given in Note 24 to
the Financial Statements.
Initiatives taken in 2010
Several steps were taken in 2010 to improve management of market risk. The CRG is currently
reviewing the quantitative risk management measurements it employs and seeking to streamline
its financial instrument valuation processes.
OPERATIONAL RISK
Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes or
systems, or from external events. Operational risk is inherent in all business activities and can never
be eliminated entirely. However, shareholder value can be preserved and enhanced by managing,
mitigating and, in some cases, insuring against operational risk.
A framework has been implemented across the Group to manage operational risk which includes
identification, measurement, management, monitoring and risk control/mitigation elements. A
variety of underlying processes and controls support this framework. These include risk and control
self-assessments, key risk indicators, event management, new product review and approval
processes, and business contingency plans.
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Operational risks are identified and assessed through the Risk & Control Self-Assessment (RCSA)
process. Once risks are identified, their potential impact is assessed through a combination of
likelihood and impact before (inherent risk) and after (residual risk), considering the effectiveness
of the controls in place to manage the risks identified. Monitoring of risks and controls is done
through the use of key indicators, where appropriate, against thresholds/escalation triggers, to
ensure timely management action when a trigger is breached. Where required, corrective action
plans are also formulated to address risks and control issues. There is also a process to capture
operational loss events.
In order to make operational risk transparent throughout the Group, processes for quarterly reporting
of relevant operational risk management information to business management, senior management,
ORCO, BRC and the Board of Directors are in place.
The Group follows the Standardised Approach for calculating operational risk capital. As such, a
detailed mapping of the Group’s business lines and gross income to the Basel II Business Line
Framework has been implemented.
Group policy dictates that the functions of booking, recording and monitoring of transactions are
performed by staff that are independent of individuals initiating transactions. Each business line – for
these purposes including Operations, Information Technology, Human Resources, Legal, Compliance
and Financial Control – is further responsible for employing the aforementioned framework process
and control programmes, to manage its operational risk within the guidelines established by
Group policy, and to develop internal procedures that comply with Group policies. To ensure that
management of all the operational risks the Group may be exposed to is adequate, support functions
are also involved in the identification, measurement, management, monitoring and control/
mitigation of operational risk as appropriate.
In accordance with the Standardised Approach, as at 31 December 2010, the total capital charge
in respect of operational risk was $157 million. This capital charge was computed by splitting the
Group’s activities into eight business lines (as defined by the Basel II framework) and multiplying
each business line’s three-year average gross income by a pre-defined beta factor.
Initiatives taken in 2010
The CRG took several steps to upgrade management of operational risk.
Systems, processes and controls were upgraded. Improvements to systems included enhanced key
indicator dashboards, and improved data management and reporting. Processes covering control
validation and issue escalation were strengthened. From a controls perspective, Operational Risk
Management is working more closely with Group Audit to ensure their risk management methodologies
are aligned, to eliminate potential overlap and to strengthen overall risk management.
The Group has taken steps to strengthen the link between senior management remuneration and
effective risk management by linking a proportion of remuneration to achievement of robust risk
management objectives.
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BUSINESS CONTINUITY
As part of the Group’s aim to meet local and international regulatory obligations, as well as to
protect the Group’s business functions, assets and employees, it has robust business continuity plans.
These plans provide each ABC subsidiary with the necessary guidelines and procedures in case of an
emergency. The plans were designed employing best-practice methodology BS25999, as used by
most UK and other European financial institutions.
The business continuity plans cover local and regional risk scenarios which might impact any
business unit. To address local disaster events, the Group has established business continuity centres
at the geographic location of each business unit. To address a regional disaster scenario affecting
Bahrain, the Bank has established a licensed branch in the UK, which maintains full operational
status and is capable of carrying out the majority of the Bank’s activities. As regards activities relating
to marketable securities, brokerage and client-related businesses, the alternative site selected is the
Bank’s subsidiary in Jordan, approval for which has been obtained from the Central Bank of Jordan.
These two licenses would enable ABC Head Office to carry out all of its functions from these two
countries. These plans are being stress tested to ensure that the guidelines and procedures are fully
effective. Continuous updates of these plans are performed on an annual basis, to ensure that they
are kept up to date with changes in each ABC unit.
LEGAL RISK
Examples of legal risk include inadequate documentation, legal and regulatory incapacity, insufficient
authority of a counterparty and contract invalidity/unenforceability. Legal Counsel and the Corporate
Secretary bear responsibility for identification and management of this risk. They consult with internal
and external legal counsels. All major Group subsidiaries have their own in-house legal departments,
acting under the guidance of the Legal Counsel, which aims to facilitate the business of the Group by
providing proactive, business-oriented and creative advice.
CAPITAL
Capital Structure
The Group’s capital base comprises (a) Tier 1 capital which includes share capital, reserves, retained
earnings and non-controlling interests, and (b) Tier 2 capital which consists of the subordinated term
debt, collective impairment provisions, profit for the current period and equity revaluation reserves.
The issued and paidup share capital of the Bank is $3,110 million at 31st December 2010, comprising
3,110 million shares of $1 each.
The subordinated term debt, amounting to $500 million, was raised under its $2,500 million Euro
Medium Term Deposit Note Programme, and represents unsecured obligations of the Group, and is
subordinated in the right of payment to the claims of all depositors and creditors of the Group. These
are issued for 10 years with a call option which can only be exercised after five years. The inclusion
of the subordinated term debt in the Tier 2 capital base, and the subsequent buy-back, has been
approved by the CBB.
During the year, subordinated debt of a nominal amount of $300 million (2009: nil) was raised by a
subsidiary of the Bank.
Additionally, the Bank repurchased a portion of its term loan borrowings with a nominal value of
$45 million (2009: $88 million). The resultant net gain on the repurchase amounting to $2 million
(2009: $34 million) is included as a part of “other operating income” in the consolidated statement
of income.
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The Group’s capital base of $4,818 million comprises Tier 1 capital of $3,828 million and Tier 2
capital of $990 million as detailed below:
Breakdown of capital base
$ million

Tier 1

Tier 2

Total

Share capital

3,110

-

3,110

321

-

321

150

-

150

(152)

-

(152)

Statutory reserve
General reserve
Retained earnings brought forward
Profit for the year

-

143

143

Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries

432

-

432

Foreign currency translation adjustment

(20)

-

(20)

Unrealized net gains from fair value of equity securities

-

2

2

Collective impairment provisions

-

169

169

Subordinated term debt

-

689

689

Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital before deductions			
Significant minority investments in banking, securities
and other financial entities
Other deductions – Unamortized IT costs
Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital base

(11)

(11)

(22)

(2)

(2)

(4)

3,828

990

4,818

Risk-weighted assets (RWA)			
Credit risk			

18,055

Market risk			

1,457

Operational risk			

1,311

Tier 1 ratio			

18.4%

Capital adequacy ratio			

23.1%

Capital adequacy ratios (CAR)
The objective of capital management at the Group is to ensure the efficient use of capital in relation
to business requirements and growth, risk profile, and shareholders’ returns and expectations.
The Group manages its capital structure, and makes adjustments to it, in the light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may issue capital/Tier 2 securities or adjust the amount of dividend
payments to shareholders. No changes have been made in the objectives, policies and processes
from the previous year.
In order to augment the Group’s capital resources, the Board of Directors at its meeting held
on 23 December 2009 resolved to convene an Extraordinary General Meeting to increase the
authorised, issued and paid up share capital of the Bank from $2,000 million to $3,110 million by
way of a priority rights offer to existing shareholders. This was approved by the shareholders at an
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 28 January 2010. The priority rights share issue,
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Capital adequacy ratios (CAR) (continued)
amounting to $1,110 million, was closed on 24 March 2010 and legal formalities relating to the
issue have been completed. The rights issue was fully underwritten by the Central Bank of Libya.
The underwriting fee of $110 million has been adjusted against the share premium outstanding
as at 31 December 2010.
Management expects the change in capital structure to have a positive impact on the earnings of
the Group. The determination to pay dividends on an on-going basis and the amount thereof will
depend upon, among other things, the Group’s earnings, its dividend policy, the requirement to
set aside minimum statutory reserves, capital requirements to support the growth (organic and
inorganic), regulatory capital requirements, approval from the CBB and applicable requirements
under Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, as well as other factors that the Board of Directors and
the shareholders may deem relevant.
The Group’s total capital adequacy ratio as at 31 December 2010 was 23.1% compared with the
minimum regulatory requirement of 12%. The Tier 1 ratio was 18.4% for the Group. The Group
ensures adherence to the CBB’s requirements by monitoring its capital adequacy against higher
internal limits.
Each banking subsidiary in the Group is directly regulated by its local banking supervisor, which
sets and monitors local capital adequacy requirements. ABC ensures that each subsidiary maintains
sufficient capital levels for legal and regulatory compliance purposes. There have been no instances
of deficiencies in the banking subsidiaries’ local capital adequacy requirements.
The Tier 1 and total capital adequacy ratio of the significant banking subsidiaries (those whose
regulatory capital amounts to over 5% of the Group’s consolidated regulatory capital) under the
local regulations were as follows:
Subsidiaries (over 5% of Group regulatory capital)

Tier 1 ratio

CAR (total)

ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)

24.2%

24.5%

ABC International Bank Plc*

13.6%

16.2%

Banco ABC Brasil S.A.*

11.8%

16.1%

* CAR has been computed after mandatory deductions from the total of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital.

Other than restrictions over transfers to ensure minimum regulatory capital requirements at the
local level, management believes that there are no impediments on the transfer of funds or
reallocation of regulatory capital within the Group.
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP)
The Group aims to maintain an optimum level of capital to enable it to pursue strategies that build
long-term shareholder value, while always meeting minimum regulatory ratio requirements. The
diagram below illustrates this concept:

Strategy
Risk-adjusted
performance

Risk profile and
management
Effective capital
management
Shareholder
value

Capital allocation
Capital targets

Among the key principles driving capital management at the Group are:
•	Adequate capital is maintained as a buffer for unexpected losses to protect stakeholders,
i.e. shareholders and depositors
•	Return on capital is maximised to generate a sustainable return above the cost of capital
The Group has developed an ICAAP framework to document the ongoing process for assessing
its overall capital adequacy in relation to its risk profile, and to present a strategy for capital
management, as set out in Principle 1 of Basel II Pillar II.
The framework outlines the Group’s risk strategy, capital objectives, methodology used to measure
internal capital, the related assumptions underpinning the methodologies and a set of processes
for capital management. These encompass reviewing, monitoring and controlling capital usage
and allocation. These processes include the following:
•	Preparation of a risk strategy document outlining the Group’s risk appetite, capital adequacy
goals and risk targets. The document complies with the CBB’s guidelines for capital
management, issued in January 2008, and incorporates the risk strategy as approved by the
Board of Directors, underscoring Board and senior management responsibility and oversight.
•

Comprehensive assessment of economic capital, i.e. credit, market and operational risks, as
well as processes relating to other risks such as liquidity, interest rate risk in the banking book,
strategic and reputational risks.

•	The processes in place for monitoring, reporting and internal audit review.
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)
The methodologies for internally estimating capital for the Group’s key risks are as follows:
a.

Credit risk: Assessed on the basis of Foundation IRB Risk Weights (FIRB). This supports the
internal estimation of economic capital per business segment, business unit and aggregated
at the Group level.

b.

Market risk: Computed for both the trading and the banking books, using the Internal
Model Approach.

VaR measures the worst expected loss over a given timeframe, under normal market conditions
and at a given confidence interval. It provides an aggregate view of the portfolio’s risk that accounts
for leverage, correlations and current positions. The Group uses the Historical Simulation Approach
to measure VaR. The key model assumptions for the trading portfolio are:
•
•
•

2-year historical simulation
1-day VaR
99% (one tail) or 98% (two tail) confidence interval

The historical simulation method provides a full valuation going back in time, such as over the last
500 days, by applying current weights to a time series of historical returns.
The Group uses the stress-testing methodology to review its exposures against historical and
Group-specific extreme scenarios.
c.	Operational risk: Applied on the Standardised Approach basis.
Other risks such as liquidity, strategic and reputational risks are currently captured providing a
capital buffer.
The results of the ICAAP are subject to stress testing to take account of the breakdown of the
underlying assumptions. Specific stress tests for both credit and market risks have been developed
to focus on the key risks the Group faces, based on its risk exposure, portfolio and strategic
objectives.
The Group currently conducts stress tests covering 14 stress cases. Examples include:
•

Investment grade / sub-investment grade stressed

•

Investment grade / sub-investment grade probability of default (PD) stressed

•

Sub-investment stressed both for ratings and PD

•	Total portfolio PD stressed
•	Total portfolio ratings stressed
•	Total portfolio ratings and PD stressed
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The Group is in the process of designing and implementing an advanced tool for estimating
economic capital under stress scenarios as follows:
•

Global recession. This scenario stresses the PDs and loss given defaults (LGDs) by time
period and distinguishes between on- and off-balance sheet exposures

•	Escalated regional political tension. PDs and LGDs for entities in the region are stressed
individually
•

Middle East recession

•	As for global recession above, but for Arab world exposures only
•	European recession
•	As for global recession above, but for European exposures only
The Group has also designed three broad families of planned stress test scenarios (STS) for market risk:
•

Sensitivity STS: These STS are mostly applied as instantaneous, parallel and non-parallel
shocks of fixed, predetermined quanta to the current levels of market reference interest
rates. Examples of these Sensitivity STS include:
•	Parallel shocks for all market reference interest rates
•	Non-parallel shocks applied sequentially to the term structures of interest rates

•

Hypothetical STS: This family of STS is designed to quantify the expected impact of unlikely
but not improbable relevant events, which have not been observed before in financial
markets but might materialise at short notice. Examples of the Hypothetical STS include:
•	Revaluation or devaluation scenarios for currencies in which the Group has material,
significant open FX positions
•

•

Instantaneous shock scenarios designed to gauge the tilt / curvature / convexity
impact of bar-bell, and asymmetric movements in the levels of reference market
interest rates

Historical STS: These STS replicate the observed behaviour of reference market data across
interest rate, currency and equity classes of risk during particular historical periods of
elevated market turbulence. Examples include the following:
•	The US and European bond markets crisis, 1994
•	The Asian crisis, 1997
•	The Long-Term Capital Management and Russian crisis, 1998
•	The Lehman Brothers default, 2008

67

Risk Management

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

In order to gauge the risk attached to non-linear positions in the Group’s trading book, which might
be sensitive to instantaneous, synchronous changes in the level of two or more classes of risk
factors – such as interest rates and implied volatilities, or FX rates and implied volatilities – CRG has
created a particular sub-set of hypothetical STS, the so-called “Doomsday” STS. These are applied
daily in the Group’s main trading and position-keeping systems. They produce scenario-based
revaluations, which are then compared to appropriate limits set by senior management.
SUPERVISORY REVIEW AND EVALUATION PROCESS (SERP)
The CBB is the lead regulator for the Group, and sets and monitors capital requirements on both a
consolidated and an unconsolidated basis. Individual banking subsidiaries are regulated directly by
their local banking supervisors, who set and monitor their capital adequacy requirements.
The CBB requires each Bahrain-based bank or banking group to maintain a minimum ratio
of total capital to risk-weighted assets of 12%, taking into account both on- and off-balance
sheet transactions. However, under the SERP guidelines the CBB would also make an individual
risk assessment of all banks and, instead of applying a standard minimum capital adequacy
requirement, the supervisor may allow a lower capital adequacy ratio in excess of 8% for a bank
with sound risk management capabilities.
The CBB initiated this assessment process in first quarter of 2008. The Group’s capital management
strategy is currently to maintain a buffer over the 12% minimum regulatory capital requirement to
account for liquidity, concentration, reputation, strategic, country and other risks while enhancing
its risk management and risk control infrastructure. This would ultimately allow the Group to
achieve a successful assessment and pursue possible lower capital requirements from the CBB.
At the same time, senior management strongly believes in the economic value of capital, and is
committed to maximising intrinsic value for all stakeholders. Details of risk-weighted assets, capital
base and the risk asset ratio are provided in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The Group’s capital management strategy is
currently to maintain a buffer over the 12%
minimum regulatory capital requirement to account
for liquidity, concentration, reputation, strategic,
country and other risks while enhancing its risk
management and risk control infrastructure.
Related party transactions
Related parties represent associated companies, major shareholders, directors and key management
personnel of the Group and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by
such parties. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s senior
management, and are based on arm’s length rationale.
a. Exposures to related parties
$ million
Claims on shareholders *			

501

Claims on directors & senior management			

3

Claims on staff			

17

* Unfunded exposures.

b. Liabilities to related parties
$ million
Connected deposits

2,727
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(All figures stated in US dollars)

In 2010, the Group reported a net profit for the
year of $143 million compared with a net profit of
$122 million in 2009.
Income Statement
Net interest income was 13% higher than 2009, at $440 million (2009: $391 million), while noninterest income rose by 12% to $279 million (2009: $250 million). Net impairment provisions
amounted to $77 million, compared with $115 million put aside in 2009. The net operating income
was $642 million, as against $526 million in 2009
Operating expenses increased by 10% to $359 million (2009: $326 million). Profit before taxation
and income attributable to non-controlling interests was therefore $283 million, compared to
$200 million in 2009. After taxation on operations outside Bahrain of $84 million (2009: $46 million)
and income attributable to non-controlling interests of $56 million (2009: $32 million), the net profit
for the year was $143 million (2009: $122 million).
Sources and Uses of Funds
The Group’s asset profile is predominantly made up of loans, securities and placements. The loans
and advances portfolio stood at $12,186 million (2009: $10,949 million). Non-trading securities
stood at $8,057 million (2009: $9,552 million), money market placements at $6,573 million (2009:
$3,949 million) and liquid funds and trading securities at $550 million (2009: $781 million). Interest
receivable, premises and equipment and other assets, in aggregate standing at $739 million (2009:
$734 million), made up the remainder of total assets. Placements, together with liquid funds of
$485 million (2009: $646 million), represented 25.1% (2009: 17.7%) of total assets.
These assets were funded by deposits from customers of $11,175 million (2009: $9,909 million),
deposits from banks and other financial institutions totalling $10,002 million (2009: $10,303 million),
term notes, bonds and other term financings of $2,183 million (2009: $2,344 million) and certificates
of deposit of $41 million (2009: $34 million). Interest payable, taxation and other liabilities amounted
in aggregate to $844 million (2009: $794 million). Total deposits included $3,719 million (2009:
$4,079 million) relating to sale and repurchase agreements.
The total assets of the Group in 2010 amounted to $28,105 million (2009: $25,965 million). Average
assets were $26,681 million (2009: $26,629 million) while average liabilities, excluding shareholders’
equity, amounted to $23,337 million (2009: $24,560 million).
Credit Commitments, Contingent Items and Derivatives
At the end of 2010, the Group’s consolidated off-balance sheet items stood at $20,684 million (2009:
$18,778 million) including credit commitments and contingencies of $9,848 million (2009: $8,794
million). The total credit risk-weighted asset equivalent of commitments and contingent items and
derivatives was $3,407 million (2009: $2,827 million).
The Group uses a range of derivative products for the purposes of hedging and servicing
customer-related requirements, as well as for proprietary trading purposes. The total market
risk-weighted equivalent of the exposures under these categories at the end of 2010 was
$1,435 million (2009: $1,494 million). No significant credit derivative trading activities were
undertaken during the year.
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Geographical and Maturity Distribution of the Balance Sheet
In 2010, while the proportion of ABC Group’s financial assets in the Arab world and North America
decreased from 39% to 35% and 24% to 19% respectively, the proportion of assets in Latin
America increased from 16% to 21%, while that in Western Europe increased from 16% in 2009
to 19% in 2010. The proportion of liabilities to the Arab world decreased from 65% to 63% and
Latin America increased from 12% to 16% respectively, and that to North America reduced from
14% to 11% whilst that to Western Europe increased marginally from 8% to 9% in 2010.
Financial Assets

Liabilities & Equity

Loans & Advances

2010

2009

2010

2009

2010

2009

Arab World

35

39

63

65

47

55

Western Europe

19

16

9

8

7

6

3

3

1

1

6

7

North America

19

24

11

14

1

1

Latin America

21

16

16

12

38

30

3

2

-

-

1

1

100

100

100

100

100

100

(%)

Asia

Others

An analysis of the maturity profile of financial assets according to when they are expected to be
recovered or settled or when they could be realised shows that, at the end of 2010, 69% (2009:
72%) did not exceed one year’s maturity. Loans and advances maturing within one year amounted
to 47% (2009: 50%) of all loans and advances. The proportion of liabilities maturing within one
year was 60% (2009: 70%) of all liabilities and equity.
Financial Assets

Liabilities & Equity

2010

2009

2010

2009

49

50

31

39

1-3 months			

6

7

18

21

3-6 months		

8

9

3

3

6-12 months		

6

6

8

7

Over 1 year		

28

26

23

17

Undated			

3

2

17

13

			

100

100

100

100

(%)			
Within 1 month		
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Distribution of Credit Exposure
ABC Group’s credit exposure (defined as the gross credit risk to which the Group is potentially
exposed) as at 31 December 2010 is given below.
		
($ millions)
Funded Exposure
		
2010
2009

Credit
Commitments &
Contingent Items
2010
2009

Derivatives*
2010

2009

Customer type
Banks

10,078

7,690

3,569

2,450

212

377

Non-banks

11,422

10,072

4,854

4,130

75

50

Sovereign

6,005

7,634

1,425

2,214

24

-

27,505

25,396

9,848

8,794

311

427

1 = Exceptional

4,691

5,932

525

67

-

-

2 = Excellent

1,464

1,026

433

612

74

129

3 = Superior

7,737

5,643

758

1,109

140

161

4 = Good

3,787

3,746

3,676

2,048

44

70

5 = Satisfactory

7,662

6,650

3,517

3,757

31

29

6 = Adequate

1,512

1,444

606

500

1

1

7 = Marginal

508

631

186

513

10

14

8 = Special Mention

127

134

32

4

1

-

9 = Substandard

6

133

76

115

-

-

10 = Doubtful

7

51

39

69

10

23

11 = Loss

4

6

-

-

-

-

27,505

25,396

9,848

8,794

311

427

Risk rating

* Derivative exposures are computed as the cost of replacing derivative contracts represented by mark-to-market values where
they are positive, and an estimate of the potential change in market values reflecting the volatilities that affect them.

Classified Exposures and Impairment Provisions
Non-performing loans and off-balance sheet credits are formally defined as those in default on
contractual repayments of principal or on payment of interest in excess of 90 days. In practice,
however, all credits that give rise to reasonable doubt as to timely collection, whether or not they are
in default as so defined, are treated as non-performing. Such credits are immediately placed on nonaccrual status and all past due interest reversed, and any release of the accumulated unpaid interest
thereafter is made only as permitted by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
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The total of all loans on non-accrual as at the end of 2010 was $445 million (2009: $405
million). Aggregate provisions at the end of 2010 stood at $568 million (2009: $531 million)
and constituted 128% (2009: 131%) of all non-performing loans and 4.5% (2009: 4.6%) of
gross loans and advances.
The total of all impaired securities as at the end of 2010 was $567 million (2009: $608 million).
Aggregate provisions at the end of 2010 stood at $515 million (2009: $556 million) and
constituted 91% (2009: 91%) of all securities on non-accrual and 6.0% (2009: 5.5%) of gross
non-trading securities.
An ageing analysis is given below in respect of all loans and advances and securities on nonaccrual, together with their related provisions:
Loans
($ millions)	Principal	Provisions

Net book value

Less than 3 months

28

-

28

3 months to 1 year

60

20

40

269

198

71

1 to 3 years
Over 3 years

88

86

2

445

304

141

($ millions)	Principal	Provisions

Net book value

Securities

Less than 3 months

31

23

8

3 months to 1 year

23

8

15

1 to 3 years

490

463

27

Over 3 years

23

21

2

567

515

52

Group Capital Structure and Capital Adequacy Ratios
The Group’s capital base of $4,818 million comprises Tier 1 capital of $3,828 million (2009: $2,664
million) and Tier 2 capital of $990 million (2009: $683 million). The consolidated capital adequacy
ratio as at 31 December 2010 was 23.1% (2009: 16.9%), well above the 12% minimum set by the
Central Bank of Bahrain and the 8% guideline under the Basel II Accord for international banks.
All ABC Group subsidiaries meet the capital adequacy requirements of their respective regulatory
authorities.
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Group Financial Review

Factors Affecting Historical and Future Performance
The Group’s primary financial goal is the delivery of steadily rising shareholder value through
sustainable earnings and assets growth. Management is optimistic that the Group will be able to
achieve this goal, based on its evaluation of the following factors which may have an impact on
performance:
Political stability – Management believes that the Group’s activities and assets are sufficiently
widely diversified to provide a cushion against major losses from individual cases of political
instability. The Group is monitoring political developments in the Middle East & North Africa
(MENA). As a safeguard against any disruptions, there are rigorous disaster recovery procedures,
which are tested regularly. The Group has no significant risk exposures outside the Arab world, the
United States, Brazil and Europe.
Energy prices – Global hydrocarbon prices have a direct impact on both Arab world and OECD
economies. High hydrocarbon prices boost producing countries’ revenues, increasing demand for
capital equipment, construction services and consumer goods. Hydrocarbon prices were stable
during 2010 and the trend is likely to remain positive in 2011. Global demand for hydrocarbons
and political conditions in oil producing states are the main factors driving prices.
Volatility in securities markets – The volatility of security markets affects the value of the Group’s
portfolios, although this is mitigated by active risk management. The Group takes care to make
adequate provisions against securities considered to be impaired.
Foreign currency values – Foreign currency fluctuations affect the Group in a number of ways.
Where its subsidiaries are capitalised with currencies other than the US dollar, ABC is exposed to
fluctuations in the values of those currencies. ABC takes all appropriate steps to hedge against
such fluctuations where deemed practicable and desirable. Foreign exchange risk volatility can
also affect the Group’s foreign exchange trading revenues.
Interest rates – Although the Group’s net interest revenue can be negatively affected by interest
rate changes, the impact of such changes is mainly on its equity earnings. This is because ABC’s
lending and marketable securities holdings are based mainly on floating or short-term interest
rates and, therefore, largely insulated from interest rate swings.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To The Shareholders Of Arab Banking Corporation (B.s.c.)
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) [the Bank] and its
subsidiaries [together ‘the Group’] which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2010 and
the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Board of Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the Board of Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position
of the Group as of 31 December 2010, its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.
Report on Other Regulatory Requirements
We confirm that, in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Bank and the consolidated financial statements,
and the contents of the Board of Directors’ report relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in agreement therewith.
We further report, to the best of our knowledge and belief, that no violations of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, nor of
the Central Bank of Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law, nor of the memorandum and articles of association of the Bank have
occurred during the year ended 31 December 2010 that might have had a material adverse effect on the business of the Bank or
on its consolidated financial position and that the Bank has complied with the terms of its banking licence.

3 February 2011
Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
31 December 2010
(All figures in US$ million)

	Note

2010

2009

ASSETS
Liquid funds		
Trading securities
6
Placements with banks and other financial institutions		
Non-trading securities
7
Loans and advances
9
Interest receivable		
Other assets
11
Premises and equipment		
TOTAL ASSETS		

485
65
6,573
8,057
12,186
243
374
122
28,105

646
135
3,949
9,552
10,949
181
430
123
25,965

LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers		
Deposits from banks and other financial institutions		
Certificates of deposit		
Securities sold under repurchase agreements
26
Interest payable		
Taxation
12
Other liabilities
13
TERM NOTES, BONDS AND OTHER TERM FINANCING
14
Total liabilities		

11,175
6,283
41
3,719
182
87
575
2,183
24,245

9,909
6,224
34
4,079
139
116
539
2,344
23,384

EQUITY
15
Share capital		
Reserves		

3,110
318

2,000
191

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
THE PARENT		

3,428

2,191

Non-controlling interests		

432

390

Total equity		
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		

3,860
28,105

2,581
25,965

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 3 February 2011 and signed on
their behalf by the Chairman and the President & Chief Executive.

Mohammed Layas		Hassan Ali Juma
Chairman		President & Chief Executive

The attached notes 1 to 33 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Income
Year ended 31 December 2010
(All figures in US$ million)

2010

2009

976
(536)

1,105
(714)

Net interest income		
Other operating income
18
Total operating income		

440
279
719

391
250
641

Impairment provisions - net

(77)

(115)

NET OPERATING INCOME AFTER PROVISIONS		

642

526

OPERATING EXPENSES
Staff		
Premises and equipment		
Other		

248
32
79

216
31
79

Total operating expenses		

359

326

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION		

283

200

Taxation on foreign operations

(84)

(46)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 		

199

154

Income attributable to non-controlling interests		

(56)

(32)

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE PARENT		

143

122

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (EXPRESSED IN US$)

0.05

0.06

	Note
OPERATING INCOME
Interest and similar income
Interest and similar expense

16
17

10

12

31

The attached notes 1 to 33 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2010
(All figures in US$ million)

	Note

2010

2009

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR		

199

154

Other comprehensive income
Net fair value movements during the year after impairment effect
15
Amortisation of fair value shortfall on reclassified securities
15
Unrealised gain on exchange translation in foreign subsidiaries		

78
20
8

181
30
128

Total other comprehensive income for the year		

106

339

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR		

305

493

Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests		

(68)

(95)

Comprehensive income attributable to shareholders of the parent		

237

398

The attached notes 1 to 33 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2010
(All figures in US$ million)

	Note
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent		
Items not involving cash flow:
Impairment provisions - net
10
Depreciation and amortisation		
Amortisation of fair value shortfall on reclassified securities
15

2010

2009

143

122

77
13
20

115
17
30

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trading securities		
Placements with banks and other financial institutions		
Loans and advances		
Interest receivable and other assets		
Deposits from customers		
Deposits from banks and other financial institutions		
Securities sold under repurchase agreements		
Interest payable and other liabilities		
Other non-cash movements		

72
(2,663)
(1,192)
(1)
1,225
57
(360)
70
47

21
285
1,768
351
(1,214)
(646)
(1,735)
(386)
(13)

Net cash used in operating activities		

(2,492)

(1,285)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-trading securities		
Sale and redemption of non-trading securities		
Purchase of premises and equipment		
Sale of premises and equipment		
Additional investment in an associate		

(1,073)
2,587
(16)
4
-

(1,005)
2,309
(38)
1
(16)

Net cash from investing activities		

1,502

1,251

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Increase in share capital - rights issue
15
Underwriting fees
15
Sale (purchase) of certificates of deposit - net		
Issue of term notes, bonds and other term financing - net 		
Repurchase of subordinated debt
14
Repayment of other term notes, bonds and other term financing - net		

1,110
(110)
8
284
(45)
(400)

(3)
(88)
(72)

Net cash from (used in) financing activities		

847

(163)

Net change in liquid funds		

(143)

(197)

Effect of exchange rate changes on liquid funds		

(18)

20

Liquid funds at beginning of the year 		

646

823

LIQUID FUNDS AT THE END OF THE YEAR		

485

646

The attached notes 1 to 33 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2010
(All figures in US$ million)

								
Non									controlling
			Equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent		 interests
							Cumulative
						 Foreign changes
Share
Share Statutory General Retained exchange
in fair
capital premium reserve reserve earnings* translation
values

At 31 December 2008

2,000

110

309

150

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

122

-

-

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

-

-

65

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

-

122

Transfers during the year

-

-

12

-

(12)

2,000

110

321

150

(151)

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

143

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

-

Transfers during the year

-

-

14

-

-

-

At 31 December 2009

Issue of share capital - rights issue (note 15)
Other equity movements in subsidiaries
At 31 December 2010

1,110

(110)

-

-

-

-

3,110

-

335

150

(261)

(81)

Total

295

2,088

122

32

154

211

276

63

339

65

211

398

95

493

-

-

-

-

-

(223) 2,191

390

2,581

(16)

-

143

56

199

(4)

98

94

12

106

143

(4)

98

237

68

305

(14)

-

-

-		

-

-

-

-

1,000

-

-

-

-

(22)

-

(434) 1,793

(20)

(125) 3,428

*	Retained earnings include non-distributable reserves arising from consolidation of subsidiaries amounting to US$373 million (2009: US$356 million).

The attached notes 1 to 33 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Total
equity

(26)
432

1,000
(26)
3,860

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2010

1

INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES

The parent bank, Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) [the Bank], is incorporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain by an Amiri decree and
operates under a wholesale banking licence issued by the Central Bank of Bahrain. In 2010, the Central Bank of Libya increased
its shareholding in the Bank from 29.53% to 59.37%, consequently becoming the ultimate parent of the Bank and its subsidiaries
[together ‘the Group’].
The Bank’s registered office is at ABC Tower, Diplomatic Area, P.O. Box 5698, Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain. The shares of the Bank
are listed on the Bahrain Bourse.
2

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the measurement at
fair value of derivatives, trading and available-for-sale financial assets. In addition, as more fully discussed below, assets and
liabilities that are hedged items in fair value hedges, and are otherwise carried at cost, are adjusted to record changes in fair
values attributable to the risk being hedged.
The consolidated financial statements have been presented in United States Dollars, rounded to the nearest million unless
otherwise stated, which is the functional currency of the Group.
Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
[IFRS] issued by the International Accounting Standards Board [IASB] and the relevant provisions of the Bahrain Commercial
Companies Law and the Central Bank of Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law.
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December
each year. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the Bank, using consistent
accounting policies. All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred out of the Group.
Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Group and
are presented separately in the consolidated statement of income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial
position, separately from consolidated equity attributable to the shareholders of the Bank.
3

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Standards effective for the year
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those used in the previous year, except for the following amended IASB
standards and amendments and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee [IFRIC] interpretations relevant to the
Group effective as of 1 January 2010:
IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Revised) and IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Amended)
IFRS 3 (Revised) introduces significant changes in the accounting for business combinations occurring after becoming effective.
Changes affect the valuation of non-controlling interest, the accounting for transaction costs, the initial recognition and subsequent
measurement of a contingent consideration and business combinations achieved in stages. These changes will impact the amount
of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs and future reported results.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2010

3

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Standards effective for the year (continued)
IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Revised) and IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Amended) (continued)
IAS 27 (Amended) requires that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of control) is accounted for as
a transaction with owners in their capacity as owners. Therefore, such transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will
it give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as
well as the loss of control of a subsidiary.
The changes by IFRS 3 (Revised) and IAS 27 (Amended) affect acquisitions or loss of control of subsidiaries and transactions with
non-controlling interests after 1 January 2010. The change in accounting policy was applied prospectively and did not have an
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group, as the Group has not entered into any such transactions.
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items
The amendment clarifies that an entity is permitted to designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow variability of
a financial instrument as a hedged item. This also covers the designation of inflation as a hedged risk or portion in particular
situations. The Group concluded that the amendment did not have an impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group, as the Group has not entered into any such hedges.
Improvements to IFRSs (issued in April 2009)
IFRS 8 Operating Segments
The amendment clarifies that segment assets and liabilities need only be reported when those assets and liabilities are included
in measures that are used by the chief operating decision maker. As the Group’s chief operating decision maker does not review
segment liabilities, the Group has continued to disclose only segment assets in note 25.
IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows
The amendment states that only expenditure that results in recognising an asset can be classified as a cash flow from investing
activities. The amendment did not have an impact on the Group.
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets
The amendment clarifies that the largest unit permitted for allocating goodwill, acquired in a business combination, is the operating
segment as defined in IFRS 8 before aggregation for reporting purposes. The amendment has no impact on the Group.
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
The amendment clarifies that a prepayment option is considered closely related to the host contract when the exercise price
reimburses the lender up to the approximate present value of lost interest for the remaining term of the host contract.
It further clarifies that gains or losses on cash flow hedges of a forecast transaction that subsequently results in the recognition
of a financial instrument or on cash flow hedges or recognised financial instruments should be reclassified in the period that the
hedged forecast cash flows affect profit or loss.
The amendments to IAS 39 did not have an impact on the Group.
3.2 Standards issued but not yet effective
The following IASB standards and amendments and IFRIC interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective:
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and replaces those parts of IAS 39 relating to the classification and measurement of financial
assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items. The standard is effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The Group is considering the implications of the standard, the impact on the Group and the
timing of its adoption by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2010

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (Amendment)
The amended standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. It clarifies the definition of a
related party to simplify the identification of such relationships and to eliminate inconsistencies in its application. The revised
standard introduces a partial exemption of disclosure requirements for government-related entities. The Group does not expect
the amendment to have any impact on its consolidated financial statements.
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – Classification of Rights Issues (Amendment)
The amendment to IAS 32 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010 and amended the definition of a
financial liability in order to classify rights issues (and certain options or warrants) as equity instruments in cases where such rights
are given pro rata to all of the existing owners of the same class of an entity’s non-derivative equity instruments, or to acquire a
fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount in any currency. This amendment will have no impact on
the Group after initial application.
IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement (Amendment)
The amendment to IFRIC 14 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 with retrospective application. The
amendment provides guidance on assessing the recoverable amount of a net pension asset. The amendment permits an entity
to treat the prepayment of a minimum funding requirement as an asset. The amendment is deemed to have no impact on the
financial statements of the Group.
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments
IFRIC 19 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. The interpretation clarifies that equity instruments issued
to a creditor to extinguish a financial liability qualify as consideration paid. The equity instruments issued are measured at their fair
value. In case that this cannot be reliably measured, the instruments are measured at the fair value of the liability extinguished.
Any gain or loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of income. The adoption of this interpretation will have
no effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
Improvements to IFRSs (issued in May 2010)
The IASB issued Improvements to IFRSs, an omnibus of amendments to its IFRS standards. The amendments have not been
adopted as they become effective for annual periods on or after either 1 July 2010 or 1 January 2011. The Group, however, expects
no impact from the adoption of the amendments on its financial position or performance.
4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Liquid funds
Liquid funds comprise of cash, nostro balances and balances with central banks.
Trading securities
Trading securities are initially recorded at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair values are included in the
consolidated statement of income in the period in which they arise. Interest earned and dividends received are included in interest
income and other operating income respectively.
Placements with banks and other financial institutions
Placements with banks and other financial institutions are stated at amortised cost net of any amounts written off and provision
for impairment. The carrying values of such assets which are being effectively hedged for changes in fair value are adjusted to
the extent of the changes in fair value being hedged, with the resultant changes being recognised in the consolidated statement
of income.
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4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-trading securities
These are classified as follows:
-	Held to maturity
-	Available-for-sale
-	Other non-trading securities
All non-trading securities are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given including incremental
acquisition charges associated with the security.
Held to maturity
Securities which have fixed or determinable payments, fixed maturities and are intended to be held to maturity, are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, less provision for impairment in value.
Available-for-sale
Available-for-sale investments are those which are designated as such or do not qualify to be classified as fair value through profit
or loss, held to maturity or loans and advances. They include equity instruments and other debt instruments.
After initial recognition, these are remeasured at fair value, unless fair value cannot be reliably determined in which case they
are measured at cost less impairment. That portion of any fair value changes relating to an effective hedging relationship is
recognised directly in the consolidated statement of income. Fair value changes which are not part of an effective hedging
relationship, are reported under fair value movements during the year in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
until the investment is derecognised or the investment is determined to be impaired. On derecognition or impairment the
cumulative gain or loss previously reported as “cumulative changes in fair values” within equity, is included in the consolidated
statement of income for the year.
Other non-trading securities
Other non-trading securities are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that are not quoted in the
active market. These instruments are not being held with the intent of sale in the near term. These investments are valued at fair
value as at 1 July 2008, in accordance with the amendments to IAS 39 ‘Reclassification of Financial Assets’. Through the effective
interest method, the new cost is amortised to the security’s expected recoverable amount over the expected remaining life.
Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised
where the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b)
the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
Loans and advances
Loans and advances are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, the loans and advances are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method, adjusted for effective fair value hedge less any amounts written off and provision for impairment. The losses
arising from impairment of such loans and advances are recognised in the consolidated statement of income in ‘impairment
provisions - net’ and in an impairment allowance account in the consolidated statement of financial position. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The amortisation is recognised as ‘interest and similar income’ in the consolidated statement of income.
In relation to loans and advances which are part of an effective hedging relationship any gain or loss arising from a change in fair
value is recognised directly in the consolidated statement of income. The carrying values of loans and advances which are being
effectively hedged for changes in fair value are adjusted to the extent of the changes in fair value being hedged.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2010

Investments in associates
Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method. Associates are enterprises in which the Group exercises
significant influence but not control, normally where it holds 20% to 50% of the voting power.
Premises and equipment
Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment in value, if any.
Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other premises and equipment is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.
Impairment and uncollectability of financial assets
An assessment is made at each statement of financial position date to determine whether there is objective evidence that a
specific financial asset or group of financial assets may be impaired. If such evidence exists, an impairment loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of income.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and where observable data indicates that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
Financial assets carried at amortised cost and loans and receivables
For financial assets carried at amortised cost (such as amounts due from banks, loans and advances and held-to-maturity
investments), the Group first assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that
no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment
of impairment.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit
losses that have not yet been incurred). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of income. Interest income continues to be accrued on
the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of ‘interest and similar income’. Loans together with the
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or
has been transferred to the Group.
If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance
account. If a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to ‘impairment provisions - net’.
The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan
has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. If the Group
has reclassified trading assets to loans and advances, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the new effective
interest rate determined at the reclassification date. The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of
a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the
collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.
For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of the Group’s internal credit
grading system, that considers credit risk characteristics such as asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, pastdue status and other relevant factors.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost and loans and receivables (continued)
Future cash flows on a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical loss experience is
adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions on which the historical loss experience
is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently. Estimates of changes in future
cash flows reflect, and are directionally consistent with, changes in related observable data from year to year (such as changes in
unemployment rates, property prices, commodity prices, payment status, or other factors that are indicative of incurred losses in
the group and their magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly
to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
Available-for-sale financial assets
For available-for-sale financial assets, the Group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is an
objective evidence that an investment is impaired.
In the case of debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, the Group assesses individually whether there is objective evidence
of impairment based on the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for
impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that asset previously recognised in the consolidated statement of income. Future interest income is based
on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of ‘interest and similar income’. If, in a subsequent
period, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively related to a credit event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated statement of income, the impairment loss is reversed through the
consolidated statement of income.
In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would also include a ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’
decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss measured
as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the consolidated statement of income is removed from equity and recognised in the consolidated statement of
income. Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the consolidated statement of income. Increases in
the fair value after impairment are recognised directly in equity.
Deposits
All money market and customer deposits are carried at amortised cost. An adjustment is made to these, if part of an effective
fair value hedging strategy, to adjust the value of the deposit for the fair value being hedged with the resultant changes being
recognised in the consolidated statement of income.
Repurchase and resale agreements
Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a specified future date (repos) are not derecognised. The
counterparty liability for amounts received under these agreements are shown as sale of securities under repurchase agreement
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest
expense using effective yield method. Assets purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at a specified future date
(reverse repos) are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, as the Group does not obtain control over
the assets. Amounts paid under these agreements are included in placements with banks and other financial institutions or loans
and advances, as appropriate. The difference between purchase and resale price is treated as interest income using effective
yield method.
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and the costs
to settle the obligation are both probable and able to be reliably measured.
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Financial guarantees
In the ordinary course of business, the Group gives financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit, guarantees and acceptances.
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the consolidated financial statements at fair value, in ‘other liabilities’, being the
premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the
amortised premium and the best estimate of expenditure required to settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the
guarantee.
Any increase in the liability relating to financial guarantees is taken to the consolidated statement of income in ‘impairment
provisions - net’. The premium received is recognised in the consolidated statement of income in ‘other income’ on a straight line
basis over the life of the guarantee.
Employee pension and other end of service benefits
Costs relating to employee pension and other end of service benefits are generally accrued in accordance with actuarial valuations
based on prevailing regulations applicable in each location.
Recognition of income and expenses
For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost and interest bearing financial instruments classified as available-for-sale,
interest income or expense is recorded at the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the financial
instrument and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument and are an integral part of
the effective interest rate, but not future credit losses. The carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if
the Group revises its estimates of payments or receipts. The adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the original effective
interest rate and the change in carrying amount is recorded as interest income or expense. Other fee income and expense are
recognised when earned or incurred.
Once the recorded value of a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been reduced due to an impairment loss,
interest income continues to be recognised using the original effective interest rate applied to the new carrying amount.
Where the Group enters into an interest rate swap to change interest from fixed to floating (or vice versa) the amount of interest
income or expense is adjusted by the net interest on the swap.
Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. These fees include commission
income and asset management, custody and other management and advisory fees. Loan commitment fees for loans that are
likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred (together with any incremental costs) and recognised as an
adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan. When it is unlikely that a loan will be drawn down, the loan commitment
fees are recognised over the commitment period on a straight line basis.
Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party, such as the arrangement of the
acquisition of shares or other securities are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Fees or components of fees
that are linked to a certain performance are recognised after fulfilling the corresponding criteria.
Fair values
The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the statement of financial position date is based on their quoted
market price or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for
transaction costs.
For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation
techniques. Valuation techniques include net present value techniques, comparison to similar instruments for which market
observable prices exist, options pricing models and other relevant valuation models.
For externally managed funds, the fair value is determined by reference to the net asset values provided by the fund
administrators.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation on foreign operations
There is no tax on corporate income in the Kingdom of Bahrain. Taxation on foreign operations is provided for in accordance
with the fiscal regulations applicable in each location. No provision is made for any liability that may arise in the event of
distribution of the reserves of subsidiaries. A substantial portion of such reserves is required to be retained to meet local regulatory
requirements.
Foreign currencies
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into the Group’s functional currency at the rates of exchange
ruling at the date of the statement of financial position. Any gains or losses are taken to the consolidated statement of income.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as
at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into the Group’s functional currency at rates of exchange ruling at the
date of the statement of financial position. Income and expense items are translated at average exchange rates for the period.
Foreign exchange translation gains and losses arising from translating the financial statements of the subsidiaries into functional
currency, being US dollars, are recorded directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income under unrealised gain
(loss) on exchange translation in foreign subsidiaries.
Trade and settlement date accounting
All “regular way” purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset.
Derivatives and hedge accounting
The Group enters into derivative instruments including forwards, futures, forward rate agreements, swaps and options in the
foreign exchange, interest rate and capital markets. These are stated at fair value. Derivatives with positive market values
(unrealised gains) are included in other assets and derivatives with negative market values (unrealised losses) are included in
other liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Changes in the fair values of derivatives held for trading activities or to offset other trading positions or which do not qualify for
hedge accounting are included in other operating income in the consolidated statement of income.
For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified into three categories: (a) fair value hedges which hedge the exposure
to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability; (b) cash flow hedges which hedge the exposure to variability in cash
flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a forecasted transaction; and (c) net
investment hedges which hedge the exposure to a net investment in a foreign operation.
At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which the Group
wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation
includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how
the Group will assess the effectiveness of changes in the hedging instrument’s fair value in offsetting the exposure to changes
in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in
achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have
been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated.
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated, and qualify, as fair value hedges and that prove to be highly effective
in relation to the hedged risk, are included in other operating income along with the corresponding changes in the fair value of
the hedged assets or liabilities which are attributable to the risk being hedged.
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Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated, and qualify, as cash flow hedges and that prove to be highly effective
in relation to the hedged risk are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and the ineffective portion recognised
in the consolidated statement of income. The gains or losses on cash flow hedges recognised initially in equity are transferred
to the consolidated statement of income in the period in which the hedged transaction impacts the income. Where the hedged
transaction results in the recognition of an asset or a liability the associated gain or loss that had been initially recognised in equity
is included in the initial measurement of the cost of the related asset or liability.
Change in fair value of derivative or non-derivatives that are designated and qualify, as net investment hedges and that prove to
be highly effective in relation to the hedged risk are accounted for in a way similar to cash flow hedges.
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the derivative hedging instrument either expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, no
longer qualifies for hedge accounting or is revoked. Upon such discontinuance:
-

in the case of fair value hedges of interest-bearing financial instruments any adjustment to the carrying amount relating to
the hedged risk is amortised in the consolidated statement of income over the remaining term to maturity.

-		in the case of cash flow hedges, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity is retained in
equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. When such transaction occurs the gain or loss retained in equity is recognised
in the consolidated statement of income or included in the initial measurement of the cost of the related asset or liability, as
appropriate. Where the hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity
is transferred to the consolidated statement of income.
Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives when their economic characteristics
and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not carried at fair value through the
consolidated statement of income. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with the changes in fair value
recognised in the consolidated statement of income.
Fiduciary assets
Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and, accordingly, are not included in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and the Group intends to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. This is not generally the case with the master netting agreements, and the related
assets and liabilities are presented gross in the statement of financial position.
Term notes, bonds and other term financing
Issued financial instruments (or their components) are classified as liabilities under ‘Term notes, bonds and other term financing’,
where the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Group having an obligation either to deliver cash or another
financial asset to the holder.
After initial measurement, the term notes, bonds and other term financing are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Significant accounting judgments and estimates
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements and estimates which
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
Going concern
The Bank’s management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the
Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the management is not aware of any
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the
financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.
Fair value of financial instruments
Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be derived
from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models.
The inputs to these models are derived from observable market data.
Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Group reviews its individually significant loans and advances at each statement of financial position date to assess whether an
impairment loss should be recorded in the consolidated statement of income. In particular, judgment by management is required
in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the impairment loss. These estimates are
based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance.
Loans and advances that have been assessed individually and found not to be impaired and all individually insignificant loans
and advances are then assessed collectively, in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics, to determine whether provision
should be made due to incurred loss events for which there is objective evidence but whose effects are not yet evident. The
collective assessment takes account of data from the loan portfolio (such as credit quality, levels of arrears, credit utilisation, loan
to collateral ratios etc.), concentrations of risks and economic data (including levels of unemployment, real estate prices indices,
country risk and the performance of different individual groups).
The impairment loss on loans and advances is disclosed in more detail in note 9.
Impairment losses on available-for-sale investments
The Group reviews its debt securities classified as available-for-sale investments at each statement of financial position date
to assess whether they are impaired. This requires similar judgment as applied to the individual assessment of loans and
advances.
The Group also records impairment charges on available-for-sale equity investments when there has been a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value below their cost. The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgment.
In making this judgment, the Group evaluates, among other factors, historical share price movements and duration and extent to
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
The internal grading process takes into consideration factors such as collateral held, deterioration in country risk, industry,
technological obsolescence as well as identified structural weakness or deterioration in cash flows.
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5

CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 December, financial instruments have been classified for the purpose of measurement under IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement as follows:
			
Amortised
			
cost/
Held for
AvailableLoans and
As at 31 December 2010
trading
for-sale
receivables
Total
ASSETS
Liquid funds
Trading securities
Placements with banks and other financial institutions
Non-trading securities *
Loans and advances
Interest receivable and other assets

LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers
Deposits from banks and other financial institutions
Certificates of deposit
Securities sold under repurchase agreements
Interest payable, taxation and other liabilities
TERM NOTES, BONDS AND OTHER TERM FINANCING

65
-

4,957
52
-

485
6,573
3,100
12,134
597

485
65
6,573
8,057
12,186
597

65

5,009

22,889

27,963

Held for
trading

Availablefor-sale

Amortised
cost

Total

-

-

11,175
6,283
41
3,719
844
2,183

11,175
6,283
41
3,719
844
2,183

-

-

24,245

24,245
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CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

			Amortised
			
cost/
	Held for	Available-	Loans and
As at 31 December 2009
trading
for- sale
receivables
ASSETS
Liquid funds
Trading securities
Placements with banks and other financial institutions
Non-trading securities*
Loans and advances
Interest receivable and other assets

LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers
Deposits from banks and other financial institutions
Certificates of deposit
Securities sold under repurchase agreements
Interest payable, taxation and other liabilities
TERM NOTES, BONDS AND OTHER TERM FINANCING

Total

135
-

5,632
89
-

646
3,949
3,920
10,860
590

646
135
3,949
9,552
10,949
590

135

5,721

19,965

25,821

Held for 	Available-	Amortised
trading
for- sale
cost

Total

-

-

9,909
6,224
34
4,079
794
2,344

9,909
6,224
34
4,079
794
2,344

-

-

23,384

23,384

*	Included in the above are other non-trading securities amounting to US$3,082 million (2009: US$3,903 million) which were
reclassified effective 1 July 2008. Refer note 8 for details.

6

TRADING SECURITIES

			

2010

2009

Externally managed funds			
Debt securities			
Equities			

5
59
1

6
129
-

			

65

135

Externally managed funds represent investments in hedge funds (fund of funds) managed by internationally renowned asset
managers. In 2007, the Group gave notice to the fund managers of the externally managed funds to exit the funds.
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7 NON-TRADING SECURITIES
		
2010			
2009
Quoted	Unquoted*
Total
Quoted	Unquoted
Available-for-sale
Debt securities
Equity securities
Held to maturity
Debt securities
Other non-trading securities
carried at amortised cost **

Provision against non-trading securities

Total

1,425
32

3,947
68

5,372
100

1,163
34

4,912
79

6,075
113

-

18

18

-

17

17

3,082

-

3,082

3,903

-

3,903

4,539

4,033

8,572

5,100

5,008

10,108

(154)
4,385

(361)
3,672

(515)
8,057

(146)
4,954

(410)

(556)

4,598

9,552

*	Includes unquoted equity securities net of provision of US$41 million (2009: US$55 million) carried at cost. This is due to the
unpredictable nature of future cash flows and lack of suitable alternative methods to arrive at a reliable fair value. There is no
market for these investments and the Group intends to hold them for the long term.
All other available-for-sale securities and other non-trading securities have been valued using observable market inputs.
**	As explained in note 8, the Group has identified assets, eligible under the amendment to IAS 39, for which it has a clear
intent to hold for the foreseeable future and are no longer quoted in an active market. The assets were reclassified with
retrospective effect as on 1 July 2008 in accordance with the amendment to IAS 39 and are reflected as other non-trading
securities carried at amortised cost.
Provisions against non-trading securities are primarily on collateralized debt obligations and for failed banks on account of market
dislocations, mainly in North America and Europe.
The ratings distribution of non-trading securities is given below:

AAA rated debt securities
AA to A rated debt securities
Other investment grade debt securities
Other non-investment grade debt securities
Unrated debt securities
Equity securities
Provisions against non-trading securities

2010

2009

3,682
2,338
1,404
541
507
100
8,572

4,727
2,671
1,198
944
455
113
10,108

(515)
8,057

(556)
9,552
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NON-TRADING SECURITIES (continued)

The movements in provisions against non-trading securities during the year were as follows:
2010

2009

At 1 January
Charge for the year
Write backs / recoveries
Write-offs
Foreign exchange translation and other adjustments

556
31
(19)
(48)
(5)

1,178
17
(23)
(610)
(6)

At 31 December

515

556

Gross amount of non-trading securities individually determined to be impaired before deducting any individually assessed
impairment losses was US$567 million (2009: US$608 million). Interest income received during the year on impaired securities
was US$2 million (2009: US$6 million).
8

RECLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

In October 2008, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” and IFRS 7
“Financial Instruments: Disclosures” titled “Reclassification of Financial Assets”. The amendments to IAS 39 permit reclassification
of financial assets from the available-for-sale category to the other non-trading securities category in certain circumstances.
The amendments to IFRS 7 introduce additional disclosure requirements if an entity has reclassified financial assets in accordance
with the IAS 39 amendments. The amendments were effective retrospectively to 1 July 2008.
Per the amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7, “Reclassification of Financial Assets”, the Group reclassified certain available-for-sale
securities to other non-trading securities carried at amortised cost. The Group identified assets, eligible under the amendments,
for which it had a clear intent to hold for the foreseeable future. The assets were reclassified with retrospective effect as on 1 July
2008. The significant market dislocations witnessed in the financial sector in 2008 is considered as a rare event.
The carrying values and fair values of the assets reclassified are as follows:

Carrying value
Fair value

2010

2009

3,082
3,009

3,903
3,751

Fair value gains that would have been recognised in other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2010 had the
other non-trading securities not been reclassified amounts to US$79 million (2009: US$273 million).
The Group earns an effective interest rate of 1% to 9% (2009: 1% to 8%) on these investments and the carrying values reflect the
cash flows expected to be recovered as of year end. Reclassified available-for-sale financial assets at cost include US$222 million
(2009: US$276 million) which have been hedged for changes in fair value, on account of change in interest rates.
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9

LOANS AND ADVANCES

i) By industrial sector
Financial services
Other services
Manufacturing
Construction
Mining and quarrying
Personal
Trade
Agriculture, fishing and forestry
Consumer
Government

2010

2009

2,476
2,653
4,494
583
747
257
423
489
341
291
12,754

2,239
3,108
3,702
624
456
309
306
299
221
216
11,480

(568)

Loan loss provisions

ii) Loan loss provisions by industrial sector
Financial services
Other services
Manufacturing
Construction
Personal
Trade
Agriculture, fishing and forestry
Consumer
Government
Collective impairment

(531)

12,186

10,949

2010

2009

182
19
64
4
1
53
3
8
65
169

154
23
70
2
2
42
2
7
63
166

568

531

The movements in loan loss provisions during the year were as follows:
Specific
impairment
2010
2009

Collective
impairment
2010

2009

At 1 January
Charge for the year
Write backs/recoveries
Write-offs
Foreign exchange translation and other adjustments

365
67
(6)
(28)
1

265
127
(10)
(29)
12

166
6
(2)
(1)

162
4
-

At 31 December

399

365

169

166

The gross amount of loans, individually determined to be impaired before deducting any individually assessed impairment
allowance amounted to US$445 million (2009: US$405 million).
The fair value of tangible collateral that the Group holds relating to loans individually determined to be impaired at 31 December 2010
amounts to US$20 million (2009: US$20 million).
At 31 December 2010, interest in suspense on past due loans amounted to US$212 million (2009: US$205 million).
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10 IMPAIRMENT PROVISIONS - NET
During the year the Group has made the following provisions for impairment - net:
2010
Non-trading securities (note 7)
Loans and advances (note 9)

2009

(12)
(65)

6
(121)

(77)

(115)

11 OTHER ASSETS

Positive fair value of derivatives (note 20)
Margin dealing accounts
Bank owned life insurance
Staff loans
Investments in associates
Assets acquired on debt settlement
Securities sold awaiting value
Others

2010

2009

134
9
31
17
21
6
156

94
76
29
22
21
9
5
174

374

430

The negative fair value of derivatives amounting to US$154 million (2009: US$122 million) is included in other liabilities (note 13).
Details of derivatives are given in note 20.
12 TAXATION ON FOREIGN OPERATIONS

Consolidated statement of financial position
Current tax liability
Deferred tax liability

Consolidated statement of income
Current tax on foreign operations
Deferred tax on foreign operations

2010

2009

73
14

102
14

87

116

72
12

50
(4)

84

46

Analysis of tax charge
At Bahrain (income tax rate of nil)
On profits of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions

84

46

Income tax expense reported in the consolidated statement of income

84

46

In view of the operations of the Group being subject to various tax jurisdictions and regulations, it is not practical to provide a
reconciliation between the accounting and taxable profits together with the details of the effective tax rates.
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13 OTHER LIABILITIES

Negative fair value of derivatives (note 20)
Margin deposits including cash collateral
Cash export and credit assignment payables
Employee related payables
Deferred income
Cheques for collection
Non-corporate tax payable
Accrued charges and other payables

2010

2009

154
86
36
53
22
24
2
198

122
60
58
54
21
18
8
198

575

539

The positive fair value of derivatives amounting to US$134 million (2009: US$94 million) is included in other assets (note 11).
Details of derivatives are given in note 20.
14 TERM NOTES, BONDS AND OTHER TERM FINANCING
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank and certain subsidiaries raise term financing through various capital markets at
commercial rates.
Total obligations outstanding at 31 December 2010
	Parent bank

Subsidiaries

Total

277
955
55
412
-

200
284

277
1,155
55
412
284

1,699

484

2,183

2,144

200

2,344

Aggregate maturities
2011
2012
2014
2017
2020

Total obligations outstanding at 31 December 2009

All obligations bear floating rates of interest.
During the year, subordinated debt of a nominal amount of US$300 million (2009: nil) was raised by a subsidiary of the Bank.
Additionally, the Bank repurchased a portion of its term loan borrowings with a nominal value of US$45 million (2009: US$88
million). The resultant net gain on the repurchase amounting to US$2 million (2009: US$34 million) is included as a part of “other
operating income” in the consolidated statement of income (note 18).
The Group has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with regard to all liabilities during 2010 and 2009.
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15 EQUITY
a) Share capital
2010

2009

Authorised – 3,500 million shares of US$1 each
(2009: 2,500 million shares of US$1 each)

3,500

2,500

Issued, subscribed and fully paid – 3,110 million shares of US$1 each
(2009: 2,000 million shares of US$1 each)

3,110

2,000

Rights issue
At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 28 January 2010, the shareholders resolved to increase the authorised share capital
of the Bank from US$2,500 million to US$3,500 million and the issued and paid up capital from US$2,000 million to US$3,110
million by way of a priority rights to existing shareholders.
The priority rights share issue, amounting to US$1,110 million, was closed on 24 March 2010 and legal formalities relating to the
issue have been completed.
The rights issue was fully underwritten by the Central Bank of Libya. The underwriting fee of US$110 million has been adjusted
against the share premium outstanding as at 31 December 2009.
b) Statutory reserve
As required by the Articles of Association of the Bank and the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, 10% of the profit for the year
is transferred to the statutory reserve. Such annual transfers will cease when the reserve totals 50% of the paid up share capital.
The reserve is not available except in such circumstances as stipulated in the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and following
the approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain.
c)	General reserve
The general reserve underlines the shareholders’ commitment to enhance the strong equity base of the Bank. There are no
restrictions on the distribution of this reserve after obtaining approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain.
d) Cumulative changes in fair values
2010

2009

At 1 January
Transferred to consolidated statement of comprehensive income on impairment
Transferred to consolidated statement of comprehensive income on disposal
Net movement in fair value during the year
Amortisation of fair value short-fall on reclassified securities

(223)
28
1
49
20

(434)
11
170
30

At 31 December

(125)

(223)

2010

2009

698
167
89
22

794
233
59
19

976

1,105

16 INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME

Loans and advances
Securities
Placements with banks and other financial institutions
Others

98 ABC group | annual report 2010

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2010
(All figures in US$ million)

17 INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSE

Deposits from banks and other financial institutions
Deposits from customers
Term notes, bonds and other term financing
Others
Certificates of deposit

2010

2009

303
184
36
12
1

482
174
52
5
1

536

714

2010

2009

18 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
Gains on dealing in foreign currencies - net
Gains on dealing in derivatives - net
Gains on trading securities - net
Gain on repurchase of subordinated debt (note 14)
Other – net

193
(19)
23
32
2
2
46

187
(30)
20
9
1
34
29

279

250

Included in the fee and commission income is US$13 million (2009: US$12 million) is fee income relating to trust and other
fiduciary activities.
19 SUBSIDIARIES
The principal subsidiaries, all of which have 31 December as their year end, are as follows:

Country of	Interest of Arab Banking
incorporation
Corporation (B.S.C.)
		
		
ABC International Bank plc	United Kingdom
ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)	Bahrain
Arab Banking Corporation (ABC) - Jordan
Jordan
Banco ABC Brasil S.A. 	Brazil
ABC Algeria	Algeria
Arab Banking Corporation - Egypt [S.A.E.]	Egypt
ABC Tunisie
Tunisia
Arab Financial Services Company B.S.C. (c) 	Bahrain

2010
%

2009
%

100
100
87
56
88
98
100
55

100
100
87
56
88
98
100
55
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20 DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING
In the ordinary course of business the Group enters into various types of transactions that involve derivative financial
instruments.
The table below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments. The notional amount is that
of a derivative’s underlying asset, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are
measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at year end and are not indicative of either
market or credit risk.
2010

2009

Positive
fair value

Negative
fair value

Notional
amount

71
7
29
20
5

63
12
17
18
5

2,263
373
3,005
2,105
2,175

65
1
7
21
-

62
6
24
-

1,475
14
3,144
3,053
1,714

132

115

9,921

94

92

9,400

2
-

30
9
-

676
239
-

-

29
1
-

514
26
44
-

2
134

39
154

915
10,836

94

30
122

584
9,984

1,567 			

1,596

Derivatives held for trading
Interest rate swaps
Currency swaps
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Options
Futures

Derivatives held as hedges
Interest rate swaps
Currency swaps
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Options

Risk weighted equivalents (credit
and market risk)			

Positive	Negative	Notional
fair value
fair value
amount

Derivatives are carried at fair value using valuation techniques based on observable market inputs.
Derivatives held as hedges include:
a)	Fair value hedges which are predominantly used to hedge fair value changes arising from interest rate fluctuations in loans
and advances, placements, deposits and available-for-sale debt securities.
	For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group recognised a net gain of US$8 million (2009: gain of US$12 million), on
hedging instruments. The total loss on hedged items attributable to the hedged risk amounted to US$8 million (2009: loss of
US$13 million).
b)	Net investment hedges comprise forward foreign exchange contracts of US$23 million (2009: US$15million). As at
31 December 2010, the fair value of the forward foreign exchange contracts was immaterial.
	In addition to the forward foreign exchange contracts, the Group uses deposits which are accounted for as hedges of net
investment in foreign operations. As at 31 December 2010, the Group had deposits amounting to US$417 million (2009:
US$298 million) which were designated as net investment hedges.
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Derivative product types
Forwards and futures are contractual agreements to either buy or sell a specified currency, commodity or financial instrument
at a specific price and date in the future. Forwards are customised contracts transacted in the over-the-counter market. Foreign
currency and interest rate futures are transacted in standardised amounts on regulated exchanges and are subject to daily cash
margin requirements. Forward rate agreements are effectively tailor-made interest rate futures which fix a forward rate of interest
on a notional loan, for an agreed period of time starting on a specified future date.
Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange interest or foreign currency amounts based on a specific
notional amount. For interest rate swaps, counterparties generally exchange fixed and floating rate interest payments based on
a notional value in a single currency. For cross-currency swaps, notional amounts are exchanged in different currencies. For crosscurrency interest rate swaps, notional amounts and fixed and floating interest payments are exchanged in different currencies.
Options are contractual agreements that convey the right, but not the obligation, to either buy or sell a specific amount of a
commodity or financial instrument at a fixed price, either at a fixed future date or at any time within a specified period.
Derivative related credit risk
Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments arises from the potential for a counterparty to default on its contractual
obligations and is limited to the positive fair value of instruments that are favorable to the Group. The majority of the Group’s
derivative contracts are entered into with other financial institutions and there is no significant concentration of credit risk in
respect of contracts with positive fair value with any individual counterparty at the date of the statement of financial position.
Derivatives held or issued for trading purposes
Most of the Group’s derivative trading activities relate to sales, positioning and arbitrage. Sales activities involve offering products
to customers. Positioning involves managing market risk positions with the expectation of profiting from favorable movements
in prices, rates or indices. Arbitrage involves identifying and profiting from price differentials between markets or products. Also
included under this heading are any derivatives which do not meet IAS 39 hedging requirements.
Derivatives held or issued for hedging purposes
The Group has adopted a comprehensive system for the measurement and management of risk. Part of the risk management
process involves managing the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates (currency risk) and interest rates
through asset and liability management activities. It is the Group’s policy to reduce its exposure to currency and interest rate risks
to acceptable levels as determined by the Board of Directors. The Board has established levels of currency risk by setting limits
on currency position exposures. Positions are monitored on an ongoing basis and hedging strategies used to ensure positions are
maintained within established limits. The Board has established levels of interest rate risk by setting limits on the interest rate
gaps for stipulated periods. Interest rate gaps are reviewed on an ongoing basis and hedging strategies used to reduce the interest
rate gaps to within the limits established by the Board of Directors.
As part of its asset and liability management the Group uses derivatives for hedging purposes in order to reduce its exposure
to currency and interest rate risks. This is achieved by hedging specific financial instruments, forecasted transactions as well as
strategic hedging against overall statement of financial position exposures. For interest rate risk this is carried out by monitoring
the duration of assets and liabilities using simulations to estimate the level of interest rate risk and entering into interest rate
swaps and futures to hedge a proportion of the interest rate exposure, where appropriate. Since strategic hedging does not qualify
for special hedge accounting related derivatives are accounted for as trading instruments.
The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts and currency swaps to hedge against specifically identified currency
risks. In addition, the Group uses interest rate swaps and interest rate futures to hedge against the interest rate risk arising from
specifically identified loans and securities bearing fixed interest rates. In all such cases the hedging relationship and objective,
including details of the hedged item and hedging instrument, are formally documented and the transactions are accounted for
as hedges.
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21 CREDIT COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT ITEMS
Credit commitments and contingent items include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit, acceptances and
guarantees, which are structured to meet the various requirements of customers.
At the statement of financial position date, the principal outstanding and the risk weighted equivalents were as follows:

Short-term self-liquidating trade and transaction-related contingent items
Direct credit substitutes, guarantees and acceptances
Undrawn loans and other commitments

Risk weighted equivalents

2010

2009

6,037
2,762
1,049

5,987
1,913
894

9,848

8,794

3,275

2,725

The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Group’s credit commitments and contingent items:

On demand
1 - 6 months
6 - 12 months
1 - 5 years
Over 5 years

2010

2009

929
3,301
2,056
3,392
170

937
2,701
2,107
2,813
236

9,848

8,794

The Group expects that not all of the contingent liabilities or commitments will be drawn before expiry of the commitments.
The Group is engaged in litigation in various jurisdictions. The litigation involves claims by and against the Group which have arisen
in the ordinary course of business. The Directors of the Bank, after reviewing the claims pending against Group companies and
based on the advice of relevant professional legal advisors, are satisfied that the outcome of these claims will not have a material
adverse effect on the financial position of the Group.
22 SIGNIFICANT NET FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURES
Significant net foreign currency exposures, arising mainly from investments in subsidiaries, are as follows:
2010
Long (short)
Brazilian Real
Egyptian Pound
Jordanian Dinar
Pound Sterling
Algerian Dinar
Saudi Riyal
UAE Dirham

Currency
727
834
90
48
10,462
11

2009

US$		
equivalent
Currency
438
144
128
75
141
3

663
808
85
107
9,331
4
1,292

US$
equivalent
377
147
120
174
130
1
352

The UAE Dirham exposure in 2009 arose from net trading position and was entirely covered by currency options to minimise the
risk of loss from adverse movements in the foreign currency rates.
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23 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value is an amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled between knowledgable and willing parties in
an arm’s length transaction. Consequently, differences can arise between carrying values and fair value estimates.
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities which are not carried at fair value are not materially different from their
carrying value except for the following:
2010
2009
Carrying value
Fair value
Carrying value	Fair value
3,082
973

Other non-trading securities
Term notes, bonds and other term financing

3,009
918

3,903
1,089

3,751
932

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation
technique:
Level 1 valuation:	Directly observable quotes for the same instrument (market prices).
Level 2 valuation:	Directly observable proxies for the same instrument accessible at valuation date (mark-to-model with
market data).
Level 3 valuation:	Derived proxies (interpolation of proxies) for similar instruments that have not been observed (mark-tomodel with deducted proxies).
As at 31 December, the Group has used the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments
by valuation technique:
		
2010			
2009
Level 1
Level 2
Total
Level 1	Level 2
Total
Financial assets
Trading securities
Externally managed funds
Debt securities
Equities

53
1

5
6
-

5
59
1

123
-

6
6
-

6
129
-

54

11

65

123

12

135

1,437
21

3,458
-

4,895
21

1,039
26

4,512
-

5,551
26

1,458

3,458

4,916

1,065

4,512

5,577

Loans and advances - available-for-sale

-

52

52

-

89

89

Derivatives held for trading
Derivatives held as hedges

-

132
2

132
2

-

94
-

94
-

Financial liabilities
Derivatives held for trading
Derivatives held as hedges

-

115
39

115
39

-

92
30

92
30

Non-trading securities
Available-for-sale
Debt securities
Equity securities at fair value
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23 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial instruments recorded at fair value
The description of the determination of fair value for financial instruments recorded at fair value using valuation techniques is
discussed in note 4, which incorporate the Group’s estimate of assumptions that a market participant would make when valuing
the instruments.
Transfers between level 1 and level 2
None of the financial instruments were transferred from level 1 to level 2 during the year ended 31 December 2010.
24 RISK MANAGEMENT
Introduction
Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities and is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring,
subject to risk limits and other controls. The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, operational and market risk, legal risk
and strategic risk as well as other forms of risk inherent in its financial operations.
Over the last few years the Group has invested heavily into developing a comprehensive and robust risk management infrastructure.
This includes risk identification processes under credit, market and operational risk spectrums, risk measurement models and
rating systems as well as a strong business process to monitor and control these risks.
Risk management structure
Executive Management is responsible for implementing the Group’s Risk Strategy/Appetite and Policy Guidelines set by the Board
Risk Committee (BRC), including the identification and evaluation on a continuous basis of all significant risks to the business
and the design and implementation of appropriate internal controls to minimise them. This is done through the following board
committees, senior management committees and the Credit & Risk Group in Head Office.
Within the broader governance infrastructure, the board committees carry the main responsibility of best practice management
and risk oversight. At this level, the BRC oversees the definition of risk appetite, risk tolerance standards, and risk process
standards to be kept in place. The BRC is also responsible to coordinate with other board committees for monitoring compliance
with the requirements of the regulatory authorities in the various countries in which the Group operates.
The Group Audit Committee is responsible to the Board for ensuring that the Group maintains an effective system of financial,
accounting and risk management controls and for monitoring compliance with the requirements of the regulatory authorities in
the various countries in which the Group operates.
The Group’s Head Office Credit Committee (HOCC) is responsible for credit decisions at the higher levels of Group’s lending
portfolio, setting country and other high level Group limits, dealing with impaired assets and general credit policy matters.
Each subsidiary is responsible for managing its own risks and has its own Board Risk Committee, Credit Committee and (in the
case of major subsidiaries) Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO), or equivalent, with responsibilities generally analogous to the
Group committees.
The ALCO is chiefly responsible for defining long-term strategic plans and short-term tactical initiatives for directing asset and
liability allocation prudently for the achievement of the Group’s strategic goals. ALCO monitors the Group’s liquidity and market
risks and the Group’s risk profile in the context of economic developments and market fluctuations, to ensure that the Group’s
ongoing activities are compatible with the risk/reward guidelines approved by the BRC. The above management structure,
supported by teams or risk and credit analysts, as well as the IT systems provide a coherent infrastructure to carry credit and risk
functions in a seamless manner.
The Operational Risk Management Committee (ORCO) is responsible for defining long-term strategic plans and short-term tactical
initiatives for operational risk. It also has the overall responsibility to monitor and prudently manage exposure to operational risks
including strategic and reputation risks.
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Risk measurement and reporting system
Risk mitigation
As part of its overall risk management, the Group uses derivatives and other instruments to manage exposures resulting from
changes in interest rates, foreign currencies, equity risks, credit risks, and exposures arising from forecast transactions.
The risk profile is assessed before entering into hedge transactions, which are authorised by the appropriate level of seniority
within the Group. The effectiveness of hedges is monitored monthly by the Group. In situations of ineffectiveness, the Group will
enter into a new hedge relationship to mitigate risk on a continuous basis.
The Group actively uses collateral to reduce its credit risk (see below for details).
Excessive risk concentration
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same
geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly
affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s
performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location.
In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Group policies and procedures include specific guidelines to focus on country and
counter party limits and maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and managed accordingly.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because its customers, clients and counterparties failed to discharge their
contractual obligations. The Group manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for
individual counterparties and for geographical and industry concentration, and by monitoring exposures in relation to such limits.
The first level of protection against undue credit risk is through country, industry and other risk threshold limits, together with
customer and customer group credit limits, set by the BRC and the HOCC and allocated between the Bank and its banking
subsidiaries. Credit exposure to individual customers or customer groups is then controlled through a tiered hierarchy of delegated
approval authorities based on the risk rating of the customer under the Group’s internal credit rating system. Where unsecured
facilities sought are considered to be beyond prudential limits, Group policies require collateral to mitigate the credit risk in the form
of cash, securities, legal charges over the customer’s assets or third-party guarantees. The Group also employs Risk Adjusted Return
on Capital (RAROC) as a measure to evaluate the risk/reward relationship at the transaction approval stage. RAROC analysis is also
conducted on a portfolio basis, aggregated for each business segment, business unit and for the whole Group.
Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements
The Group’s concentration of risk is managed by geographical region and by industry sector. The table below shows the maximum
exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of financial position, including credit commitments and contingent items.
The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting and collateral agreements.
Gross maximum exposure
2010
2009
Liquid funds
Trading debt securities
Placement with banks and other financial institutions
Non-trading debt securities
Loans and advances
Other credit exposures

Credit commitment and contingent items (note 21)
Total

431
59
6,573
7,995
12,186
596

610
129
3,949
9,471
10,949
590

27,840

25,698

9,848

8,794

37,688

34,492

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk exposure but
not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values.
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
For more detail on the maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of financial instrument, references should be made to the
specific notes.The effect of collateral and other risk mitigation techniques is shown below.
Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk
The Group’s assets (before taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements), liabilities and equity and
commitments and contingencies can be analysed by the following geographical regions:
Credit commitment and
Liabilities and equity		 contingent items

		Assets

Western Europe
Arab World
Asia
North America
Latin America
Other
Total

2010

2009

2010

2009

2010

2009

5,273
9,869
940
5,325
5,719
714

4,077
10,126
639
6,248
4,079
529

2,412
17,467
296
3,153
4,411
101

2,020
16,583
268
3,609
3,202
16

969
4,748
385
878
2,398
470

1,746
3,860
148
1,015
1,675
350

27,840

25,698

27,840

25,698

9,848

8,794

An industry sector analysis of the Group’s financial assets, before and after taking into account collateral held or other credit
enhancements, is as follows:
		Gross maximum exposure		Net maximum exposure
2010

2009

2010

2009

Financial services
Other services
Manufacturing
Construction
Mining and quarrying
Agriculture, fishing and forestry
Trade
Consumer
Government
Personal

11,748
3,568
4,556
665
762
491
314
275
5,170
291

9,712
3,790
3,693
693
468
300
269
214
6,231
328

10,480
3,088
3,984
540
754
489
249
275
5,154
172

8,620
3,433
3,283
548
457
300
206
214
6,214
158

Total

27,840

25,698

25,185

23,433
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An industry sector analysis of the Group’s credit commitments and contingent items, before and after taking into account collateral
held or other credit enhancements, is as follows:
		Gross maximum exposure		Net maximum exposure
2010

2009

2010

2009

Financial services
Other services
Manufacturing
Construction
Mining and quarrying
Agriculture, fishing and forestry
Trade
Government
Other

4,646
1,360
2,048
777
468
17
472
32
28

4,168
1,040
1,983
795
308
30
413
34
23

4,284
1,354
2,020
772
468
17
469
31
26

3,869
1,039
1,961
793
308
30
412
34
20

Total

9,848

8,794

9,441

8,466

Credit quality per class of financial assets
The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group using internal credit ratings. The table below shows the credit quality
by class of financial asset, based on the Group’s credit rating system.
			
31 December 2010
Neither past due nor impaired		Past due
			
Subor
High
Standard
standard
individually
grade
grade
grade
impaired

Total

431
59

-

-

-

431
59

5,474
7,124
4,586
497

1,092
843
7,460
99

7
-

28
140
-

6,573
7,995
12,186
596

18,171

9,494

7

168

27,840

			
31 December 2009	Neither past due nor impaired		Past due
			
Subor
	High
Standard
standard
individually
grade
grade
grade
impaired

Total

Liquid funds
Trading debt securities
Placements with banks and other
financial institutions
Non-trading debt securities
Loans and advances
Other credit exposures

Liquid funds
Trading debt securities
Placements with banks and other
financial institutions
Non-trading debt securities
Loans and advances
Other credit exposures

610
129

-

-

-

610
129

2,948
8,358
4,676
510

994
1,090
6,133
80

7
-

23
140
-

3,949
9,471
10,949
590

17,231

8,297

7

163

25,698

As at 31 December 2010, the total amount of past due but not impaired assets was US$17 million (2009: US$12 million).
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
It is the Group’s policy to maintain accurate and consistent risk ratings across the credit portfolio through risk rating system.
This facilitated focused management of the applicable risks and the comparison of credit exposures across all lines of business,
geographic regions and products. The rating is supported by a variety of financial analytics, combined with processed market
information to provide the main inputs for the measurement of counterparty credit risk. All internal ratings are tailored to the
various categories and are derived in accordance with the Group’s credit policy. The attributable risk ratings are assessed and
updated regularly. Each risk rating class has grades equivalent to Moody’s, S&P and Fitch rating agencies.
Carrying amount per class of financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated as at year end
		 2010

2009

Loans and advances		 115

59

Collateral and other credit enhancements
The amount and type of collateral depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. The types of collateral mainly
includes cash and guarantees from banks.
Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement,
and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy of the allowance for impairment losses.
The Group also makes use of master netting agreements with counterparties.
Settlement risk
Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a counterparty to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other
assets as contractually agreed. For certain types of transactions, the Group mitigates this risk through a settlement agent to
ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties fulfill their settlement obligations. Settlement approvals form a part of credit
approval and limit monitoring procedure.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the Group’s earnings or capital, or its ability to support business strategy, will be impacted by the change
in market rates or prices related to interest rates, equity prices, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates, and commodity prices.
The Group has established risk management policies and limits within which exposure to market risk is monitored, measured
and controlled by the Risk Management Department (RMD) with strategic oversight exercised by ALCO. The RMD’s Market Risk
Management (MRM) unit is responsible for developing and implementing market risk policy and risk measuring/monitoring
methodology and for reviewing all new trading products and product limits prior to ALCO approval. MRM’s core responsibility is to
measure and report market risk against limits throughout the Group.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability or the fair values of financial
instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches of interest rate re-pricing of assets and liabilities.
The most prominent market risk factor for the Group is interest rates. This risk is minimized as the Group’s rate sensitive assets
and liabilities are mostly floating rate, where the duration risk is lower. In general, the Group uses matched currency funding and
translates fixed rate instruments to floating rate to better manage the duration in the asset book.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s consolidated statement of income.
The sensitivity of the consolidated statement of income is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the net interest
income for one year, based on financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31 December, including the effect of hedging
instruments. The sensitivity of equity is calculated by revaluing fixed rate available-for-sale financial assets, including the effect
of any associated hedges and swaps. Substantially all the available-for-sale non-trading securities held by the Group are floating
rate assets. Hence, the sensitivity to changes in equity due to interest rate changes is insignificant.
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US Dollar
Euro
Pound Sterling
Brazilian Real
Others

Increase in
basis
points
2010

Sensitivity
statement of
income
2010

Decrease in
basis
points
2010

25
25
25
25
25

12
1
1
4
1

25
25
25
25
25

	Increase in
basis
points
2009
US Dollar
Euro
Pound Sterling
Brazilian Real
Others

25
25
25
25
25

Sensitivity	Decrease in
statement of
basis
income
points
2009
2009
22
1
2
2
3

Sensitivity
statement of
income
2010
(12)
(1)
(1)
(4)
(1)

Sensitivity
statement of
income
2009

25
25
25
25
25

(22)
(1)
(2)
(2)
(3)

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.
The table below indicates the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure at 31 December 2010 on its monetary assets
and liabilities and its forecast cash flows. The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the currency rate
against the US$, with all other variables held constant on the consolidated statement of income (due to the fair value of currency
sensitive trading and non-trading monetary assets and liabilities) and equity (due to the change in fair value of currency swaps
and forward foreign exchange contracts used as cash flow hedges) and the effect of the impact of foreign currency movements
on the structural positions of the Bank in its subsidiaries. A negative amount in the table reflects a potential net reduction in the
consolidated statement of income or equity, while a positive amount reflects a potential net increase.
Currency

Brazilian Real
Pound Sterling
Egyptian Pound
Jordanian Dinar
Algerian Dinar

Change in
currency
rate in %
2010
+/- 5%
+/- 5%
+/- 5%
+/- 5%
+/- 5%

Effect on		
profit
Effect on
equity
before tax
2010
2010
+/-1
-

+/-21
+/-4
+/-7
+/-6
+/-6

Change in	Effect on
currency
profit	Effect on
rate in %
before tax
equity
2009
2009
2009
+/- 5%
+/- 5%
+/- 5%
+/- 5%
+/- 5%

+/-1
+/-1
-

+/-18
+/-9
+/-7
+/-6
+/-6

Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as the result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the
value of individual stocks. The non-trading equity price risk exposure arises from the Group’s securities portfolio.
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Equity price risk (continued)
The effect on equity (as a result of a change in the fair value of trading equity instruments and equity instruments held as
available for sale) due to a reasonably possible change in equity indices or the net asset values, with all other variables held
constant, is as follows:
		
Effect on		
Effect on
% Change in
statement
% Change in
statement
equity price
of income/ equity
equity price
of income/ equity
2010
2010
2009
2009
Trading securities
Change in NAVs of fund of funds
in North America and Europe
Other equities

+/- 5%
+/- 5%

-

+/- 5%
+/- 5%

-

Available-for-sale equities

+/- 5%

+/-3

+/- 5%

+/-4

Operational risk
Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes or systems or from external
events. Operational risk is inherent in all business activities and can never be eliminated entirely; however shareholder value can
be preserved and enhanced by managing, mitigating and, in some cases, insuring against operational risk. To achieve this goal the
Operational Risk Management Unit has developed an operational risk framework, which includes identification, measurement,
management, and monitoring and risk control/mitigation elements. A variety of underlying processes are being deployed across
the Group including risk and control self-assessments, Key Risk Indicators (KRI), event management, new product review and
approval processes and business contingency plans.
The Group intends to make operational risk transparent throughout the enterprise, to which end processes are being developed to
provide for regular reporting of relevant operational risk management information to business management, senior management,
the ORCO, the BRC and the Board of Directors generally.
Group policy dictates that the operational functions of booking, recording and monitoring of transactions are carried out by
staff that are independent of the individuals initiating the transactions. Each business line – including Operations, Information
Technology, Human Resources, Legal & Compliance and Financial Control - is further responsible for employing the aforementioned
framework processes and control programmes to manage its operational risk within the guidelines established by the Group’s
policy and procedures. To ensure that all operational risks to which the Group is exposed are adequately managed, support
functions are also involved in the identification, measurement, management, monitoring and control/mitigation of operational
risk, as appropriate.
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The maturity analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be recovered or settled or when they
could be realised.
			
At 31 December 2010

Within 1

1-3

		
3-6

Total				

6-12 within 12

month months months months

1-5

5-10 10-20

months

years

years

years

Over		

Total		

20 		 over 12
years	Undated

months

Total

ASSETS
Liquid funds
Trading securities

485

-

-

-

485

-

-

-

-

-

-

485

-

-

6

59

65

-

-

-

-

-

-

65

Placements with banks and other
financial institutions

5,862

347

199

165

6,573

-

-

-

-

-

-

6,573

Non-trading securities

5,796

37

643

201

6,677 1,192

118

6

3

61

1,380

8,057

Loans and advances

1,669

1,348

1,331

1,401

5,749 4,631

1,577

226

3

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

739

13,812

1,732

2,179

1,826

19,549 5,823

1,695

232

6

800

8,556 28,105

4,977

1,201

399

357

6,934 4,063

178

-

-

-

4,241 11,175

3,403

1,543

515

512

5,973

310

-

-

-

-

310

6,283

7

10

2

-

19

18

4

-

-

-

22

41

191

2,147

66

1,115

3,519

200

-

-

-

-

200

3,719

-

200

-

277

477 1,010

696

-

-

-

1,706

2,183

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

844

844

844

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,860

3,860

3,860

8,578

5,101

982

2,261

16,922 5,601

878

-

-

4,704
(3,904)

Others
Total assets

-

6,437 12,186
739

739

LIABILITIES, SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY AND NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS
Deposits from customers
Deposits from banks and other
financial institutions
Certificates of deposit
Securities sold under repurchase
agreement
Term notes, bonds and other term
financing
Others
Shareholders’ equity and
non-controlling interests
Total liabilities,shareholders’ equity
and non- controlling interests
Net liquidity gap

5,234 (3,369)

1,197

Cumulative net liquidity gap

5,234

3,062

1,865

222

817

232

6

2,627 		 2,849

(435)

2,627

3,666

3,898

3,904

11,183 28,105
-

-

-

		
Within 1 month are primarily liquid securities that can be sold under repurchase agreements. Deposits are continuously replaced with other
new deposits or rollover from the same or different counterparties, based on available lines of credit.
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
			
At 31 December 2010

Within 1

1-3

		
3-6

Total				Over		

6-12

within 12

1-5

5-10

10-20

month months months months

months

years

years

years

Total		

20 		 over 12
years	Undated

months

Total

ASSETS
Liquid funds
Trading securities

407

239

-

-

646

-

-

-

-

-

-

646

-

-

30

105

135

-

-

-

-

-

-

135

Placements with banks and other
financial institutions

3,457

64

428

-

3,949

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,949

Non-trading securities

7,339

65

722

167

8,293

1,038

125

14

1

81

1,259

9,552

Loans and advances

1,586

1,517

1,198

1,164

5,465

3,508

1,304

666

6

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

734

12,789

1,885

2,378

1,436

18,488

4,546

1,429

680

7

815

5,274

2,203

380

363

8,220

1,685

4

-

-

-

1,689

9,909

financial institutions

3,098

1,328

475

392

5,293

914

17

-

-

-

931

6,224

Certificates of deposit

7

5

1

9

22

12

-

-

-

-

12

34

1,666

1,826

-

587

4,079

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,079

Others

Total assets

5,484 10,949
734

734

7,477 25,965

LIABILITIES, SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY AND NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS
Deposits from customers
Deposits from banks and other

Securities sold under repurchase
agreement
Term notes, bonds and other term
-

-

-

384

384

1,548

412

-

-

-

1,960

2,344

Others

financing

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

794

794

794

Shareholders’ equity and
minority interests

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,581

2,581

2,581

10,045

5,362

856

1,735

17,998

4,159

433

-

-

3,375

7,967 25,965

Net liquidity gap

2,744 (3,477)

1,522

(299)

490

387

996

680

7

(2,560)

Cumulative net liquidity gap

2,744

490 		

877

1,873

2,553

2,560

-

Total liabilities,shareholders’ equity
and non- controlling interests

(733)

789

-

-

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due under normal and
stress circumstances. To limit this risk, management has arranged diversified funding sources in addition to its core deposit
base, manages assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates an
assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of high grade collateral which could be used to secure additional funding
if required.
The Group maintains liquid assets at prudential levels to ensure that cash can quickly be made available to honor all its obligations,
even under adverse conditions. The Group is generally in a position of excess liquidity, its principal sources of liquidity being its
deposit base, liquidity derived from its operations and inter-bank borrowings. The Minimum Liquidity Guideline (MLG) is used
to manage and monitor daily liquidity. The MLG represents the minimum number of days the Group can survive the combined
outflow of all deposits and contractual drawdowns, under market value driven encashability scenarios.
In addition, the internal liquidity/maturity profile is generated to summarize the actual liquidity gaps versus the revised gaps
based on internal assumptions.
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The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2009 based on contractual
undiscounted repayment obligations.See the previous table for the expected maturities of these liabilities.Repayments which are
subjected to notice are treated as if notice were to be given immediately.However, the Group expects that many customers will
not request repayment on the earliest date the Group could be required to pay and the table does not reflect the expected cash
flows indicated by the Group’s deposit retention history.
At 31 December 2010

On
demand

1-3
months

3-6
months

6 - 12
months

1-5
years

5-10
years

7,032

1,705

459

361

1,474

180

3,405

1,547

517

513

332

-

-

6,314

192
7

2,151
10

68
1

1,123
1

200
20

5

-

3,734
44

-

201

-

286

1,040

714

-

2,241

10,636

5,614

1,045

2,284

3,066

899

- 23,544

2,684
2,639

263
-

167
-

204
-

98
-

200
-

-

3,616
2,639

At 31 December 2009	On
demand

1-3
months

3-6
months

6 - 12
months

1-5
years

5-10
years

10 - 20
years

Total

6,351

2,429

395

394

512

4

-

10,085

3,100

1,338

485

424

1,089

29

-

6,465

1,666
7

1,828
4

1

589
9

14

-

-

4,083
35

-

-

-

395

1,583

443

-

2,421

11,124

5,599

881

1,811

3,198

476

-

23,089

1,394
1,806

933
-

301
-

586
-

2
-

-

11
-

3,227
1,806

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Deposits from banks and other
financial institutions
Securities sold under repurchase
agreements
Certificates of deposits
Term notes, bonds and other term
financing
Total non-derivative undiscounted
financial liabilities on statement
of financial position

10 - 20
years

Total

- 11,211

ITEMS OFF STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
Gross settled foreign currency derivatives
Guarantees

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Deposits from banks and other
financial institutions
Securities sold under repurchase
agreements
Certificates of deposits
Term notes, bonds and other term
financing
Total non-derivative undiscounted
on balance sheet financial
liabilities
ITEMS OFF STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
Gross settled foreign currency derivatives
Guarantees
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25 OPERATING SEGMENTS
For management purposes, the Group is organised into five operating segments which are based on business units and their
activities. The Group has accordingly been structured to place its activities under the distinct divisions which are as follows:
-

MENA subsidiaries cover retail, corporate and treasury activities of subsidiaries in North Africa and Levant;
International wholesale banking encompasses corporate and structured finance, trade finance, Islamic banking services and
syndications;
Group treasury comprises treasury activities of Bahrain Head Office, New York and London;
ABC Brasil primarily reflects the commercial banking activities of the Brazilian subsidiary Banco ABC Brasil S.A., focusing on
the corporate and middle market segments in Brazil; and
Other includes activities of Arab Financial Services B.S.C. (c).

			
2010
	 	 International
MENA
wholesale	Group
subsidiaries
banking
treasury

ABC
Brasil

Other

Total

Net interest income
Other operating income

83
43

58
98

59
35

231
83

9
20

440
279

Total operating income

126

156

94

314

29

719

54
(9)

109
(41)

79
(8)

196
(22)

5
3

443
(77)

45
(12)
-

68
(6)
-

71
(2)
-

174
(63)
-

8
(1)
-

366
(84)
(83)

Profit before impairment provisions
Impairment (provisions) writeback - net
Profit before taxation and unallocated
operating expenses
Taxation on foreign operations
Unallocated operating expenses

Profit for the year						

199

118

28,105

			
2009
		International
MENA	
wholesale	Group	ABC
subsidiaries
banking
treasury	Brasil	Other

Total

Segment assets employed

2,420

7,256

12,494

5,817

Net interest income
Other operating income

77
45

57
102

89
54

172
22

(4)
27

391
250

Total operating income

122

159

143

194

23

641

54
(4)

106
(69)

128
(4)

110
(27)

5
(11)

403
(115)

50
(12)
-

37
1
-

124
1
-

83
(35)
-

(6)
(1)
-

288
(46)
(88)

Profit before impairment provisions
Impairment provisions - net
Profit (loss) before taxation and unallocated
operating expenses
Taxation on foreign operations
Unallocated operating expenses

Profit for the year						
Segment assets employed
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2,460

7,595

11,545

4,278

87

154
25,965
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During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group restructured the internal reporting lines for some of its segments. Previous
year’s figures have been reclassified accordingly.
Geographical information
The Group operates in six geographic markets: Middle East and North Africa, Western Europe, Asia, North America, Latin America
and others. The following table show the external total operating income of the major units within the Group, based on the
country of domicile of the entity for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009:
		
	Banco ABC
Bahrain	ABCIB	Brasil	Other

Total

2010
Total operating income

133

90

314

182

719

2009
Total operating income

145

100

194

202

641

There were no revenues derived from transactions with a single external customer that amounted to 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue.
Non-current assets consist of premises and equipment and are not material to the Group.
26 REPURCHASE AND RESALE AGREEMENTS
Proceeds from assets sold under repurchase agreements at the year end amounted to US$3,719 million (2009: US$4,079 million).
The carrying value of securities sold under repurchase agreements at the year end amounted to US$4,134 million (2009:
US$4,358 million).
Amounts paid for assets purchased under resale agreements at the year end amounted to US$273 million (2009: US$64 million)
and relate to customer product and treasury activities. The market value of the securities purchased under resale agreements at
the year end amounted to US$276 million (2009: US$64 million).
27 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
Related parties represent the ultimate parent, major shareholder, associates, directors and key management personnel of the
Group and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of these
transactions are approved by the Group’s management.
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27 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)
The year end balances in respect of related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:
	Ultimate
parent
Deposits from customers

2,707

Major
shareholder	Directors
-

1

2010

2009

2,708

1,536

The expenses in respect of related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:
Interest expense

10

9

2010

2009

20
4

13
8

24

21

Compensation of the key management personnel is as follows:

Short term employee benefits
Post employment benefits

28 FIDUCIARY ASSETS
Funds under management at the year end amounted to US$13,782 million (2009: US$10,103 million). These assets are held in a
fiduciary capacity and are not included in the consolidated statement of financial position.
29 ISLAMIC DEPOSITS AND ASSETS
Deposits from customers and banks and financial institutions include Islamic deposits of US$619 million (2009: US$741 million).
Loans and advances and non-trading securities include Islamic assets of US$835 million (2009: US$894 million) and
US$391 million (2009: US$401 million).
30 ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY
At the statement of financial position date, in addition to the items mentioned in note 26, assets amounting to US$151 million
(2009: US$266 million) have been pledged as security for borrowings and other banking operations.
31 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the weighted average number of shares during the
year. No figures for diluted earnings per share have been presented, as the Bank has not issued any capital based instruments
which would have any impact on earnings per share, when exercised.
The Group’s earnings for the year are as follows:

Profit for the year
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year (millions)
Basic and diluted earnings per share (US$)
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2010

2009

143
2,862
0.05

122
2,000
0.06
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32 CAPITAL ADEQUACY
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management policies are to ensure that the Group complies with externally imposed
capital requirements and that the Group maintains strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and to maximise shareholders’ value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue capital securities. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies and processes from the previous years.
The risk asset ratio calculations as at 31 December are based on standardised measurement methodology and in accordance with
the CBB Basel II guidelines.
		
CAPITAL BASE		

Basel II
2010

2009

3,828
990

2,664
683

4,818

3,347

Credit risk weighted assets and off balance sheet items		
Market risk weighted assets and off balance sheet items 		
Operational risk weighted assets		

18,055
1,457
1,311

17,164
1,511
1,188

Total risk weighted assets

[b]

20,823

19,863

[a/b*100]

23.1%

16.9%

Minimum requirement		

12.0%

12.0%

Tier 1 capital		
Tier 2 capital		
		
Total capital base
[a]
RISK WEIGHTED EXPOSURES

Risk asset ratio

Regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 capital, which comprises share capital, retained earnings, statutory reserve, general reserve,
minority interests, foreign currency translation adjustments in equity and Tier 2 capital, which includes subordinated long term
debt and collective provisions.
The Group has complied with all the requirements as set by the Central Bank of Bahrain.
33 AGREEMENT TO ACQUIRE STAKE IN MEDITERRANEAN BANK
The Bank has entered into an agreement to acquire a 49% stake for a total consideration of approximately US$60 million (Libyan
Dinars 74 million) in Mediterranean Bank S.A.L, a Libyan Bank headquartered in Benghazi in the North East of Libya and with a
branch in Tripoli. The Bank is awaiting necessary regulatory approval from the Central Bank of Libya and expects to conclude the
acquisition during the first quarter of 2011. The Bank will also manage the acquiree bank on a day-to-day basis pursuant to a
management agreement.
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Les Berges du Lac, 1053 Tunis, Tunisia
Tel: (216) (71) 861 861        
Fax: (216) (71) 960 427 / 960 406 / 860
921
abc.tunis@arabbanking.com
Ali Kooli,
General Manager

ABC International Bank plc
(Milan Branch)
Via Amedei, 8
20123 Milan
Italy
Tel: (39) (02) 863 331
Fax: (39) (02) 8645 0117
Paolo Provera
General Manager

ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)
ABC Tower, Diplomatic Area,
PO Box 2808, Manama,
Kingdom of Bahrain
Tel: (973) 17 543 342
Fax: (973) 17 536 379 / 17 533 972
Naveed Khan,
Global Head of Islamic Banking &
Managing Director

ABC International Bank plc
(Paris Branch)
4 rue Auber
75009 Paris
France
Tel: (33) (1) 4952 5400
Fax: (33) (1) 4720 7469
Alexander Ashton
General Manager

Arab Financial Services Company
B.S.C. (c)
PO Box 2152, Manama,
Kingdom of Bahrain
Tel: (973) 17 290 333
Fax: (973) 17 290 050
B. Chandrasekhar,
Acting Chief Executive Officer

Abc International Bank plc Representative Offices

International Subsidiaries
ABC International Bank plc
Head Office and London Branch
Arab Banking Corporation House
1-5 Moorgate, London EC2R 6AB, UK
Tel: (44) (20) 7776 4000
Fax: (44) (20) 7606 9987
Nofal Barbar
CEO & Managing Director
Abc International Bank plc - Branches
ABC International Bank plc
(Frankfurt Branch)
Neue Mainzer Strasse 75
60311 Frankfurt am Main
Germany
Tel: (49) (69) 7140 30
Fax: (49) (69) 7140 3240
Swift: ABCA DE FF
abcib.fra@arabbanking.com
Gerald Bumharter
General Manager

Abc International Bank plc Marketing Offices
Nordic Region – Marketing Office
Stortorget 18-20
SE-111 29 Stockholm
Sweden
Tel: (46) 823 0450
Fax: (46) 823 0523
Klas Henrikson
UK & Ireland – Marketing Office
Station House, Station Court, Rawtenstall
Rossendale
Lancashire
BB4 6AJ, UK
Tel: (44) (1706) 237 900
Fax: (44) (1706) 237 909
David Beeley

Iberia – Representative Office
Paseo de la Castellana 153
2° Dcha, Madrid 28046, Spain
Tel: (34) (91) 5672822
Fax: (34) (91) 5672829
Usama Zenaty

ABC (IT) Services Ltd.
Arab Banking Corporation House
1-5 Moorgate, London EC2R 6AB, UK
Tel: (44) (20) 7776 4050
Fax: (44) (20) 7606 2708
abcits@arabbanking.com
John Bates,
General Manager

Moscow - Representative Office
4th floor, 10 block C,
Presnenskaya naberezhnaya
Moscow 123317, Russia
Tel: (7) 495 651 6649
Fax: (7) 495 651 6696
moscow@arabbanking.com
Dmitry Kuryshev

Banco ABC Brasil S.A.
Av. Pres. Juscelino Kubitschek, 1400
04543-000 Itaim Bibi
São Paulo – SP, Brazil
Tel: (55) (11) 317 02000
Fax: (55) (11) 317 02001
Anis Chacur,
Chief Executive Officer

Turkey – Representative Office
Eski Büyükdere Cad. Ayazaga Yolu Sk.
Iz Plaza No: 9 Kat:19 D:69
34398 Maslak
Istanbul
Turkey
Tel: (90) (212) 329 8000
Fax: (90) (212) 290 6891
Muzaffer Aksoy
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Branches

Representative Offices

Tunis (OBU)
ABC Building, Rue du Lac d’Annecy,
Les Berges du Lac, 1053 Tunis,
Tunisia
Tel: (216) (71) 861 861         
Fax: (216) (71) 860 921/ 960 406
960 427
abc.tunis@arabbanking.com
Nour Nahawi,
Resident Country Manager &
General Manager

Abu Dhabi
10th Floor, East Tower at the Trade Centre
2nd Street, Abu Dhabi Mall,
PO Box 6689, Abu Dhabi, UAE
Tel: (971) (2) 644 7666
Fax: (971) (2) 644 4429
abcrep@eim.ae
Mohamed El Calamawy,
Chief Representative

Baghdad
Al Saadon St., Al Firdaws Square
National Bank of Iraq Building
Baghdad, Iraq
Tel: (964) (1) 7173774 / 7173776
717 3779/ 790 360 0518 (mobile)
info.iraq@arabbanking.com
Mowafaq H. Mahmood,
General Manager
Mobile: (964) 790 161 8048
New York
27th Floor,
600 Third Avenue
New York, NY 10016, USA
Tel: (1) (212) 583 4720
Fax: (1) (212) 583 0921
Robert Ivosevich,
General Manager
Grand Cayman
c/o ABC New York Branch

Beirut
Berytus Parks
Block B, 2nd Floor
Minet El Hosn, Solidere
PO Box 11-5225
Beirut, Lebanon
Tel: (961) (1) 970770 / 970432
Fax: (961) (1) 985809
Mobile: (961) (3) 724644
Ghina Haddad,
Chief Representative
Tehran
4th Floor West
No. 17 Haghani Expressway
Tehran 15188, Iran
Tel: (98) (21) 8879 1105 / 8879 1106
Fax: (98) (21) 8888 2198
arabbanking.teh@parsonline.net
Aziz Farrashi,
Chief Representative
Tripoli
That Emad Administrative Centre Tower 5,
16th Floor, PO Box 91191, Tripoli, Libya
Tel: (218) (21) 335 0226/
335 0227 / 335 0228
Fax: (218) (21) 335 0229
abc_rep_ly@lttnet.net
Mansour Abouen,
Chief Representative
Singapore
9 Raffles Place, #60-03 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619
Tel: (65) 653 59339
Fax: (65) 653 26288
Kah Eng Leaw,
Chief Representative
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